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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
FTRIHS

/\

Liu Jian
Chairman and chief executive officer

gz
ERRITBAH

DEAR SHAREHOLDERS, Stz ER :

For and on behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the AHAAERXRTRIREEERAF([EALQF] @&
“Directors”, each a “Director”) of zhong Ao Home Group Limited (the REMBARAEE)EE((EE| SRIESE))
“Company”, together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”), | am pleased & ([BEEE ) RAER 24K Q8 E F 202344 12 A 31
to present the annual report of the Company for the year ended 31 HIEFERFR-

December 2023.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

In summary, the key financial performance of the Group over the last
year ended 31 December 2023 included (i) the decrease in property
management business revenue from approximately RMB1,322.1 million
for the year ended 31 December 2022 to approximately RMB1,285.5
million for the year ended 31December 2023, representing an decrease
of approximately RMB36.3 million or 2.8%; (ii) increase in revenue
generated from cleaning and greening business of approximately
RMB46.7 million; and (iii) decrease in revenue generated from other
businesses of approximately RMB2.9 million. Overall, the Group's 2023
profit attributable to owners of the parent amounted to RMB80.1 million
(2022: RMB76.9 million), representing an increase of 3.1% as compared
t0 2022. The increase in Group's 2023 profit attributable to owners of the
parent was mainly due to the increase in revenue from cleaning and
greening business. During 2023, the property market in the People’s
Republic of China (the "PRC") continued to experience significant
changes. Some property developers experienced a business slowdown
and with material risk continuing to exist. They also affected the
performance of the property management industry.

DIVIDEND

The Board has resolved to recommend the payment of a final dividend of
HKD2.50 cents per share for the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022:
HKD2.50 cents) to the shareholders whose names appear on the register
of members of the Company on 11 June 2024, making the total dividend
payment of approximately HKD21.3 million.

OPERATION REVIEW

The Group is a leading independent property management company in
China. In 2023, the Group received the following recognition and awards.

CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
FTRHS
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
FRHS

In July 2023, the Group received the award, Excellence Award from the
United Nations Development Programme (UNDP) B & B 53 3% 5+ 21 & .
The award was set up to identify, recognize and motivate corporates to
drive the highest sustainability standards in implementing the United
Nations Sustainable Development Goals (UN-SDGs) for the global
environment, societies and corporate governance (ESG) for our upcoming
generations.

In December 2023, the Group received the following recognitions,
namely, 2023 X & [& %7 2 iR % @ k& 1 2 (2023 Property Service Brand
Enterprise in Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao Greater Bay Area*) « 2023 &
REAMERBHFES EHRE NG FE (2023 Development Strength
Enterprise in Guangdong Province*) « 2023 E B R B MESIBITEW
@& 1EE 8 (2023 Annual Best Member of Guangdong Property
Management Industry Institute*) from EREMEEETEH G

(Guangdong Property Management Industry Institute*).

In January 2024, the Group received 2023 fF ER & = /R EREE
7~ &378 B (2023 Excellent Project of Residential Property Service in
Guangdong Province*) from B &R & ¥ % & I 17 % % € (Guangdong
Property Management Industry Institute®).

In February 2024, a subsidiary of the Group — E R ZRBRETIRAR A
7] (Guangdong Huarui Environmental Engineering Company Limited*)
received the following recognitions, namely, 2023 {2 &k 7% 18 B (2023
Excellent Service Project*) and 2023 F & F## € 8 B {1 (2023
Excellent New Member*) from {5 Ll 1 3% &7 )8 2 &= £ 1% € (Foshan
Sanitary Cleaning Industry Association*).

*  For identification purpose only
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As at 31 December 2023, the Group had maintained its presence in 41
cities in China where it was contracted to manage a total of 604
residential properties and non-residential premises such as commercial
or government buildings with an aggregate contracted Gross Floor Area
("GFA") of 67 million square meters (“sg.m."). That remained roughly the
same compared to the aggregate contracted GFA of 70 million sg.m. as
of 31 December 2022. In relation to the delivered GFA of 62.0 million
sg.m. in 2023, which was similar to the delivered GFA of 64.4 million
sg.m. as at 31 December 2022.

PROSPECTS

Looking forward, the Group will continue to maintain its own advantage
as an independent property management company, competing with
counterparts in the market by its high quality service and operation
efficiency, actively establishing stable partnership with leading property
developers in all regions, exploring potential new development projects
and pursuing properties which have established owners’ associations.
When right opportunities arise, the Group will accelerate its expansion of
business scope and coverage in China through acquisition of property
management companies and other value adding service companies
which provide services related to communities.

In addition, we will closely persist in the philosophy of stable
development by gradually expanding the upstream and downstream
industry chain, as well as strategically realigning our industry foothold.
On the other hand, we expect to penetrate into the downstream sector
of the industry chain by acquiring firms specialized in living value adding
services. In the next few years, we will gradually ride on our strength to
extend our reach along the upstream and downstream of the industry
chain with a focus on property management. In doing so, the Group will
ultimately evolve into an integrated operator offering the whole-industry
community services.

CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
FTRHS

MR2023F12 A3  AEEBEBHERFEP HL
BT sTHOERALOIBEEMENIEEED
¥(nEmARBTET)  BenEEEE (|
B B7EBEFHK(FEANK] - 82022F12 A
INEHMBESNELEAE70E & F 7 K EH KEHER
KFE - BH2023FERMEEMBERCOBEETH
Ko H202F12A3NMBMBERNIEEMmMEMLER
BEFHKIEE -

E v
=
Al s

RERK  AEEREBEET I RBIMNEEER
AMEDS USEXREREERXEATISE F &
FoREBESHRNETYEERBEIBTEAIE
BE UERRREBCENMERBEASROKRILE
TZEEZME-EEEERER  ARERER
WY EER AR REAMR AL IR B RE I E
RIERBANRER PR EBEREERLEE -

o HPETREFRONES  BSHER LT
EXE BENHBEEMR S THHEHEE
BETHHEE T EEFBLEEEARBSE
ERE  RREFRELES  UWHETERSZL
[ ERTREXBOTEH REEAEEERK—
REEXR/ | REAREZER -

FRIARNEBEERLT 7
2023 F



CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
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ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

On behalf of the Board, | would like to extend my sincere thanks to every
shareholder, and also to every employee for their hard work and
contribution to the Group over last year. In the coming year, the Group
will continue its active expansion of business and enhance its property
management service quality, so as to bring a better, more enjoyable and
more satisfying experience for home life to residents. With the
continuous efforts of the Group, | believe that the Group will bring good
returns to its shareholders in the long term.

Liu Jian
Chairman

Hong Kong, 26 April 2024
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
87 15 118l 2

For the year ended
31 December
HZ12HA3MBILEE

2023 2022
2023 F 2022 %
RMB’000 RMB'000 Change
AR®T T AREET T e
Revenue W= 1,709,642 1,702,395 0.4%
Gross profit EF 350,558 357,355 (1.9%)
Profit for the year F N F 83,972 89,050 (5.7%)
Profit attributable to owners BREER ARG ST
of the parent 80,054 76,907 4.1%
Gross profit margin (%) E M (%) (0.5pp)
20.5% 21.0% (O.5EE %)
Net profit margin (%) HEF 2= (%) (0.3pp)
4.9% 52% (031A &%)
Basic earnings per share (RMB) BREXRBRF(ARET) 0.094 0.090 4.4%
Final dividend per share (HKD) BRARERE (BT) 0.025 0.025 -
FREREBEFR QA

2023 F
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
M mE

Revenue

£~
(RMB million)
(ARBEETT)

200048735
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1,600 o '
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1,332.1 1,322.1 1,285.5 servic%s
600 MEERRG
Cleaning and
400 greening
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. Hh s
2021 2022 2023

Profit attributable to owners of the company
K olHE ARIENE

(RMB million)
(AREBET)
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P
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P
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40
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0
2021 2022 2023
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Gross profit and gross profit margin
EF PN ES RS

(RMB million/%)

(ARBESIT %)
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432.7
P
400
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P
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100
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Total assets

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
MR mE

Total equity

EERE iR %E
(RMB million) (RMB million)
(ARBAEETT) (ARBEETT)
2,500 1,200
2,187.5 1,032.7
[rem— 2,067.3 983.1 986.9 p—
1'957_1 — 1,000 — —
2,000 —
800
1,500
600
1,000
400
500
200
0 0
2021 2022 2023 2021 2022 2023
Total contracted GFA Average price of property management service
REeESHERERR MESIBIR FHERE
(million sg.m.) (RMB/sg.m./monthy)
(B8FEHK) (ARHE/FERHK/IRA)
80 20
72.3 1.81 1.81 1.85
- 70.0
70 oo / 67.0
2.0 50
60 15
50
40 10
. 66.1 il o
20 Delivered 05
GFA
I 2t
EREE
10
Undelivered
GFA
I AR
0 REEH 0
2021 2022 2023 2021 2022 2023
Note: Mgt
1. ltis calculated as a weighted average of all the prices and fees specified on 1. RN ERBEERDELRRZNALDTHANE B
the contracts that are generating revenue as of the end of each relevant year, LRERNNETHEASE  ETEEFEESNEERE -
excludes management fees for parking lots.
FPRIAREEERRDA 11
2023 F )



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

& 1% S 57 5 52 73 ifr

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group is a leading independent property management company in
China. In 2023, the Group received the following recognitions and
awards.

In July 2023, the Group received the award, Excellence Award from the
United Nations Development Programme (UNDP) Bt & B 59 3 51 21 & .
The award was set up to identify, recognize and motivate corporates to
drive the highest sustainability standards in implementing the United
Nations Sustainable Development Goals (UN-SDGSs) for the global
environment, societies and corporate governance (ESG) for our upcoming
generations.

In December 2023, the Group received the following recognitions,
namely, 2023 K /& [& %) 2 AR 75 a2 1 % (2023 Property Service Brand
Enterprise in Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao Greater Bay Area*) 2023 &
HEMERBGEZREE N %E (2023 Development Strength
Enterprise in Guangdong Province*) ~ 2023 F E B R A M EEBITEW
& 1EE 8 (2023 Annual Best Member of Guangdong Property
Management Industry Institute*) from ER W E T B TE¥H S
(Guangdong Property Management Industry Institute*).

In January 2024, the Group received 2023 F ER & £ /NE W E R E
7~ #378 B (2023 Excellent Project of Residential Property Service in
Guangdong Province*) from B R & ¥ 2 & B 17 ¥ % € (Guangdong
Property Management Industry Institute®).

In February 2024, a subsidiary of the Group — ERERRETIRER A
Al (Guangdong Huarui Environmental Engineering Company Limited*)
(“Guangdong Huarui”) received the following recognitions, namely,
2023 F 1B F RSB B (2023 Excellent Service Project*) and 2023 F 185
i & 8 B (2023 Excellent New Member*) from 1L TR &5 2 &
# 1< (Foshan Sanitary Cleaning Industry Association®).

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had a total contracted gross floor
area ("GFA") of approximately 67 million square meters (“sq.m.”) where
it was contracted to manage 604 properties across 41 cities in China.

The Group’s main business line is property management business. Under
the property management business line, the Group is engaged in the
provision of property management services, provision of cleaning and
greening services, and other services.

*  For identification purpose only
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

PROPERTY MANAGEMENT SERVICES

The Group primarily provides property developers and property owners
with a broad range of property management services to mainly
residential properties, commercial and government buildings. Services
provided by the Group include standard property management services
and also ancillary services such as cleaning, gardening, property facilities
repair and maintenance and butler services. Through its butler services,
the Group provides personalised and premium property management
services to residents with its trained butlers onsite. While its primary and
long-term business focus is on the residential property market, the
Group also provides services to non-residential properties, including both
stand-alone non-residential properties and properties associated with
residential properties, such as schools and commercial buildings.

The Group believes that service quality is fundamental to establish a solid
foundation to support the growth of the Group’s business. The Group
holds various qualifications and licenses in respect of property
management services, namely CMS31950, IEC27001, ISO50001, I1SO 9001,
ISO 14001, OHSAS 18001.

As of 31 December 2023, the Group had maintained its presence in 41
cities in China where it was contracted to manage a total of 604
residential properties and non-residential premises such as commercial
or government buildings with an aggregate contracted GFA of
approximately 67 million sq.m. This represents a decrease of
approximately 4.3% compared to the aggregate contracted GFA of
approximately 70 million sg.m. as at 31 December 2022. In relation to the
delivered contracted GFA of approximately 62 million sg.m. as at 31
December 2023, it represents a decrease of approximately 3.1%
compared to the delivered contracted GFA of approximately 64 million
sg.m. as at 31 December 2022.

The Group strives to develop new business relationships from its existing
customer base and network in order to provide strong organic growth to
the Group. In addition to organic growth, the Group continues to identify
appropriate acquisition targets to strengthen its portfolio and increase
geographic presence across China.

GEOGRAPHIC PRESENCE

The Group will continue to strategically select markets to enter into,
focus on those with more developed economies and comparatively high
per capita GDP. Once the Group has established presence in a new city,
it will seek to expand its business within the same city or neighboring
cities with a view to maximising its economies of scale.

E 12 B 51 5 £2 53 T

ZES=F T

AEEEBEAVEERBEAXIRARZAONEE
BRTS - BERARIHB/ETYE  BRRBFET -
AEBRHNOREEESEENEEERE LEER
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EXREREFPRHEVAFAFTEZZEEMEETER
7o ARENEREREMEBEHREENEDS -
NERFEEMEREHRE (BREEFEEDE
REEMEMBYE)  WERREHENE -

AEERE RELEEDABTBEERUIEAR
SEEBERZEAZR -ASERYMEETERS
HHZEER KR - 2 5I/ACMS31950 + IEC27001 »
ISO50001 ~ 1SO 9001 ~ ISO 14001 * OHSAS 18001 ©

2023412 A31 8 » A S B 4 15 E 5 B 41 E 5%
MG - FTHE RS LATHEEMERIEEE
ME(MNEARBRTET)  BANBERE AT
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B RIB IR B 2 IR IR -

1th 3P 53 o
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
E 1R B 51 5m 82 53 T

The map below illustrates the cities in which properties the Group was BB R 20234 12 A31 B AL ETHERENY
contracted to manage were located and the number of projects in each  EFr&EH T RS W HHER A -
city as of 31 December 2023.

Eastern and
Central Ch\na

Northern China

Western China

outhem China
E]

Eastern and Central China R I

1. Changde (1) &7 (1) 10.  Huzhou (19) M (19) 19.  Taizhou (2 &M Q)

2. Chengzhou (1) #BJ (1) 11.  Kaifeng 2) FE (@) 20.  Wenzhou (3) &M (3)
3. Chongging (1) ZEE(1) 12.  Nantong (13) 38 (13) 21, Wuxi(8) #85(8)

4. Chuzhou 3) M (3) 13.  Nanyang (1) /(1) 22.  Xuancheng 2) E#H.(2)
5, Fuyang (1) BE5(1) 14.  Ningbo (317) K (317) 23.  Yueyang (1) E5(1)

6. Hangzhou (50) #7/ (50) 15.  Quzhou (7) M (7) 24.  Zhengzhou (2) ZBJM (2)
7. Heze (4) SRiZ(4) 16.  Shanghai (18) L& (18) 25.  Zhenjiang (3) $E)T (3)
8.  Huai'an(1) ¥%(1) 17.  Shaoxing (7) #R5E(7) 26.  Zhoukou (1) & A (1)

9. Huanggang (1) = (1) 18.  Suzhou (38) %M (38)

Southern China #5g

27. Cenxi(9) ZZ(9) 32. Labin(3) REM) 37.  Zhaoding (2) ZEE(2)
28.  Foshan (19) 1L (19) 33.  Nanning (19) 21

29.  Guangzhou (10) EJH (10) 34.  Qingyuan (4 ﬁ%ﬁ(@

30. Guilin(2 M) 35.  Sanya (7) EEE(7)

31.  Jiangmen (2) JIF9(2) 36.  Wuzhou (7) #BM (7

38. Baotou (7) BFE(7) 39. Zhangjiakou (2) 5RZK M (2)

40. Lhasa (1) HIEE(1) 41, Urumgi 3) SEKREEQ)

Note: Numbers in parentheses represent the number of contracted projects. Mgk - ERANEFTEITNBEEHE -
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
E 12 B 51 5 £2 53 T

The table below sets forth the delivered contracted GFA and the number  TEREHIINFARBHZEXMNAWERERER SR
of properties under management as of the dates indicated. HIIEEEE -

As of 31 December 2023 As of 31 December 2022

7202312 H31H R2022912 A31H
Sg.m. in Sg.m. in
thousands No. thousands NoO.
FEERK 4= FEHK B
Residential properties TEYE
Eastern and Central China®™ ERRERO 39,409 337 42,198 333
Southern China®@ EFO 14,288 80 13,967 72
Northern China® #EHL O 1,371 9 2,168 9
Western China® EFH@ 542 4 108 1
Subtotal NEF 55,610 430 58,441 415
Non-residential properties FEEEYE 6,423 155 5,967 150
Total et 62,033 585 64,408 565

As of 31 December 2023, the Group’s contracted GFA of undelivered R 20231283180 AEBRI N E S S
properties amounted to approximately 5 million sq.m. (2022: 6 million ~ EREAESBHEF 5K (2022F : 6BEF HK) °
sq.m.)

Notes:

Q)] I':]clgfjlng }3hangde , Ch':zngﬁhou kc:onngg, ?huzhc’)\‘g, FLtJ)yang, H;ngzr;c;u, H(;zg, ) BAEEE MM EE BN 20 B2
S}:Ja'a,”: Sua“hgganfg huz ?/3 ag engw a,“;f‘gr h'”g OYr Quz Ourzh a”gha" ZoEM MM B R BR M LA
hao.>.<|ng, u§ (r)]u, kalz ou, Wenzhou, Wuxi, Xuancheng, Yueyang, Zhengzhou, CERN B R S B B
Zhenjiang and Zhoukou. STRED -
) Isncludlnv%lcinm, Fos;e;]n, Ggangzhou, Guilin, Jiangmen, Laibin, Nanning, Qingyuan, ) BAESE L N AR TP T BE R
anya, Wuzhou and Zhaogjing. ST BN REE -

(3) Including Baotou and Zhangjiakou. @ AEAERERD -

(4) Including Lhasa and Urumai. @ R S E AT o

FRIARNEBEERLT
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
E 1R B 51 5m 82 53 T

The Group will continue to expand its business through obtaining new
service engagements and acquisition of other property management
companies. The table below indicates the movement of the total
contracted GFA and the number of properties the Group was contracted
to manage during the year.

REERSEBEBFRMRBAOIKBEMYE
EEARMABRER - TREJFARRANEZER
BRASEFTNEENYERBNES -

As of 31 December 2023 As of 31 December 2022

R 202312 A831H 202212 A31H
Sg.m. in Sg.m. in
thousands No. thousands No.

FELK #2HE FEHK B
As at beginning of year F1 70,000 631 72,283 637
New engagementst” e 2,024 23 1,924 38
Terminations® ®riEe (5,271) (50) (4,207) (44)
As at end of year FR 66,753 604 70,000 631
Notes: YiEr -

(M In relation to properties the Group manages, new engagements primarily include
service engagements for new constructions developed by property developers
and service engagements for residential properties replacing their existing
property management companies.

2 Including the contracted GFA and the number of properties the Group ceased to
manage, which were primarily due to non-renewal of certain property
management contracts and mutual termination prior to expiration for commercial
reasons.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

CLEANING AND GREENING BUSINESS

The Group provides property developers and property owners with a
series of indoor and outdoor environmental cleaning, greening and
maintenance services. This business division also provides services to
the property developers and property owners of the property
management business division. Accordingly, segment results of the
cleaning and greening division is evaluated by the Group’s management
on services as subcontracted from the property management business
division. The Group holds various qualifications and licenses in respect of
cleaning services, namely Bl X — & 5= &7)5 & IR 7% 1 % & & (National
Level One Environmental Hygiene Cleaning Service Qualification*), E315
B4 = 2= S s B % AR 7% 4> % (E315 A Grade High-altitude Exterior Wall
Cleaning Services Enterprise*), ISO 14001, ISO 9001 and ISO 45001.

OTHER BUSINESSES

Other businesses comprise shuttle bus and maintenance services in the
PRC, engineering services related to elevators, engineering services, the
sale of engineering spare parts, canteen operations as well as catering
services, providing sales assistance services and consulting and agency
services to property developers and property owners.

PROSPECTS AND FUTURE PLANS

The Group will continue to maintain its own advantage as an
independent property management company and compete with
counterparts in the market by its high quality service and operational
efficiency. The Group will actively establish stable partnerships with
leading property developers and/or property management service
providers in all regions and explore potential projects under
development. The Group will strive to develop new business
relationships from its existing customers base and own network in order
to provide strong organic growth to the Group. The Group also targets to
expand its portfolio of customers by pursuing properties with established
owners’ association. Furthermore, when right opportunities arise, the
Group will accelerate its expansion by expanding its business scope and
coverage in China by means of acquisitions and cooperation.

E 12 B 51 5 £2 53 T

BRI
REEAMEFREAMETRE-RINZTAREIN
RIBBR B RERER - ZEBIFATNAME
B EBIFINEHER T E R EE T IRMRE -
Hit  BRREEHD B BEER A EBNE R
BiRYEEREBIMIMDBNRGETTE - K
FERBEEZREFEZEERLER  BIER—4&
RENBEERBELEED - E35F e =MNEE AR
TS E + 1SO 14001 ~ 1SO 9001 X 1SO 45001 -

H{th 3R #5

HXBEEETRNFREL L EERY  FHi&
R ITERY TRERYE HETREZTHME &
BREERESRRY SAMEBERAREIRHEH
PR K s s B (RO 567

Al =R B Rk kst El

AEEREEERIRBINEEERRNES
NEEERBEREERTEATSHFHS - AEE
HERESIEENBEEERE R WX ERE
RGREHEBELREAIERE  UERRBEER
HEIER - AEERBNUARBEEFER B HH
MBERNEBRAR AARETRRYAMIER -
AEEUTESKRERIREIZEGZYE  UBR
HEFMAA I EREERER AKEKE
B R FAIRENFBEIREBRIRER LEE -
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
E 1R B 51 5m 82 53 T

Reference is made to the announcements of the Company dated 1
August 2022 and 17 April 2023. B # B ¥ % & B AR A 7] (Guangdong
Zhong Ao Property Management Company Limited*) (“Guangdong
Zhong Ao0"), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group, had demanded 2
5 1& (Liang Xiwei*) ("Mr. Liang") from time to time to (i) pay the
remaining balance of the Option Price; and (i) complete the registration
procedures for mortgaging the remaining 183 Tianyu Garden Car Parking
Spaces. Mr. Liang has still not settled and completed the registration
procedures for mortgaging, which constitutes a breach of the Second
Supplemental Agreement.

Guangdong Zhong Ao has commenced civil lawsuit and submitted a
claim (the “Claim”) against Mr. Liang to the People’s Court of Qingxiu
District, Nanning City, the PRC for, among others, (i) the remaining
balance of the Option Price of RMB20 million and all accrued interest; (ii)
penalties for breach of contract; and (iii) an order that Guangdong Zhong
Ao shall have the right to be compensated in priority by the proceeds
from the auction or sale of the mortgaged properties (including a house
and 227 Tianyu Garden Car Parking Spaces). On 14 April 2023,
Guangdong zhong Ao has received from the Court an acceptance notice
in relation to the Claim. For further details, please refer to the
announcements of the Company dated 18 August 2021, 22 October
2021, 31 January 2022, 1 August 2022 and 17 April 2023. The Company
will keep the Shareholders and potential investors of the Company
informed of any further material developments in connection with the
Claim by way of further announcement(s) as and when appropriate.

ZHONG AO HOME GROUP LIMITED
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
E 12 B 51 5 £2 53 T

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE REVIEW 8} 3% Z 15 ) GA

Revenue &=

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group recorded revenue — # ZE2023F 12 AMB IEFE - AEEF KW E L

of approximately RMB1,709.6 million, representing a increase of 0.4% AR 1,709.6 B&E T © 82022 F 18 110.4% ©

over the year 2022.

Decrease in the Group’s revenue was primarily attributable to the AEBWFBRPTEHRADESEEBWAHES
decrement in property management business revenue from 202F 128318 IFFEEHARE1,322185 BT
approximately RMB1,322.1 million for the year ended 31 December 2022 L EH E2023F12A31B EFE 4 AR 1,2855

to approximately RMB1,285.5 million for the year ended 31 December B & 7T &£ 4 B EIR L 4£2.8% ° 14N

REEF

2023 and represented approximately 2.8% decrease over the ER4{CEBHRFEINHARE 678 E Tk
corresponding year. In addition, the Group's revenue generated from  21.6% » E b 2B MO HA R 29H B Tk

cleaning and greening business has increased by approximately RMB46.7  1.8%
million or 21.6% and from other businesses has decreased by
approximately RMB2.9 million or 1.8%.

Breakdown of Revenue by business line and services REESERREE 2 WEHA

For the year ended
31 December
BZE12A31ALFE

2023 2022 Change

2023 F 2022 4F )
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 %
ARSTRE ARBTT ARKTET %
Property management business METIEER 1,285,503 1,322,093 (36,590) -2.8
Cleaning and greening business BB ML ER 263,440 216,691 46,749 21.6
Other businesses i 160,699 163,611 (2,912 -1.8
1,709,642 1,702,395 7,247 0.4

FPRIAREEERRDA
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
E 1R B 51 5m 82 53 T

PROPERTY MANAGEMENT BUSINESS

The Group's property management business includes the provision of
property management services, cleaning and greening services and
other services. Details of analysis of each service are as follows:

Property management services

Revenue from property management services decreased by
approximately RMB36.6 million or 2.8% over 2022 primarily due to
slowdown in overall economy of the property management industry in
the PRC and decrease in the contracted GFA during 2023.

Cleaning and greening business

Revenue from cleaning and greening business for the year ended 31
December 2023 was approximately RMB263.4 million, comparing to
RMB216.7 million for the year ended 31 December 2022, representing an
increase of approximately RMB46.7 million or 21.6%. The increase was
primarily due to development in new projects.

Other businesses

Revenue from other businesses decreased from approximately
RMB163.6 million for the year ended 31 December 2022 to approximately
RMB160.7 million for the year ended 31 December 2023. The decrease of
approximately RMB2.9 million or 1.8% over the year was mainly due to
non-recurrence of revenue generated by E /M # B RIS A R Q7
(Guangzhou Nuodeng Elevator Services Company Limited*)
("Guangzhou Nuodeng Elevator’) and ER ¢ /& F LR EZREBRE A
7] Guangdong Jindun Zhengan Security Services Company Limited
(“Guangdong Jindun”) during 2023. Guangzhou Nuodeng Elevator and
Guangdong Jindun were disposed in March 2022 and May 2022

respectively.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

COST OF SALES AND SERVICES

The Group's cost of sales and services primarily comprises (i) sub-
contracting costs, representing the expenses paid to sub-contractors for
various services under the property management services and sales
assistance services; (i) staff costs; (iii) depreciation expenses associated
with equipment and property used in providing services; (iv) costs of
other services and sale of goods such as salaries cost of the technicians
in the provision of elevator engineering services and weak-current
engineering services; costs of the spare parts sold and operating costs in
running the catering services and (v) costs of cleaning and greening
products and utensils as well as commission paid for the real estate and
property agency services.

Cost of sales and services increased by 1.0% from approximately
RMB1,345.0 million for the year ended 31 December 2022 to
approximately RMB1,359.1 million for the year ended 31 December 2023.
The increase was due primarily to the growth of the cleaning and
greening business and the corresponding increase in the labour costs.

GROSS PROFIT AND GROSS PROFIT MARGIN

The tables below sets forth the Group’s gross profit and gross profit
margins by services for the years indicated:

E 12 B 51 5 £2 53 T

#H & bz B 3% R 7K

AEBENEEMMEREIERENDBKRAE - 18
50 B ARG Y 2B IR RS K 1 $H IR T %5 % 0R
AR5 BB ST + (i) B TACAS ¢ (iil) B 52 £14 AR 7% B 2 A /Y
REMDEEBOTER  (VEMRERHEER
AR - Pl T B TAZ ARG R 55 8 T2 IR %5
WM A BB ERA : SHET R AR 2 EER
ARTEG VL2 PR Ko (V)75 B ARAL EE dm B s R AR A B
FHERMERERBEE

HERREKABE E2022F12A3MBLEEY
ARBE134508 B N1.0%E & E2023F 12 A
JNBEIFEMHAREI0IEETT - EMEEH
RBERRGEIER RABERS T AN -

E ) EFUES
TERBIIAEBUHAREERBEDSOEFIRE

R

For the year ended 31 December
BZ12A31ALLEE

2023 2022

2023 F 2022 £
% of % of
RMB'000 revenue RMB’000 revenue
AR®T T HlE% ARETIT 1l 4 35 %
Property management business MEEBER 308,540 24.0 301,650 22.8
Cleaning and greening business BR R ETE 26,346 10.0 22,623 104
Other businesses S 15,672 9.8 33,082 20.2
Overall e 350,558 20.5 357,355 21.0

The Group’s gross profit for the year ended 31 December 2023 was
approximately RMB350.6 million, comparing to approximately RMB357.4
million in 2022, representing a decrease of approximately RMB6.8 million,
or 1.9%. The Group's gross profit margin decreased from 21.0% for the
year ended 31 December 2022 t0 20.5% in 2023.

HE208F12A3NBLEFE  AEBEFNOAEA
R¥3506 B &7t M0RFNHAREISTAES
TTRADHARE6SEH BT 1.9% o A& B EF| =
A = 2022912 A 318 1t FE /921.0% 5 £ 2023
F1/20.5% °
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
E 1R B 51 5m 82 53 T

OTHER INCOME AND GAINS

The Group's other income and gains for the year ended 31 December
2023 was approximately RMB49.3 million, comparing to approximately
RMB55.8 million for the year ended 31 December 2022, representing a
decrease of approximately RMB6.5 million or 11.7%. The decrease was
primarily due to the non-recurrence of gain on disposal of subsidiaries in
2022.

SELLING AND DISTRIBUTION EXPENSES

The Group’s selling and distribution expenses for the year ended 31
December 2023 were approximately RMB6.5 million, comparing to
approximately RMB5 million for the year ended 31 December 2022,
which represented an increase of approximately RMB1.5 million. The
increase was primarily due to the corresponding selling expenses for
development in new projects in cleaning and greening business.

ADMINISTRATION EXPENSES

The Group’s administrative expenses for the year ended 31 December
2023 was approximately RMB192.3 million, comparing to approximately
RMB210.1 million for the year ended 31 December 2022, represented a
decrease of approximately RMB17.8 million or 8.5%. The decrease was
primarily due to the net effect of (i) headcount control in property
management business of approximately RMB9.0 million; (ii) the non-
recurrence of depreciation of approximately RMB3.0 million was fully
depreciated in 2022; and (iii) the non-recurrence of administrative
expenses generated from Guangzhou Nuodeng Elevator and Guangdong
Jindun during 2022 of approximately RMB3.0 million. The disposal of
them was completed in March 2022 and May 2022 respectively.

NET IMPAIRMENT LOSSES RECOGNISED ON FINANCIAL
ASSETS

The Group's net impairment losses on financial assets were
approximately RMB58.7 million for the year ended 31 December 2023,
comparing to net impairment losses on financial assets of approximately
RMB54.1 million for the year ended 31 December 2022, representing an
increase of approximately RMB4.6 million in the provision for impairment
losses on financial assets which was primarily due to the deteriorated
liquidity crisis of the real estate sector in the PRC, accompanied by
slowdown in overall economy of the property management industry in
the PRC. As a result, the increase in impairment loss on account
receivables and other receivables were made.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

OTHER EXPENSES

The Group’s other expenses for the year ended 31 December 2023 were
approximately RMB17.3 million, comparing to approximately RMB12.9
million in 2022, representing an increase of approximately RMB4.4 million
or 34.0%. The increase was primarily due to loss on disposal of
investment properties.

FINANCE COSTS

The Group’s net finance costs amounted to approximately RMB3.4
million for the year ended 31 December 2023 comparing to net finance
costs for the year ended 31 December 2022 of approximately RMB2.9
million, representing an increase of approximately RMBO0.5 million or
17.2%. The increase was primarily due to lease liabilities during 2023.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Investment properties decreased from approximately RMB180.7 million
as at 31 December 2022 to approximately RMB161.0 million as at 31
December 2023. The decrease of approximately RMB19.7 million or
10.9% was mainly due to disposal of four properties during 2023.

TRADE RECEIVABLES

Trade receivables mainly arose from property management services and
cleaning and greening services. As at 31 December 2023, total trade
receivables of the Group amounted to approximately RMB538.3 million,
representing an increase of approximately RMB42.2 million or 8.5%
compared to approximately RMB496.2 million as at 31 December 2022.
The increase was primarily due to collection rate become slower as the
general atmosphere of the real estate industry environment and
slowdown in overall economy in the PRC.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
E 1R B 51 5m 82 53 T

PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Prepayments and other receivables mainly represents payment on
behalf of customers for expenditure on communities’ facilities,
performance bonds, bidding deposit for contracts, business-related
prepayments and other independent third parties. As at 31 December
2023, the Group's prepayments and other receivables amounted to
approximately RMB317.0 million, representing a increase of
approximately RMB2.4 million or 0.8% compared to approximately
RMB314.6 million as at 31 December 2022. The increase was primarily
due to prepayment on behalf to customers to utility suppliers.

Other receivables included RMB14.2 million (31 December 2022: RMB16.9
million) advanced to three independent third parties for business
purpose. The loans were unsecured, and interest-free (except for one
loan bearing interest at 7% per annum). Impairment provision of RMB0.8
million is required for these loans as at 31 December 2023 (31 December
2022: RMBO.4 million).

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT
OR LOSS

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss of approximately
RMB3.0 million mainly represented the fair value of the options to
dispose the acquired equity interest in acquired subsidiaries to the non-
controlling equity holders. Decrease in financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss from approximately RMB7.7 million as at 31
December 2022 to approximately RMB3.0 million as at 31 December
2023. The decrease in amounting approximately RMB4.7 million or 61.4%
mainly due to the expiration of the options during 2023.

OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

Other payables and accruals primarily comprise receipts on behalf of
community residents for utilities, receipts in advances, accruals, deposits
received and other payables. Other payables and accruals increased
from approximately RMB671.5 million as at 31 December 2022 to
approximately RMB702.7 million as at 31 December 2023. The increase
in amounting approximately RMB31.2 million due to deposits received by
customers.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND CAPITAL
STRUCTURE

The Group maintains a strong and healthy financial position. The Group’s
principal sources of funds to finance the working capital, capital
expenditure and other capital requirements were internally generated by
cash flows and bank loans. As at 31 December 2023, net working capital
(calculated as current assets less current liabilities) was approximately
RMB398.7 million, representing an increase of RMB68.5 million from
RMB330.2 million as at 31 December 2022. The current ratio (calculated
as current assets/current liabilities) was 1.4 times as at 31 December
2023 (2022: 1.4 times).

As at 31 December 2023 and 31 December 2022, the Group’s borrowings
were denominated in RMB. The bank borrowing balances of the Group
bore interest at fixed rates at 31 December 2023 and 31 December 2022.
The carrying amounts of the interest-bearing bank and other borrowings
at fixed rates approximate to their fair values.

The Group principally focused on the operation in the PRC. Except for the
cash, bank deposits and bank borrowings denominated in foreign
currencies, the Group was not subject to any other material risk directly
relating to the foreign exchange fluctuation. For the year ended 31
December 2023, despite the depreciation of RMB against USD and HKD,
the Directors expected that fluctuations of the RMB exchange rate would
not materially and adversely affect the operations of the Group. The
management will continue to monitor foreign currency exchange
exposure and will take prudent measures to minimise the currency
translation risk.

GEARING RATIO

The gearing ratio is defined as total borrowings add amounts due to non-
controlling equity holders of a subsidiary and net of bank balances and
cash divided by total equity. As at 31 December 2023, the Group was in a
strong financial position with a net cash position amounting to RMB479.2
million (2022: RMB389.5 million). Accordingly, no gearing ratio is
presented.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

At 31 December 2023, investment properties and property and
equipment of RMB99.0 million (2022: RMB99.6 million) were pledged to
secure certain banking facilities granted to the Group.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
E 1R B 51 5m 82 53 T

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Group had no material contingent liabilities as at 31 December 2023
(2022: Nil).

PROFIT GUARANTEE

(3) Guangdong Huaui Environmental Engineering
Company Limited

The Board has reviewed the audited consolidated financial
statements of Guangdong Huaui for the financial year ended 31
December 2023 and is pleased to confirm that profit guarantee of
consolidated net profit after tax not less than RMB11 million was
met.

(b) Guangdong Xunhua Electric Technology Company
Limited

As disclosed in agreement, the Vendor agreed to guarantee that
Guangdong Xunhua Electric Technology Company Limited
(“Guangdong Xunhua”) will have consolidated net profit after tax
of not less than RMB13 million for the financial year ending 31
December 2023. The Board has reviewed the audited consolidated
financial statement of Guangdong Xunhua for the financial year
ended 31 December 2023 and is pleased to confirm that profit
guarantee of consolidated net profit after tax not less than RMB13
million.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had approximately 8,521 (2022:
8,241) employees. In order to enhance the morale and productivity of
employees, employees are remunerated based on their performance,
experience and prevailing industry practices. Compensation policies and
packages of management staff and functional heads are being reviewed
on a yearly basis. In addition to basic salary, performance related salary
may also be awarded to employees based on internal performance
evaluation. Moreover, the Company has adopted a share award scheme
in June 2017 in order to retain elite personnel to stay with the Group and
to provide incentives for their contribution to the Group.

The Group also invests in continuing education and training programmes
for management staff and other employees with a view to upgrade their
skills and knowledge. These training courses comprise internal courses
run by the management of the Group and external courses provided by
professional trainers and range from technical training for butlers to
financial and administrative trainings for management staff.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

SHARE AWARD SCHEME

Reference is made to the announcements of the Company in respect of
grant of awarded shares between 6 July 2017 and 15 January 2019 and in
respect of adoption of share award scheme (the “Share Award
Scheme”) dated 20 June 2017.

The purposes and objectives of the Share Award Scheme are to
recognise the contributions by certain employees of the Group and to
provide them with incentives in order to retain them for the continual
operation and development of the Group and to attract suitable
personnel for further development of the Group.

The Board may select any Eligible Person (other than Excluded Person)
for participation in the Share Award Scheme and determine the number
of the Awarded Shares to be awarded to the Selected Persons. The
Board is entitled to impose any conditions (including a period of
continued service within the Group after the Reference Date), as it
deems appropriate with respect to the entitlement of the Selected
Person to the Awarded Shares.

The maximum number of Shares which may be awarded to a Selected
Person under the Share Award Scheme shall not exceed 1% of the
issued share capital of the Company as at the Adoption Date. Based on
the 794,172,000 Shares in issue as at the Adoption Date, the maximum
entitlement of each Selected Person under the Share Award Scheme
would be 7,941,720 Shares at nominal value. No amount is payable on
the acceptable of an award.

Any Awarded Shares and the related income thereof held in the Account
or by the Trustee and which are referable to a Selected Person shall vest
in that Selected Person in accordance with the timetable and conditions
as imposed by the Board at its absolute discretion, provided that the
Selected Person remains at all times after the Reference Date and on the
relevant Vesting Date(s) an Eligible Person of the Group.

As 1 January 2023, 31 December 2023 and the date of this annual report,
375,160 Shares were available for issue under the Share Award Scheme,
representing approximately 0.04% of the issued Shares.

Subject to any early termination as may be terminated by the Board, the
Share Award Scheme shall be valid and effective for a term of ten (10)
years commencing on the Adoption Date and shall expire on 19 June
2027.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
E 1R B 51 5m 82 53 T

MATERIAL ACQUISITION AND DISPOSALS OF
SUBSIDIARIES OR ASSOCIATED COMPANIES

The Group had no material acquisition or disposal of subsidiaries or
associates during the year ended 31 December 2023.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group has no specific plan for major
investment or acquisition for major capital assets or other business.
However, the Group will continue to identify new opportunities for
business development.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

On 28 March 2024, the Directors resolved to recommend the payment of
a final dividend of HKD2.5 cents per share for the year ended 31
December 2023 (2022: HKD2.5 cents) to the shareholders whose names
appear on the register of members of the Company on 11 June 2024.
Subject to the approval by the shareholders of the Company at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company (the “AGM"), the
final dividend is expected to be payable on or about 5 July 2024. The
aggregate amount shall be paid out of the Company’s share premium
account if the payment of the dividend is approved by the shareholders
at the AGM.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILE

DIRECTORS
MR. LIU JIAN

Chairman and chief executive officer

Mr. Liu Jian, aged 56, is the chairman and the chief executive officer of the
Company and was appointed as an executive Director of the Company on
5 January 2015. Being one of the first members of the Group, Mr. Liu
founded Guangdong zhong Ao Property Management Company Limited
(“Guangdong zZhong Ao") with Ms. Chen Zhuo in September 2005. Mr.
Liu was appointed as the sole director of Zhong Ao Property in September
2005 and has been primarily responsible for overall operation and
management, strategic planning and business development. Mr. Liu plays
a key role in the Group's business development and has led its business
expansion from Guangdong province to other parts of China. Prior to
joining the Group, Mr. Liu worked at Guilin Park Hotel Co., Ltd. (FE#REE
£ JE B BR A Al) from May 1990 to August 1994 and his last position held
was manager. From September 1994 to March 1999, he worked at Guilin
Royal Gardens Hotel Co., Ltd. (= 488 /& & BR 2 &) and his last
position held was manager. From 1999 to December 2003, Mr. Liu served
as general manager of Guangzhou Olympic Garden Property Company (&
M| BLAR T 52 FEE ¥ % 2 7)) and from February 2004 to June 2005, as
general manager of Nanguo Aoyuan Property Company (55 5 B E ¥ A
7)), both companies being subsidiaries of Guangdong Yabo Property
Service Company Limited (& 5 7 1% 47 3 Bk 7% & BR 2 &) ("Guangdong
Yabo”). Mr. Liu graduated from Huazhong University of Science and
Technology (£ 77 ¥£ T X ) with a bachelor's degree in economics in
1988. In September 2023, Mr. Liu was awarded 2022 ER A M £ E BT
£ f£ | ™ CEO (The Best of CEO in the Property Management Industry of
Guangdong Province in 2022*) and 2013-2023 B R & WM ¥ BT BT EH R
5|78 (2013-2023 Property Management Industry Development Leader of
Guangdong Province*) from R & ¥ % & 17 % % € (Guangdong
Property Management Industry Institute™).

MS. CHEN ZHUO

Executive Director and vice president

Ms. Chen Zhuo, aged 46, is a vice president of the Company and was
appointed as an executive Director of the Company on 5 January 2015. Ms.
Chen joined the Group as vice president when Zhong Ao Property was
established in September 2005. As a founder and a member of the core
management team of the Group, she has been primarily responsible for
financial management, strategic planning and business development. Ms.
Chen served as deputy general manager of Guangdong Yabo from August
2002 to March 2005. Ms. Chen received a college degree from Sun Yat-sen
University (/1L K 2) in 1999, majoring in business management. Ms.
Chen obtained the qualification of a property management manager in
2000 from the Ministry of Construction of the PRC.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILE
EShSHREREBEN

MR. LIANG BING

Executive Director and vice president

Mr. Liang Bing, aged 52, is a vice president of the Company and was
appointed as an executive Director of the Company on 5 January 2015.
Mr. Liang joined the Group as vice president in September 2005. As a
member of the Group’s core management team, he has been primarily
responsible for overall operation and management, strategic planning
and business development. Mr. Liang served as deputy general manager
of Guangdong Yabo from May 2002 to June 2005. Mr. Liang graduated
and attained a bachelor’s degree in environmental engineering from
Hunan University (17 X £) located in Hunan, the PRC in July 1996. He
later obtained a master’s degree in business administration for senior
management from Sun Yat-sen University (4 1L X ) in 2013. In July
2022, Mr. Liang was elected as an executive vice president of Guangdong
Province Property Management Industry Institute in the sixth member
and council meeting. In September 2023, Mr. Liang was awarded 2013-
2023 & W ¥ BIB1T ¥ % R BB (2013-2023 Contributor to the
Development of Property Management Industry in Guangdong
Province*). In January 2024, he was awarded 2023 &2 £ ¥ BB FE B
F A (2023 Annual Leader of the Top 100 Blue Chip Properties*) from
48 7R 8 23R (The Economic Observer).

MR. LONG WEIMIN

Executive Director and vice president

Mr. Long Weimin, aged 61, is a vice president of the Company and was
appointed as an executive Director of the Company on 5 January 2015.
Mr. Long joined the Group as vice president in June 2008. As a member
of the Group’s core management team, he has been primarily
responsible for overall operation and management, strategic planning
and business development. Mr. Long has 14 years of experience in the
hospitality industry. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Long served as a
deputy general manager at Guangxi Nanning Fenghuang Lodge (& 7 g
B & £8) from November 2007 to January 2004, as a deputy general
manager at Purui Hotspring Hotel (& f & 58 & ) from 2003 to 2007 and
as a general manager at Luoyang Mudou International Hotel Co. Ltd. (&
F5 58 #B Bl B2 R & A BR 22 /) from 2007 to 2008. Mr. Long graduated and
attained a diploma from Guangxi Radio and TV University (E 78 E#&E S48
KE)in 1982.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILE

MS. JIN KELI

Non-executive Director

Ms. Jin Keli, aged 41, was appointed as a non-executive Director of the
Company since 17 July 2020. She has been the chief executive officer
and executive Director of Greentown Service Group Co.Ltd.
("Greentown Service”), a company listed on the main board of the
Stock Exchange, stock code: 2869) since 21 June 2021 and 1 February
2022, respectively. She is responsible for management work in relation
to the overall operation of Greentown Service. Ms. Jin joined the
Greentown Property Service Group Co., Ltd. (53 MW ERBEBER A
7)) ("Greentown Property”) in May 2006 and held various positions in
the Greentown Property Management, including the administrative
director of the Administrative Management Center from January 2012 to
January 2014, the assistant president from February 2015 to July 2017,
the vice president from August 2017 to March 2018 and the president
since March 2018, respectively. Ms. Jin served as the chief operating
officer and the chief financial officer of Greentown Service from March
2018 to February 2022 and June 2021 to February 2022, respectively.

Ms. Jin graduated from China University of Political Science and Law in
July 2006 with a bachelor’s degree majoring in philosophy, and obtained
her MBA degree from China Europe International Business School (9 Bt
EIFR T 20t ) in November 2018.

SESELSREREBEN

ERERRLT
FHITEF

SRIBZL  Mpx N202067 817 BEZEAARK
NAEFERITEE - B HE2021F6 521 H K20224F2
R1BR DR ETEEBREEEERAF ([#HH
B — KRBT ER ETMHAR - RO :
2869) ZITHRBERHITES  WAEHWREH
FEBELAMNERTIE - 220065 A M
ANGERMERBEEER AT ([BREWE]) - Wit
FRMERETZEARE  2ESBR2012F18E
2014F1AETHREEROITHBE - 20152 A
ZE2017F7 AEBBEAH - R2017F8 A £20184F
SAMFREIEE R2018F3AESEHEE - B20184F 3
HZE2022F2 A RPN 2021F6 A E2022F2 8 &
ZEHRFEWRGEEFEELEERERYBKE -

SR 2006F7 ABRERFREBUEARE - BIFH
BE4 27 WHR2018F 11 AN EER T2k
EETREIEE TS0 -

FRIARNEBEERLT
2023 F

31



DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILE
EShSHREREBEN

MS. XU YAPING

Non-executive Director

Ms. Xu Yaping, aged 44, was appointed as a non-executive director on 10
July 2023. Ms. Xu graduated from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University
with a master’s degree in international real estate in 2018. She has
extensive experiences in property service, real estate and marketing
industry in the People’s Republic of China. She has joined Greentown
Property (a wholly-owned subsidiary of Greentown Services Group Co.
Ltd.* (4% RS =B AR A F)) (@ company listed on the Main Board of
the Hong Kong Stock Exchange, stock code: 2869)) since 1998 and has
held various positions in several of its subsidiaries. From January 2013 to
May 2022, she served as the general manager of Greentown Real Estate
Consulting Group Co., Ltd.* (43 E H EF & B AR A 7)) . From
August 2017 to present, she is concurrently serving as the vice president
and the chief marketing officer of Greentown Service Group Co. Ltd.* (4%
¥ AR %5 % B B BR 2 7)) . She obtained the construction engineer
qualification certificate issued by Zhuji Personnel Bureau in September
2008 and the certified property manager qualification certificate issued by
Zhejiang Provincial Department of Human Resources and Social Security in
May 2011.

MR. CHAN WAI CHEUNG, ADMIRAL

Independent non-executive Director

Mr. Chan Wai Cheung, Admiral, aged 50, joined the Company and was
appointed as an independent non-executive Director of the Company on
31 May 2017. Mr. Admiral Chan holds a Bachelor of Arts (Honours) in
Accountancy from the City University of Hong Kong. Mr. Admiral Chan is
a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. He
has extensive experience in accounting and auditing fields. Mr. Admiral
Chan is an executive director of Energy International Investments
Holdings Limited, a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 353). He was an independent non-executive
director of Century Energy International Holdings Limited, a company
listed on the GEM of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 8132), from March
2020 to August 2021, an independent non-executive director of SFund
International Holdings Limited, a company previously listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1367), from November 2016 to
August 2022, and an independent non-executive director of China Water
Affairs Group Limited, a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 855), from January 2020 to November 2022.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILE

MR. CHAN KA LEUNG KEVIN

Independent non-executive Director

Mr. Chan Ka Leung Kevin, aged 55, joined the Company and was
appointed as an independent non-executive Director of the Company on
31 May 2017. Mr. Kevin Chan, holds a bachelor of science degree in
accounting and a master of science degree from the University of Illinois
of the United States of America. Mr. Kevin Chan has extensive
experience in corporate finance. He has been a responsible officer of a
corporation licensed under the Securities and Futures Ordinance
(Chapter 571 of the laws of Hong Kong) (the "SFO") to conduct type 6
(advising on corporate finance) regulated activity until 18 June 2023, Mr.
Kevin Chan was an independent non-executive director of Greens
Holdings Ltd, a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 1318) from 8 January 2015 to 12 November 2015. He was an
independent non-executive director of S&S Intervalue China Limited, the
shares of which are listed on the GEM of the Stock Exchange (stock code:
8506), from 18 January 2021 to 30 June 2022 and Teamway International
Group Holdings Limited, the shares of which are listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1239) since 21 June 2019 to 31
December 2022.

MR. YIN WEIZHONG

Independent non-executive Director

Mr. Yin Weizhong, aged 57, joined the Company and was appointed as
an independent non-executive Director of the Company on 1 July 2023.
Mr. Yin graduated from Nanjing Agricultural University with a master’s
degree in agriculture in 1994. He has extensive experiences in marketing,
management and teaching in the PRC. He has been the general manager
of Guangzhou Yingte Marketing Planning Co., Ltd.* (B &4 & %3l
APBR A &]) since 2016, and is fully responsible for the operation of the
company, including the promotion of its marketing consulting business
to different mass consumer goods enterprises, as well as agricultural
and animal husbandry enterprises. From 2008 to 2016, he had been the
dean of the business school of Guangdong Lingnan Vocational and
Technical College* (&% 48 A B 2 £ T 226 ) and was fully responsible
for the teaching and research work of the college. Prior to that, Mr. Yin
had also worked for other enterprises and universities in the PRC.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILE
EShSHREREBEN

SENIOR MANAGEMENT
MR. CHAN KONG

Vice president

Mr. Chan Kong, aged 74, joined the Group as a vice president in April 2008.
Prior to joining the Group, he served as an executive housekeeper at Guilin
Riverside Resort, China (& 5 & #8) from February 1987 to February 1988.
From February 1988 to January 2002, Mr. Chan worked with Macau CTS
Hotel Management (International) Limited (29 jx (B ) B/ E R AR
A \]). He joined as a project coordinator in 1988 and was later assigned by
a secondment to Hotel Universal Guilin in the capacity of an executive
housekeeper. He was subsequently promoted and served as general
manager of Hotel Universal Guilin and general manager of Hotel Metropole,
Macau (BP9 #EBE &) and Xi'an Eastern Haojing Hotel (A8 % 8 77 %38
J&). From 2003 to 2004, he served as a general manager at Man Wah
Dongguan Hotel (3 5 S EEE ).

MS. XIANG YAN

Assistant to CEO

Ms. Xiang Yan, aged 38, joined the Group in October 2005. She is currently
the Assistant to CEO of the Group. Ms. Xiang graduated from Jinan
University (8 KX £) and obtained a diploma in property management.

MR. KWONG LUN KEI, VICTOR

company secretary

Mr. Kwong Lun Kei, Victor, aged 42, was appointed as the company
secretary of the Group. Mr. Kwong is a practicing solicitor and was
admitted as a solicitor in Hong Kong in 2010. He obtained his Bachelor of
Laws and Bachelor of Commerce from University of New South Wales,
Australia in 2007. He has over ten (10) years of experience in corporate
finance and primarily advises on listings of companies on the Stock
Exchange, mergers and acquisitions, regulatory compliance and other
commercial law matters. Mr. Kwong was the company secretary of
Brainhole Technology Limited, a company listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange (stock code: 2203) since 1 April 2020 to 31 August 2023.
He is one of the joint company secretaries of Sterling Group Holdings
Limited, a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 1825) since 1 February 2022. He was the company secretary
of Hong Wei (Asia) Holdings Company Limited, a company listed on GEM
(stock code: 8191) since 30 September 2022 and Kingbo Strike Limited, a
company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code:
1421) since 1 October 2023.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The board (“Board”) of directors ("Directors”) of the Company is
pleased to present this corporate governance report for the year ended
31 December 2023.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board is committed to maintaining and upholding high standards of
corporate governance of the Company to ensure that formal and
transparent procedures are in place to protect and maximise the
interests of the shareholders of the Company (“Shareholders”).

The Company has adopted the code provisions set out in the Corporate
Governance Code (“CG Code"”) contained in Appendix C1 to the Rules
Governing the Listing of the Securities (“Listing Rules”) on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Stock Exchange”) as its code of
corporate governance.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Board is of the view that the
Company has complied with all code provisions set out in the CG Code in
force during the reporting period save and except for the following code
Provisions:

Code Provision C.2.1 of Part 2 — Principle of good corporate governance
code provisions and recommended best practices of the CG Code
requires that the roles of chairman and chief executive officer should be
separate and should not be performed by the same individual. The
Company has appointed Mr. Liu Jian as both the chairman and the chief
executive officer of the Company. The Board believes that vesting the
roles of the chairman and chief executive officer in the same individual
would enable the Company to achieve higher responsiveness, efficiency
and effectiveness when formulating business strategies and executing
business plans. The Board believes that the balance of power and
authority is sufficiently maintained by the operation of the senior
management and Board, which comprises experienced and high calibre
individuals. The Board currently comprises four executive directors
(including Mr. Liu Jian), two non-executive directors and three
independent non-executive directors and therefore has a fairly strong
independence element in its composition.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
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DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set out in Appendix
C3 to the Listing Rules as its code of conduct for Directors in their
dealings in the Company's securities. Having made specific enquiry to all
the Directors, all the Directors confirmed that they had complied with the
required standard of dealings as set out in the Model Code for the year
ended 31 December 2023.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control of the Group and
oversees the Group’s businesses.

The Board is also responsible for performing the corporate governance
duties as set out below:

o To develop and review the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance;

o To review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management;

o To review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

o To develop, review and monitor the code of conduct applicable to
Directors and employees; and

o To review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.

(i) Board composition

The Board currently comprises a combination of four executive
Directors, two non-executive Directors and three independent
non-executive Directors. There is a strong independent element on
the Board, to ensure the independence and objectivity of the
Board’s decision making process as well as the thoroughness and
impartiality of the Board's oversight of the management.
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(ii)

The Board possesses, both as individual Directors and collectively,
appropriate experience, competencies and personal qualities,
including professionalism and integrity, to discharge its
responsibilities adequately and effectively. In addition, the Board
collectively has adequate knowledge and expertise relevant to
each of the material business activities that the Company pursues
and the associated risks in order to ensure effective governance
and oversight.

Members of the Board, who come from a variety of different
backgrounds, have a diverse range of business, professional
expertise. Biographical details of the Directors are set out in the
section "Directors and Senior Management Profile” in this Annual
Report.

The Board members have no relationship (including financial,
business, family or other material or relevant relationships) with
each other.

The Board of the Company currently comprises of the following
Directors:

Executive Directors

Mr. Liu Jian (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Ms. Chen Zhuo

Mr. Liang Bing

Mr. Long Weimin

Non-executive Directors
Ms. Jin Keli
Ms. Xu Yaping

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Chan Wai Cheung, Admiral

Mr. Chan Ka Leung, Kevin

Mr. Yin Weizhong

Board meetings

During the year ended 31 December 2023, twelve Board meetings
were held. Prior notices convening the Board meetings were
despatched to the Directors setting out the matters to be
discussed. At the meetings, the Directors were provided with the
relevant documents to be discussed and approved. The company
secretary is responsible for keeping minutes for the Board
meetings.
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(iii)

(iv)

(v)
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Responsibilities of the Board and management

The executive Directors, with the assistance from the senior
management, form the core management team of the Company.
The executive Directors have the overall responsibility for
formulating the business strategies and development plan of the
Company and its subsidiaries (collectively the “"Group”) and the
senior management personnel are responsible for supervising and
executing the plans of the Group.

Independence of independent non-executive
Directors

In compliance with Rule 3.10(1), 3.10(2) and 3.10A of the Listing
Rules, the Company has appointed three independent non-
executive Directors. The Board considers that all independent non-
executive Directors have appropriate and sufficient diversity,
industry or finance experience and qualifications to carry out their
duties so as to protect the interests of the Shareholders. One of
the independent non-executive Directors, Mr. Chan Wai Cheung,
Admiral is @ member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants.

Prior to their respective appointment, each of the independent
non-executive Directors has submitted a written statement to the
Stock Exchange confirming their independence and has
undertaken to inform the Stock Exchange as soon as practicable if
there is any subsequent change of circumstances which may
affect their independence. In addition, the Company has also
received a written confirmation from each of the independent non-
executive Directors in respect of their independence. Based on
such confirmations, the Board considers that all independent non-
executive Directors are independent.

Induction for Director and continuous professional
development

Each newly appointed Director is provided with necessary
induction and information to ensure that he or she has a proper
understanding of the Company’s operations and businesses as
well as his or her responsibilities under relevant status, laws, rules
and regulations. The Company also provides Directors with regular
updates on latest development and changes in the Listing Rules
and other relevant legal and regulatory requirements from time to
time. The Directors are also provided with regular updates on the
Company’s performance, position and prospects to enable the
Board as a whole and each Director to discharge their duties.

ZHONG AO HOME GROUP LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2023

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

EEENERBNET

WTEFESREREOHH TARARR
L ERE  RTEFBRNTARR
30 POICE-PEIES 1 DES T
BRABOEBEC MHSAEBARRE
EERATAEENHE -

BYIFMTESHNEIY

A AR B 3.10(1) ~ 3.10(2) & 3.10A
 ARAREZRE=ZRBBIUFNTEFT - &
FERR MABUFBTESHAREE
ERRHAZTERE TRIMBERLER
ABTTEBRS - fem s iR o H AP —
HBUFATESRERLERBT B G

Al =
LEER -

BRBUNNTEFTEZT 2 EXEM
BMXMEX—MHEEEH  ERE/BIA
T WEARMERELEABERECTEE
FEEBIM EERNYEATBERTER
FEBEFT o AN ARBIIFE WA B BIL
FRTEEHEBUUHENETMER - &
RZEERE EFERAR MABILIEHN
TEEHRBIAL -

ESMBREEIRER

BRAMTESHREHRCEORBEIRE
Al AREREZETHARRNEERER
AR ERBRERMA  OXE  RBROER
THBE ARFANEHABERHLTR
Al R A AR BDER MORR TR R EH B
AR AR RRIRIR - AROR K BT = 69 E B R H
NHEREFSBRERERESTETHEE -



Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills.
The company secretary of the Company has from time to time
updated and provided written training materials relating to the
roles, functions and duties of a Director.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, each Director, namely
Mr. Liu Jian, Ms. Chen Zhuo, Mr. Liang Bing, Mr. Long Weimin, Ms.
Jin Keli, Ms. Xu Yaping, Mr. Chan Wai Cheung, Admiral, Mr. Chan
Ka Leung, Kevin and Mr. Yin Weizhong, has participated in
continuous professional development by reading relevant
materials on regulatory requirements and/or attending training
sessions or seminars organised by the Company or externally.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Chairman and chief executive officer are two key aspects of the
management of a company. Chairman is responsible for providing
leadership for the board and management of the board while chief
executive officer is responsible for day-to-day management of business.
Clear division of these responsibilities should be in place to ensure a
balance power and authority. The code provision C.2.1 of CG Code which
provides that the roles of chairman and chief executive officer should be
separate and should not be performed by the same individual.

During the year, Mr. Liu Jian ("Mr. Liu") is the chairman and chief
executive officer of the Company. This constitutes a deviation from the
code provision C.2.1 of CG Code.

The Company considers that having Mr. Liu acting as both the chairman
and chief executive officer will provide a strong and consistent leadership
to the Group and allow for more effective strategic planning and
management of the Group. Further, in view of Mr. Liu’s experience in the
industry, personal profile and role in the Group and historical
development of the Group, the Group considers it is to the benefit of the
Group in the business prospects that Mr. Liu continues to act as both the
chairman and chief executive officer after the Listing. Therefore, the
Company currently has no intention to separate the functions of
chairman and chief executive officer.
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BOARD COMMITTEES
Audit committee

The Company has established an audit committee on 5 November 2015
with written terms of reference in compliance with Rule 3.21 of the
Listing Rule and the Corporate Governance Code and Corporate
Governance Report as set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules. The
audit committee consists of three members, namely Mr. Chan Wai
Cheung, Admiral, Mr. Chan Ka Leung, Kevin and Mr. Yin Weizhong, all
being independent non-executive Directors. Mr. Chan Wai Cheung,
Admiral is the chairman of the audit committee with the appropriate
professional qualifications. The primary duties of the audit committee are
to review and supervise the financial reporting process and internal
control system of the Group, oversee the audit process and perform
other duties and responsibilities as assigned by the Board.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, three audit committee
meetings were held and the individual attendance of each Director is set
out in the section “Directors’ Attendance Records At Meetings”.

At the meetings, the members of audit committee principally reviewed
and discussed with the external auditor of the Company about the
Group’s annual results and audited consolidated financial statements for
the year ended 31 December 2022, the interim review scope and process
for the Group's result for the six months ended 30 June 2023, the interim
results for the six months ended 30 June 2023 and audit scope and
process for the Group’s annual results for the year ended 31 December
2023 and reviewed the effectiveness of the risk management and
assessment, financial reporting process and internal control system,
respectively.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Company has established a remuneration committee on 5 November
2015 with written terms of reference in compliance with Rule 3.25 of the
Listing Rules and the Corporate Governance Code and Corporate
Governance Report as set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules. The
remuneration committee three members, namely Mr. Chan Ka Leung,
Kevin, Ms. Chen Zhuo and Mr. Chan Wai Cheung, Admiral. Mr. Chan Ka
Leung, Kevin is the chairman of the remuneration committee. The primary
duties of the remuneration committee are to establish and review the
policy and structure of the remuneration for the Directors and senior
management and approve recommendations on management
remuneration.

The remuneration committee meets to determine the policy for the
remuneration of Directors and assess the performance of executive
Directors and approving the terms of executive Directors’ service
contracts. In determining the remuneration for Directors, the
remuneration committee takes into consideration factors such as
salaries paid by comparable companies, time commitment and
responsibilities of the Directors and the desirability of performance-
based remuneration.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, three remuneration
committee meetings were held and the individual attendance of each
Director is set out in the section “Directors’ Attendance Records At
Meetings”.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Company has established a nomination committee on 5 November
2015 with written terms of reference in compliance with the Corporate
Governance Code and Corporate Governance Report as set out in
Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules. The nomination committee has three
members, namely Mr. Liu Jian, Mr. Chan Wai Cheung, Admiral and Mr.
Chan Ka Leung, Kevin. Mr. Liu Jian is the chairman of the nomination
committee. The primary duties of the nomination committee are to
review the structure, size and composition of the Board and to make
recommendations to the Board on the appointment of Directors of the
company.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, three nomination committee
meeting was held and the individual attendance of each Director is set
out in the section “Directors’ Attendance Records At Meetings”.
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NOMINATION POLICY
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Objective

1.1

The nomination policy sets out the approach and procedures
the Board adopts for the nomination and selection of
Directors, including the appointment of additional Directors,
replacement of Directors, and re-election of Directors.

Policy Statement

21

22

The Company recognises the importance of having a
qualified and competent Board to achieve the Group
corporate strategy as well as promote shareholder value.

The Company believes that a Board that possesses a
balance of skill set, experience, expertise and diversity of
perspectives enhances decision-making capability and the
overall effectiveness of the Board. The Board is committed
to ensuring that proper nomination and election processes
are in place for the selection and nomination of Directors.

Selection Criteria

3.1

In the determination of the suitability of a candidate, the
nomination committee shall consider the potential
contributions a candidate can bring to the Board in terms of
qualifications, skills, experience, independence, age, culture,
ethnicity and gender diversity. The nomination committee
shall consider the following selection criteria and such other
factors that it may consider appropriate for a position on the
Board:

(i) Attributes Complementary to the Board: The
candidate should possess attributes that complement
and expand the skill set, experience and expertise of
the Board as a whole, having regard to the current
structure, size, diversity profile and skills matrix of the
Board and the needs of the Board.

(i Business Experience & Board Expertise and
Skills: The candidate should have the ability to
exercise sound business judgment and also possess
proven achievement and experience in directorship
including effective oversight of and guidance to
management.
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(ii)

(iv)

Availability: The candidate should have sufficient
time for the proper discharge of the duties of a
Director, including devoting adequate time for the
preparation and participation in meetings, training and
other Board or Company associated activities.

Motivation: The candidate should be self-motivated
and have a strong interest in the Company’s
businesses.

Integrity: The candidate should be a person of
integrity, honesty, good repute and high professional
standing.

Independence: Independent non-executive Director
candidates must satisfy the independence
requirements under the Listing Rules. The candidate
shall be independent in character and judgement and
be able to represent and act in the best interests of all
Shareholders.

The above criteria are for reference only and are not meant
to be exhaustive or decisive. The Board shall take into
consideration the benefits of a diversified Board when
selecting Board candidates.

IV. Nomination Procedures

4.1 Appointment of New and Replacement Directors

0]

(i)

If the Board determines that an additional or
replacement Director is required, it will deploy multiple
channels for identifying suitable director candidates,
including referral from Directors, shareholders,
management, advisors of the Company and external
executive search firms.

Upon compilation and interview of the list of potential
candidates, the nomination committee will shortlist
candidates for consideration by the Board based on
the selection criteria and such other factors that it
considers appropriate. The Board has the final
authority on determining suitable director candidate
for appointment.
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4.2  Re-election of Directors and Nomination from Shareholders

(i) Where a retiring Director, being eligible, offers himself
for re-election, the Board shall consider and, if
consider appropriate, recommend such retiring
Director to stand for re-election at a general meeting.
A circular containing the requisite information on such
retiring Director will be sent to shareholders prior to a
general meeting in accordance with the Listing Rules.

(i) Shareholder(s) may nominate a candidate to stand for
election as a Director at a general meeting in
accordance with the “"Procedures for shareholders to
propose a person for election as a director of the
Company” published by the Company from time to
time.

V. Review and Monitoring

5.1 The Board will from time to time review this Policy and
monitor its implementation to ensure its continued
effectiveness and compliance with regulatory requirements
and good corporate governance practice.

BOARD DIVERSITY

The Company recognises and embraces the benefits of having a diverse
Board, and sees increasing diversity at Board level as an essential
element in maintaining an effective Board to enhance the quality of its
performance. The Board has adopted the Board Diversity Policy with an
aim to promote broad experience and diversity on the Board.

In designing the Board composition, Board diversity has been considered
from a number of aspects, including but not limited to gender, age,
cultural and educational background, ethnicity, professional experience,
skills, knowledge and length of service. All Board appointments will be
based on meritocracy, and candidates will be considered against
objective criteria, having due regard for the benefits of diversity on the
Board.

Selection of candidates will be based on a range of diversity
perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills,
knowledge and length of service.

The Board has reviewed, through the nomination committee, the
structure, size, composition and diversity of the Board as well as the
nomination and appointment procedure of Directors during the year.
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DIRECTORS’ ATTENDANCE RECORDS AT MEETINGS = N =FE T
The attendance records of each Director at various meetings held during  TXR#HJSEZTREH ZE2023F 12A31B IEFER
the year ended 31 December 2023 are set out in the table below: FrERITEIESZEM L FE L8
Audit Remuneration Nomination
Committee Committee Committee Board
Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting AGM
Name EREEY FHEES REZEEY By RER
28 = g3 =t g3 BERE
Mr. Liu Jian (Chairman) N/A N/A 3/3 12/12 Al
REEE(EE) T3 A 36 A
Ms. Chen zhuo N/A 3/3 N/A 12/12 Al
PR 20+ TERA TERA
Mr. Liang Bing N/A N/A N/A 12/12 Al
RESEAE T A e A T 3E A
Mr. Long Weimin N/A N/A N/A 12/12 Al
BEARLE i A 38 A 38 A
Mr. Wu Zhihua® N/A N/A N/A 8/8 171
REERLED TEA i A TERA
Ms. Jin Keli N/A N/A N/A 12/12 171
eRBLZT i A 38 A T A
Ms. Xu Yaping® N/A N/A N/A 4/4 N/A
R i A 38 A T A i A
Mr. Chan Wai Cheung, Admiral 3/3 3/3 3/3 12/12 11
PRIZE &4
Mr. Chan Ka Leung, Kevin 3/3 3/3 3/3 12/12 Al
PRER R4
Mr. Huang Anxin® 11 N/A N/A 8/8 11
ELLEED N iE A T3 A
Mr. Yin Weizhong® 2/2 N/A N/A 4/4 N/A
FRREE T 3E A TERA TEA

z
I$)
Q
@
=
Bt

1) Mr. Wu Zhihua has resigned with effect from 10 July 2023. REEREHF2023F7 A10 A RREHT ©

=

( ™

) Ms. Xu Yaping has been appointed as non-executive Director on 10 July 2023. ) BEFZTER2023F7A10REZEAIERTES -

@) Mr. Huang Anxin has resigned with effect from 1 July 2023. @) HEOEAEB2023F7 A1 BEEHT -

(4) Mr. Yin Weizhong has been appointed as independent non-executive Director — (4) FRBAEECR20283F7 A THEZTABYIERNITE
and member of audit committee on 1 July 2023. EREZEZEEHKE -

FRIARNEBEFRLT
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AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the total fees paid/payable in
respect of audit and non-audit services provided to the Group by Ernst &
Young are set out below:

% S CMEH £

HE2023F12A3MBIEFE AL kE:mMEH
Frm A BIRE B RIEZBREEN TENNE
RemEsmT

RMB’000
AR¥T T
Type of services: RisER
Audit services EZRTE
Audit of the annual consolidated financial ERFEEEUEHRE
statements 2,500
2,500

DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES ON
THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge that it is their responsibility to prepare the
accounts of the Group and other disclosures required under the Listing
Rules and the management will provide information and explanation to
the Board to enable it to make an informed assessment of the financial
and other Board decisions.

A statement by the Company’s independent external auditor, Ernst &
Young, about their reporting responsibilities is included in the
"Independent Auditor’s Report” in this annual report.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The company secretary supports the chairman, Board and Board
committees by developing good corporate governance practices and
procedures. Mr. Kwong Lun Kei Victor of Michael Li & Co., an external
service provider, was appointed as the company secretary of the
Company. The biographical details of Mr. Kwong are set out in the
section headed “Directors and Senior Management Profile” in this report.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board is accountable for overseeing the Group's risk management
and internal control systems and reviewing its effectiveness, while the
management and other personnel are responsible for implementing and
maintaining the internal controls systems that covers governance,
compliance, risk management, financial and operational controls to
safeguard the Group's assets and stakeholders' interests. The system is
designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve
business objectives and can only provide reasonable, and not absolute
assurance against material misstatement or loss.

A.

Risk Management and Internal Control Review

During the financial year ended 31 December 2023, the Board has
conducted an annual review on the effectiveness of the Group’s
risk management and internal control systems. The following is the
summary of the Internal Control and Risk Management Report.

This report summarises our assessment and procedures for the
Company'’s risk management, and its internal control is considered
to be sufficient and at low risk. This report also aims to assist the
Company to recognise its internal control weakness in relevant
financial procedures, systems and internal controls area.

Our assessment commencing from assessing the over compliance
system and risk management control, the financial reporting and
disclosure control, and the operating controls of the Company.
Approaches include interviews with management, reviewing on
relevant documents, walkthroughs of processes, tests on selected
operating samples, and a follow-up assessment after
implementation of recommendation on internal control issues.
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We have performed annual enquiries, reviewed of company’s
documents, and on-site inspection to identify and understand the
extent of the risks. The Board of Directors has full responsibility to
set up a strategy when designing a system of internal controls that
eliminate risk and achieve business objectives. In our findings, an
Internal Control and Risk Management basic framework is
established and it consists of effectiveness and efficiency of
operation; reliability of financial reporting; and compliance with
applicable laws and regulations. An Operation Manual is also
imposed for employees to comply with applicable laws and all in-
house procedures and practices.

On an annual basis, the department heads review and update their
risk registers, discussion sessions are then led by the Chief
Executive. Control activities are built on top-level reviews,
segregation of duties and physical controls by documenting all
control process in policies and procedures to limit delegation of
authority, identifying the material risks, planning the action items,
and finalizing the budget and business objectives through variance
analyses. The company secretary and legal advisor are also
responsible to review adherence to the laws, while the Board is
responsible to delegate roles and authorities to the Board
members and senior management and ensure they understand
them.

For employee risk management, the Code of Conduct and
Business Ethics are set out; training sessions are regularly held to
reiterate the Company’s zero tolerance approach to bribery and
proper business ethics.
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Internal Audit Function

During the financial year ended 31 December 2023, the Company
has an internal audit department which consists of 2 employees to
monitor the daily operations of the Group. Besides, the Company
also appointed an internal control advisor (the “IC Advisor”) to
perform internal audit for the Group during the financial year
ended 31 December 2023. The IC Advisor reported to the audit
committee and to the Company’s management. The IC Advisor
conducted its internal audit review activities according to the
endorsed internal audit plan during the financial year ended 31
December 2023. The IC Advisor reported the internal audit findings
and recommendations to both the audit committee and the
management of the Group. The management of the Group agreed
on the internal audit findings and adopted the recommendations
by the IC Advisor accordingly.

Management’s confirmation on risk management

Based on the risk management mechanism and internal audit
review activities mentioned in the aforementioned paragraphs, the
management of the Group had provided a confirmation to the
Board that the Group had maintained an effective risk
management mechanism and internal control system during the
financial year ended 31 December 2023.

No significant areas of concern that may affect the financial,
operational, compliance controls, internal audit, risk management
and internal controls functions of the Group were identified. There
is no material weakness in the internal control of the Company
identified.

The Board and the audit committee, continue to evaluate the
adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience of staff in the
Group's accounting and financial reporting and internal audit
functions, as well as that function’s training programs and budget.
Based on its annual review, the Board and the audit committee are
not aware of any material deficiencies in the effectiveness of risk
management and internal control for the year ended 31 December
2023 and consider them effective and adequate.
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SHAREHOLDER RIGHTS

Convening an extraordinary general meeting (“EGM”)
and putting forward proposals at EGM

Pursuant to Article 58 of the Articles of Association of the Company, any
one or more shareholders holding at the date of deposit of the requisition
not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying
the right of voting at general meetings of the Company shall at all times
have the right, by written requisition to the Board or the secretary of the
Company, to require an extraordinary general meeting to be called by
the Board for the transaction of any business specified in such
requisition; and such meeting shall be held within two months after the
deposit of such requisition. If within 21 days of the requisition the Board
fail to proceed to convene such meeting the requisitionist(s) himself
(themselves) may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable
expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the
Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Procedures for directing shareholders’ enquiries to the
Board

The annual report and the Company’s website provide the contact
details of the Company. Shareholders may at any time send their
enquiries and concerns to the Board in writing. Shareholders may also
make enquiries with the Board at the general meetings of the Company.

Procedures for putting forward proposals at general
meetings by shareholders

There are no provisions allowing shareholders to put forward proposals
at the general meeting under the Cayman Islands Company Laws or the
articles of association of the Company. Shareholders may follow the
procedures set out in the preceding paragraph to convene an EGM for
any business specified in such written requisition.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company continues to maintain a high level of transparency in
communicating with shareholders and investors through diversified
communication channels, including (i) printed copies of corporate
communications (including but not limited to annual reports, interim
reports, notice of meetings, circulars and proxy forms) required under
the Listing Rules, and shareholders can choose to receive such documents
using electronic means through the Company’'s website
(www.gdzawy.com); (i) the annual general meeting provides a forum for
shareholders to raise questions with the Board: (iii) the Company’s
website contains the announcements, latest data and information of the
Group, so that the shareholders and investors can access and inspect
the information of the Company in a timely manner; and (iv) analyse
briefings are arranged from time to time to update shareholders and
investors on the Group's performance.

During the year, the Company proposed to make certain amendments to
the articles of association of the Company, among other things, to
conform to the core standards for shareholder protections set out in
Appendix 3 of the Listing Rules. The proposed amendments and the
adoption of the amended and restated articles of association was passed
of a special resolution by the shareholders of the Company at the AGM
held on 31 May 2023. For further details, please refer to the circular of
the Company dated 26 April 2023. The amended and restated of the
Company’'s Memorandum and Articles of Association is also available on
the websites of the Company and Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing
Limited.
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CHANGE IN INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS EFEREE

Information on Directors required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule  ZB#R#% F TR AIFE 1351BNIEREr EE 5 8L

13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules are as follow: m

(1) Mr. Chan Ka Leung, Kevin 1 BREREE

—  Resigned as a responsible officer of a corporation licensed —  M2023F6R18HEIE—ERESEBE

under the SFO to conduct type 6 regulated activity until 18 EBIESNEERES REEROIPTEITE
June 2023. CEEZREEDNFEEBEAE -
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The Directors have pleasure in presenting its annual report together with
audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2023.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS REVIEW

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. Its
subsidiaries are primarily engaged in the provision of property
management services, sales assistance services, provision of cleaning
and greening services and provision of real estate agency services in the
PRC. Further discussion and analysis of these activities as required by
Schedule 5 to the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, including a fair
review of the business and a discussion of the principal risks and
uncertainties facing the Group, particulars of important events affecting
the Group that have occurred since the end of the financial year 2023,
and an indication of likely future development in the Group’s business,
can be found in the “Chairman’s Statement”, “Management Discussion
and Analysis” and “Corporate Governance Report” sections of this
annual report. The above sections form part of this report.

During the year, the Company has complied with all the relevant laws
and regulations that have a significant impact on the operations of the
Group.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The Group is committed to reducing emissions and minimizing negative
environmental impacts through the implementation of the environmental
management system (“EMS") across our properties. The Group’s EMS is
certified to the international standard 1SO14001. Apart from complying
with all relevant international and local regulations, the Group regularly
identify potential environmental risks and strive for continuous
improvement. The key environmental concerns from the Group’s
operations relate to resource use and waste management. The Group
have implemented relevant initiatives, such as implementation of
metering systems to monitor the energy and water consumption,
installation of LED lighting and energy efficient water pumps. The Group
also promote environmental protection awareness to its employees and
property owners through posting reminders and providing recycle bins.
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The Group obtain the certification from OHSAS18001 occupational health
and safety management system. The Group prides itself on providing a
safe, effective and congenial work environment and it values the health
and well-being of its staff. Adequate arrangements, training and
guidelines have been implemented to ensure its working environment is
healthy and safe.

The Company'’s Environmental, Social and Governance Report, regarding
the same year covered in this annual report, will be posted on the
websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company within two months
from the publication of this annual report.

KEY RELATIONSHIPS WITH ITS EMPLOYEES,
CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The Group has maintained a good relationship with its employees,
customers and suppliers:

Employees: Employees are the most valuable asset for the Group.
The Group therefore strive to create a motivated
workplace by providing employees a safe and healthy
working environment, and a fair workplace with a
prospective career. The Group also emphasises on its
employees’ work-life balance, and organised various
activities throughout the year.

Customers: The Group is committed to upholding excellence in its
service quality in each and every part of the services,
and providing a feel-at-home experience to build
customer connection. Various communication
channels are set up to listen to its customers’
opinions.

Suppliers: The success of the Group highly depends on the
quality of products and services obtained from them,
hence, the Group developed procurement procedures
to select and assess its suppliers carefully.

More details will be disclosed in the Company’s Environmental, Social
and Governance Report, which will be posted on the websites of the
Stock Exchange and the Company within two months from the
publication of this annual report.
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RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023 are set
out in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income on page 76
of this annual report.

The Board recommended the payment of a final dividend of HKD2.50
cents per share for the year ended 31 December 2023 (“Proposed Final
Dividend") (2022: HKD2.50 cents) to the shareholders whose names
appear on the register of members of the Company on 11 June 2024.

Subject to the approval by the shareholders of the Company at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company (the “AGM"), the
Proposed Final Dividend is expected to be payable on or about 5 July
2024. The aggregate amount shall be paid out of the Company’s share
premium account if the payment of the dividend is approved by the
shareholders at the AGM.

DIVIDEND POLICY
I.  Purpose

1.1 The dividend policy aims to set out the principles and
guidelines that the Company intends to apply in relation to
the declaration, payment or distribution of its profits as
dividends to the shareholders of the Company.

Il.  Principles and Guidelines

2.1 In considering the payment of dividends, there shall be a
balance between retaining adequate reserves for the
Group'’s future growth and rewarding the shareholders of
the Company.

2.2 The Board shall also take into account, among other things,
the following factors when considering the declaration and
payment of dividends:

— the Group’s overall results of operation, financial
condition, expected working capital requirements and
capital expenditure requirements, liquidity position
and future expansions plans;

— the amount of retained profits and distributable
reserves of the Company;,
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2.3

24

2.5

— general economic conditions, business cycle of the
Group's business and other internal or external factors
that may have an impact on the business or financial
performance and position of the Group; and

— any other factors that the Board deems relevant.

The declaration and payment of dividends by the Company
is subject to any restrictions under the Companies Law of
the Cayman Islands, the Company’s memorandum and
articles of association, the Listing Rules and any other
applicable laws and regulations.

The Company does not have any pre-determined dividend
distribution ratio. The Company’s dividend distribution
record in the past may not be used as a reference or basis
to determine the level of dividends that may be declared or
paid by the Company in the future.

The dividend policy shall in no way constitute a legally
binding commitment by the Group in respect of its future
dividend and/or in no way obligate the Group to declare a
dividend at any time or from time to time.

Review of the Policy

3.1

The Board will continually review the dividend policy and
reserves the right in its sole and absolute discretion to
update, amend and modify the dividend policy at any time.
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results, assets and liabilities of the Group for the past
five financial years is set out on page 200.

DONATIONS

The Group had no charitable donations during the year ended 31
December 2023.

LOANS

Please refer to note 29 to financial statements of this annual report for
details of the loans and borrowings of the Group as at 31 December
2023.

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements during the year in the Group's property and
equipment are set out in note 13 to financial statements.
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EEERS
INVESTMENT PROPERTIES R&EME
Details of the movements during the year in the Group’s investment BEAEBREWENFENEBNFIBHR Y KR
properties are set out in note 14 to financial statements. FMEFE14 -
In addition, details of the investment property are set out below: UEoN - HEMEMFIBERIIET ¢
The group’s Gross
effective Floor Area
Location Lease Use interest (sq.m.)
AEEH BEER
B HE Jiike3 BERER (EARK)
1. 4 office units on the 10th floor (Nos. 10-1 to 10-4) of Held under a land use right for a Office 100% 2,753.31
Ningbo Fortune City, located at the northern side of term expiring on 20 May 2048
Jingjia Bridge and the eastern side of Binjiang
Avenue, Jiangdong District, Ningbo City, Zhejiang
Province, The PRC
1. FENIAERMIRERERBLAREINERE RELHERESE  HHR HEVN 100% 2,753.31
ERIERO10E4EPREA (10-1 2 10-45) 204845 A20 B fE R
2. 83 apartment units, 2 retail units and 9 car parks of Shui Held under a land use right for a Dormitory, 100% 7,796.53
mao Huayuan, located at No. 75-77 Lane 528, term expiring on 9 December commercial
Xindian Road, Haishu District, Ningbo City, Zhejiang 2049 and car park
Province, The PRC
2. HEMITASETEERFARSSFS7HKE  REOERERS RHR BE AER 100% 7,796.53
FEBEABEN  2ETEEMRIEREN 200912 A9BER FE
3. A retail unit of Zhebei Commercial Square, located at Held under a land use right for a Commercial 100% 26.16
Longshan Avenue, ZhiCheng Town, Changxing term expiring on 1 December
County, Huzhou City, Zhejiang Province, The PRC 2049
3. FETE MM REGERERLRENILEEXE RELERESS  BHR [EES 100% 2616
BIETEEM 2009512 A1 BER
4. 15 car parking spaces of Ouya Haoting located at Yuetai  Held under a land use right for a Carpark 100% 495.65
Street, Shigi District, Zhongshan City, Guangdong term expiring on 5 September
Province, The PRC 2076
4. FEERERILTAKERERERESESEEM BB ERERE - BER FEf 100% 495.65
20769 A5 BEH
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INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

Location

g

3 apartment units (Nos. 1808, 1908 and 1909) of
Xiangxie Mansion, located at, Jiefang Avenue,
Shaoxing City, Zhejiang Province, The PRC

REMI A BETBERAEEHAEIELBEA
(1808 ~ 1908 2 1909 5%)

Aresidential unit (Room?703) of a residential building,
No.7 Zhong Jing Si Avenue, Nansha District,
Guangzhou, Guangdong Province, The PRC

FEEREEMNTELIRFROE7TR-—EETET
—AEEEM (703E)

A residential unit (No.16, Building 9) of, Siji Jingu, located
at Dongcheng Avenue, Zhaoging City, Guangdong
Province, The PRC

FERREEEMRAANENZeR—HEEEEM(9
’165%)

An apartment unit (No. 1415) of Kunlun International,
located at Youyi Avenue, Baotou City, Inner
Mongolia, The PRC

FEARLEETREATERER —ERZEAL
(1415%%)

9 car parking spaces of, Louvre Garden, located at,
Jinxing Road, Yuyao City, Ningbo City, Zhejiang
Province, The PRC

REMIAERTAKT @K EZERIEREN

An apartment unit (No. 2022) of Dacheng Mingzuo,
located at No. 7 Ningan Road Xiaoshan District,
Hangzhou City, Zhejiang Province, The PRC

REGNTEMMN MR EE LR 7% AKEE—ER
BEA(20225%)

BR&EWME »)

Lease Use

HE Jiife3

Held under a land use right for a Commercial
term expiring on 3 December service and
2049 office

REL R RERSE  BER EERBREA
204912 A3BER

Held under a land use right for a Dormitory
term expiring on 28 May 2077

BELERRERE - AR BE
2077 F5 A28 HIEM

Held under a land use right for a Dormitory
term expiring on 23 July 2076

BB R RERE  HER BE
207657 A23 B @R

Held under a land use right for a Dormitory
term expiring on 1 September
2081

BIE T EARERE - R BE
20819 A1HER

Held under a land use right for a Car park
term expiring on 12 October
2080

RIEL B AERE  HEHER FE
2080510 A 12 BfER

Held under a land use right for a Commercial
term expiring on 14 December service and
2051 office

BE L EARERE - R EERE R
205112 A14BEM® WAE

G
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e PN
SEEBHRS
The group’s Gross
effective Floor Area
interest (sq.m.)
REEH BEERE
BERER (ERmXK)
100% 151.62
100% 151.62
100% 128.67
100% 128.67
100% 200.07
100% 200.07
100% 47.38
100% 47.38
100% 128.70
100% 128.70
100% 165.04
100% 165.04
AXREBMERLT
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SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in the share capital of the Company during the
year are set out in note 30 to financial statements.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENT

Save as disclosed in this annual report, there was no equity-linked
agreement entered into by the Company during the year ended 31
December 2023.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Pursuant to the relevant laws of Cayman Islands, distributable reserves
of the Company as of 31 December 2023 amounted to approximately
RMB273.3 million (31 December 2022: approximately RMB288.7 million).

DIRECTORS

The following is the list of Directors during the year and up to the date of
this annual report.

Brief biographies of the current Directors of the Group are set out in the
section headed “Directors and Senior Management Profile” of this annual
report.

Executive Directors

Mr. Liu Jian (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Ms. Chen Zhuo

Mr. Liang Bing

Mr. Long Weimin

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Wu Zhihua®
Ms. Jin Keli
Ms. Xu Yaping?

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Chan Wai Cheung, Admiral
Mr. Chan Ka Leung, Kevin

Mr. Huang Anxin®

Mr. Yin Weizhong®

Notes:

Q] Mr. Wu Zhihua has tendered his registration as non-executive director of the
Company with effect from 10 July 2023.

2 Ms. Xu Yaping has been appointed as non-executive director of the Company on
10 July 2023.

3) Mr. Huang Anxin has tendered his resignation as an independent non-executive
director and a member of the audit committee of the Company with effect from
1 July 2023.

(4) Mr. Yin Weizhong has been appointed as an independent non-executive director
and a member of the audit committee of the Company on 1 July 2023.
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Pursuant to Article 86(3) of the Articles of Association of the Company,
the office of a director shall be vacated if the director, among other
things, without special leave of absence from the Board, is absent from
meetings of the Board for six consecutive months, and his alternate
director, if any, shall not during such period have attended in his stead
and the Board resolves that his office be vacated.

Pursuant to Articles 83(3) of the Articles of Association of the Company,
Mr. Yin Weizhong and Ms. Xu Yaping shall retire by rotation at the
forthcoming annual general meeting and, being eligible, will offer
themselves for re-election.

Pursuant to Articles 84 of the Articles of Association of the Company,
Ms. Chen zZhuo, Mr. Liang Bing and Ms. Jin Keli shall retire by rotation at
the forthcoming annual general meeting and, being eligible, will offer
themselves for re-election.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors has an unexpired service contract with the Group
which is not determinable by the Company or any of its subsidiaries
within one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Under the Articles of Association, the Company had a permitted
indemnity provision (as defined in section 469 of the Companies
Ordinance) in force for the benefit of the Directors throughout the year
2023 and as at the date of approval of this Directors’ report, pursuant to
which the Company shall indemnify any Director against any liability, 0SS
suffered and expenses incurred by the Director in connection with any
legal proceedings in which he/she is involved by reason of being a
Director, except in any case where the matter in respect of which
indemnification is sought was caused by the fraud or dishonesty of the
Directors. The Company has maintained insurance cover for Directors’
and officers’ liabilities in respect of legal actions against the Directors
arising out of corporate activities. The insurance coverage is reviewed on
an annual basis. During the year 2023, no claims were made against the
Director.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACT

There were no contracts of significance in relation to the Group’s
business to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries and holding
company was a party and in which a Director of the Company had a
material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of
the year or at any time during the year.
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STATUS OF INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

The Company has received, from each of the independent non-executive
Directors, a confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange
("Listing Rules”). Based on such confirmations, the Company still
considers all of the independent non-executive Directors to be
independent.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As of 31 December 2023, the interests of the Directors and their
associates in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the
Company or any associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV
of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFQ”), Chapter 571 of the Laws
of Hong Kong) as recorded in the register required to be kept under
section 352 of the SFO, or which otherwise notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers contained in the Listing Rules,
were as follows:

Long positions

Interests in the shares and underlying shares of the Company

(i) Long position in Shares

Capacity in which interests

Name of Director were held
EsnE BEERNE G
Mr. Liu Jian Founder of discretionary trust, Interest
in controlled corporation
2L A ERETAIZA - I EEER
Note:

(1 Dawngate Limited (“Dawngate”) holds 40% of the issued share capital of
Qichang International Limited ("Qichang”) and is taken to be interested in
all the shares of Qichang and all the Shares of the Company held by
Qichang for the purposes of Part XV of the SFO. The issued share capital
of Dawngate is held as to 15% by Mr. Liu and 85% by Hilton Assets (PTC)
Limited as trustee of the Liu Family Trust. Being the settlor of the Liu
Family Trust, Mr. Liu is taken to be interested in all the Shares of the
Company that the Liu Family Trust is interested under Part XV of the SFO.

As of 31 December 2023, none of the Directors nor their associates had
any interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares and
debenture of the Company or any associated corporations.
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MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company was
entered into with any individual, firm or body corporate during the year
2023.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

No contracts of significance in relation to the Group’s business to which
the Company or any of its subsidiaries or holding company was a party
and in which a Director had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year
2023.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

During the year 2023, no Directors had an interest in any business which
competes or may compete with the business in which the Group is
engaged.

NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKING BY CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDERS

A deed of non-competition (the “Deed of Non-Competition”) was
entered into by Mr. Liu Jian, Dawngate Limited and Qichang International
Limited (collectively, the “Controlling Shareholders”) in favor of the
Company on 5 November 2015, pursuant to which each of the
Controlling Shareholders will not, and will procure any of its/his
associates and any company directly or indirectly controlled by he/it (not
include any member of the Group) not to either on his/its own or in
conjunction with any body corporate, partnership, joint venture or other
contractual agreement, whether directly or indirectly, whether for profit
or not, carry on, participate in, hold, engage in, acquire or operate, or
provide any form of assistance to any person, firm or company (except
members of the Group) to conduct any business which, directly or
indirectly, competes or may compete with the business presently carried
on by the Company or any of its subsidiaries or any other business that
may be carried on by any of them from time to time during the term of
the Deed of Non-competition, in Hong Kong or China and such other
places as the Company or any of its subsidiaries may conduct or carry
on business from time to time, including but not limited to provision of
property management services, residential community 020 business
and other related services.
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The independent non-executive Directors had reviewed the status of
compliance and confirmed that the Controlling Shareholders have
complied with all the undertakings under the Deed of Non-Competition
for the year ended 31 December 2023.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As of 31 December 2023, the register of substantial shareholders
maintained by the Company under section 336 of the SFO recorded that
the following entities, other than the Directors of the Company, had an
interest in the shares or underlying shares of the Company as follows:

Long positions

Capacity and
Name of shareholder nature of interest
BEREE BB SHORERMEE
Hilton Assets (PTC) Limited Trustee

ZFEA
Dawngate Limited Interest in controlled corporation
BEERAQF A
Qichang International Limited Beneficial owner
MERKEBR AT EHEEA
Greentown Service Beneficial owner
BRI AR 75 ExnERA

Notes:

Q] The issued share capital of Dawngate is held as to 15% by Mr. Liu and 85% by
Hilton Assets (PTC) Limited as trustee of the Liu Family Trust, a trust with Mr. Liu
as founder and established in accordance with the laws of the Cayman Islands.
The discretionary beneficiaries of the Liu Family Trust include Mr. Liu and
immediate family members of Mr. Liu.

2 Dawngate holds 40% of the issued share capital of Qichang and is taken to be
interested in all shares of the Company held by Qichang for the purposes of Part
XV of the SFO. Each of Suiya Investment Limited, Signgain Limited and Onsure
Limited, being the wholly-own investment holding company of Ms. Chen Zhuo,
Mr. Liang Bing and Mr. Long Weimin respectively, holds 20% of the issued share
capital of Qichang.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group did not enter into
any connected transactions or continuing connected transactions which
need to be disclosed in this annual report under Rule 14A.49 of the
Listing Rules.

MAJOR SUPPLIERS AND CUSTOMERS

The Group’s major suppliers are sub-contractors providing relevant
services for the Group’s property management and sales assistance
business lines. For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group’s
largest supplier accounted for approximately 8.5% (2022: 7.9%) of the
Group's total purchases, and the Group's five largest suppliers accounted
for approximately 11.8% (2022: 9.6%) of the Group’s total purchases.

The major customers of our property management business line include
property developers, property owners and property owners’
associations, while the major customers of the sales assistance business
line include property developers. For the year ended 31 December 2023,
the Group’s largest customer accounted for approximately 1.0% (2022:
1.1%) of the Group's revenue, and the Group’s five largest customers
accounted for approximately 3.8% (2022: 4.4%) of the Group’s revenue.

At all times during the year, none of the Directors, their associates or any
shareholders of the Company which, to the knowledge of the Directors,
owned more than 5% of the Company's issued share capital had an
interest in any of the five largest suppliers or customers.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The Group remunerates its employees based on their performance,
experience and prevailing market rate.

The remuneration committee of the Company reviews and makes
recommendations to the Board on terms of remuneration packages,
bonuses and other compensation payable to Directors and senior
management. Details of the remuneration of the Directors for the year
ended 31 December 2023 are set out in note 8 to financial statements of
this annual report.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
Articles of Association or the laws of the Cayman Islands, which would
oblige the Company to offer new shares on pro-rata basis to existing
shareholder.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EFEHRSE

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

During the year ended 31 December 2023, neither the Company nor its
subsidiaries has purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s
listed securities.

ARRANGEMENT TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Other than the share option scheme disclosed herein, at no time during
the year was the Company, its holding company, fellow subsidiaries or
any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable the
Directors to acquire benefits by means of acquisition of shares in, or
debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has maintained
sufficient public float during the year ended 31 December 2023 and up to
the date of this report.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Information on the corporate governance practices adopted by the
Company is set out in the section headed “Corporate Governance
Report” of this annual report.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2023 have been audited by Ernst & Young, Certified Public Accountants.
A resolution will be submitted to the forthcoming AGM of the Company
to re-appoint Ernst & Young as the auditor of the Company and to
authorise the Directors to fix its remuneration.

On behalf of the Board
Liu Jian
Chairman

Hong Kong, 26 April 2024
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

Ernst & Young

27/F, One Taikoo Place,
979 King's Road,
Quarry Bay, Hong Kong

EYzx

To the shareholders of Zhong Ao Home Group Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Zzhong Ao
Home Group Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “"Group”)
set out on pages 76 to 199 which comprise the consolidated statement
of financial position as at 31 December 2023, and the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of
changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the
year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2023, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSS") issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirement of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing ("HKSAS") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for
the audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our report.
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code
of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the "Code”), and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
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EY:

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters. For each matter below, our description of how
our audit addressed the matter is provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
section of our report, including in relation to these matters. Accordingly,
our audit included the performance of procedures designed to respond
to our assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements. The results of our audit procedures,
including the procedures performed to address the matters below,
provide the basis for our audit opinion on the accompanying
consolidated financial statements.

ZHONG AO HOME GROUP LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2023

68

A&t 18

RETFRDVRBEAMNERAE  HAHRS
EUBRRNBARA/EENEIR - ZFFEARA
B BRGAMBBRRIHAERKEE - A
TEHZESERREHEBER - AME TMEER
EEF R EMEMR AL RS R

RITEEEIT T ARE MOV F A 476 K
FENEFHOBMMNELE  BERRELHEEN
STEMEENEE RN - AN EA LERRER
TREHFENGEMBERREASRE LR
REATMEARF - AFTATEARFNER - 1
EH T BRB TEMARTNEF - BEEMH
MRERUREBFERREHRTER -



EY:

Key audit matters
BRBEITER

Impairment of trade receivables and other receivables
B 5 R E R E b W E R R (E

As at 31 December 2023, the balance of trade receivables
amounted to RMB671,760,000 and the related provision for
impairment amounted to RMB133,426,000. In addition, the
balance of other receivables amounted to RMB355,979,000 and
the related provision for impairment amounted to
RMB93,940,000. For the trade receivables, management
recognised an impairment provision based on the expected
credit loss (ECL) model under Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards ("HKFRS") 9 Financial Instruments. The
measurement of ECLS requires the application of
management’s significant judgement and estimation, such as
the existence of disputes, historical payment record, forward-
looking factors and any other available information. Meanwhile,
for the other receivables, management recognised an
impairment provision based on the general approach. The
measurement requires management to assess whether there is
any significant increase in credit risk. Therefore, we identified it
as a key audit matter.

2023F 12 318 - BZEWBFIBLEH B AR 671,760,000
JC - 1 AE B8 B9 R (B B B B A R 133,426,000 7T © AN - H A
JIE W FRTB B 4 8% B A R 355,979,000 7T K2 R B HY B B8 B s
ARHBEO93940000T - B ZHEWHKIEMS EEERER
B BmEER ([ EBMBREERN]) FRemIAIE
THRBEEEE EREEER) KX BRABERE - &
BHEEEERN EEEFTEEAENAEH LG flE
BEEFH BREHNRLHE  ATEMHEZR - LR EAEAMm
AEER AR REMERRENS  EEERE—RA
ERARARERE HAEERERENEEERRESBEM
BERN Al ARz REAREZEIE -

Relevant disclosures are included in notes 2.4, 3, 23 and 24 to
the consolidated financial statements.
HEBEMNAGE T BmEMTE24 3 23%24 ¢
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How our audit addressed the key audit matters
A EET FEERREERITEE

We checked the accuracy of the ageing of trade receivables
and other receivables and assessed the assumptions
applied, including existence of disputes, historical payment
records, historical credit loss experience and forward-
looking factors. We obtained and tested the historical
observed default rates prepared by management. We also
assessed the adequacy of the Group's disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements.
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EY:

Key audit matters
BRBEITER

Valuation of investment properties
REWEN®KE

As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s investment properties
amounted to RMB161,005,000. The Group recorded a net fair
value loss of RMB1,556,000 for the year, which has been
determined with reference to the valuations performed by an
independent firm of professionally qualified valuers using the
market approach. The valuation of the investment properties
involves significant estimates and key assumptions on items
such as the selection of comparable properties and market
price.

M2023F12A318 EXENBRENERARE
161,005,000 - BEREHEAFERAFFEBEARE
1,556,0007C * Th2ERB L HEE S ERGEMITERBTEE
FIETHEMETE - KEMENGEYS RERATLEMER
MZEREZEENERGF REREREK -

In the absence of current prices in an active market for
appropriate similar properties, the Group considers information
from a variety of sources, including current prices in an active
market for properties of a different nature, condition or location,
less active market transactions and discounted cash flows of
rental income.
ERBABEMERERTISNRITERBERLT - EREER
KEZEARRENER  BETRME  KEHESCZEND
¥WERMISERER  RERMEZXHRESWARNIER
B °

Relevant disclosures are included in notes 2.4, 3 and 14 to the
consolidated financial statements.
HEABEW AL ST BmEMTE24 3R 14
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How our audit addressed the key audit matters
AP EE FEERRETEE

We examined the objectivity, independence and
competence of the external valuers. We checked the
property related information and involved our valuation
specialists to assist us in reviewing and assessing the
underlying assumptions adopted by the valuers in their
valuations, such as the selection of comparable properties,
market price and discounted cash flows of rental income.
RETIRER NS EM A F BT - B RIEERED o ANFT
WEMEMRBEELMARS HEZERREEFR LT
fERD R B (L EPTER A E AERE R AR - RE IR AT LW 3
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EY:

Key audit matters
BRBEITER

Impairment of goodwill
BMENRE

The Group recorded goodwill of RMB243,550,000 as at 31
December 2023 arising from the acquisitions of businesses. The
related provision for impairment amounted to RMB18,268,000.
2023 12A31H EXEEEBREEBNREARY
243,550,000 7T ° 18 B A 1B B s 2 A R HE 18,268,000 7T ©

Management is required to assess goodwill impairment on an
annual basis. The impairment reviews performed by the
Group’'s management include a number of significant
judgements and estimates including those regarding the
identification of cash-generating units (“CGU"), operating profit
forecasts, perpetuity growth rates and discount rates. Changes
in these assumptions may have a significant impact on the
impairment assessment.
EEEASFIEEERE - EXEEEEETORAERN
BEETERAB KRGS  BEEHEGReELEU((REE
BN HR - EERFER KBERERMIRE - ZF
BERNFE L ERETHEEEATE -

Relevant disclosures are included in notes 2.4, 3 and 16 to the
consolidated financial statements.
HEEEMNAGRE Y BRERME24 - 3K%160
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How our audit addressed the key audit matters
A EET FEERREERITEE

We obtained an understanding of management’s
impairment model for goodwill and reviewed the key
assumptions adopted by management, including those
regarding CGU identification, operating profit forecasts,
perpetuity growth rates and discount rates. We tested the
mathematical calculation of the forecasts and carrying
values in management’s impairment model and compared
management’s estimate of the recoverable amount with the
carrying amount of each CGU.

AATREIRE T R ERER T EEEEEFTERM
BREBS  BEZSEESNNReELEN K2 5FTE
Bl kA RERITIRE - RAFTAIE TEAREEERE
BERBRERATHNHEFE UKEEEHAKEEHE
AT RS RS EEENMNIRMELE -

We compared short and long-term growth rates with the
historical trends. We also considered the results of
management’s prior period forecasts. We involved our
valuation specialists to assist us in assessing the discount
rate for each CGU by comparing with past performance and
relevant risk factors. We assessed the sensitivity analysis
performed by the Company’s management on the impact
of changes in the key assumptions.
AAEEHRRAEREXEFELBALR - NATERE
EEETHEANGER - AFREMAGEZSKBHE TG
EReEABMONEEXR  AAALBRBERERIEH
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EY:

OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE ANNUAL
REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises the management discussion and
analysis on pages 12 to 28, which we obtained prior to the date of this
auditor’s report, and the other sections of the Annual Report not
including the consolidated financial statements and the auditor’s report
thereon (“the Other Sections”), which are expected to be made
available after that date.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the
other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work
we have performed on the other information obtained prior to the date
of this auditor’s report, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the
Company are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as
a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
directors of the Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in
discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group's financial
reporting process.
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EY:

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. Our report is made solely to you, as a
body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from
fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial
Statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit.
We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in
order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.
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EY:

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our
auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However,
future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to
continue as a going concern.

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group
to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements.
We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance
of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit
opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.
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EY:

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of
the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Cheung Ng.

Ernst & Young
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

28 March 2024
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

HOoZTEWAR

Year ended 31 December 2023 &= 2023412 A31 H I F &

2023 2022
2023 F 2022
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
{hg=a ARET ARBFT
REVENUE = 5 1,709,642 1,702,395
Cost of sales and services SHE M ARIEA A (1,359,084) (1,345,040)
Gross profit EX 350,558 357,355
Other income and gains HAn g A iz 5 49,281 55,794
Selling and distribution expenses HERDHAX (6,488) (5,014)
Administrative expenses THAX (192,345) (210,135)
Net impairment losses recognised NEMEERRABEEEFE
on financial assets (58,662) (54,102)
Other expenses Hims (17,261) (12,877)
Finance costs B F AR AR 7 (3,379) (2,883)
Share of profits and losses of: JE(G AT FE R ES1E -
Joint ventures EELE 2,838 3,167
Associates i Rl/NE]| 167 1,309
PROFIT BEFORE TAX RR B A0 A8 6 124,709 132,614
Income tax expenses RS’ = 10 (40,737) (43,564)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FRFE 83,972 89,050
Attributable to: AT AL :
Owners of the parent SRAER A 12 80,054 76,907
Non-controlling interests eI 3,918 12,143
83,972 89,050
EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLETO B ARIZEEZIZFEA
ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE EhEEREF
PARENT
Basic and diluted ERR#E
— For profit for the year (RMB) — FRFE(ARET) 12 0.094 0.090
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FRFE 83,972 89,050
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FRE2EWSZLE
FOR THE YEAR 83,972 89,050
Attributable to: AN AL
Owners of the parent [SYNEIEFPN 80,054 76,907
Non-controlling interests I = 3,918 12,143
83,972 89,050
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
RO ISR R

31 December 2023 2023412 A31H

2023 2022
2023 F 2022
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
{hg=a AR¥T AREET T
NON-CURRENT ASSETS kREBEE

Property and equipment EY G L 13 112,825 118,001
Investment properties B-a-L/ES 14 161,005 180,713
Right-of-use assets FHREEE 15 9,703 10,111
Goodwill Bk 16 225,282 225,282
Prepayments for acquisition of properties Wi W) 2 B TR ROR 17 12,125 14,092
Investments in joint ventures REERENRE 18 5,937 5,499
Investments in associates REEE R AIMNIZE 19 8,099 7,592
Other intangible assets HEffEpEE 20 41,632 50,919
Long-term deposits RHATER 24 17,623 14,746
Deferred tax assets BT IBEE 21 76,864 60,082
Total non-current assets ERBEEHAE 671,095 687,037

CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Inventories FE 22 6,253 5,588
Trade receivables B SR GRIA 23 538,334 496,160
Prepayments and other receivables TE T 5RI8 F H th fE W BUIE 24 317,026 314,607
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss & A F{EF ABZHE© /RE E 25 2,961 7,676
Cash and cash equivalents RERBFEEZED 26 531,583 446,052
Total current assets REBEEHAE 1,396,157 1,270,083

CURRENT LIABILITIES RBAE
Trade payables B S ENRIA 27 110,168 100,782
Other payables and accruals HEMENRIERETER 28 702,730 671,489
Interest-bearing bank borrowings s EERTT R H A & 5K 29 48,990 48,990
Lease liabilities HEBE 15, 29 8,082 10,528
Tax payables FER IR 127,478 108,051
Total current liabilities REBEAE 997,448 939,840
NET CURRENT ASSETS RBEEFE 398,709 330,243
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES BEERRBAS 1,069,804 1,017,280

FREREBEEHR QA
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

fn 6 B S A i &

31 December 2023 2023412 A31H

2023 2022
2023 & 2022 4
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
{hg=a ARET ARBFT
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES kRBEARE
Deferred tax liabilities REFIBEEE 21 32,911 28,526
Lease liabilities HEBaE 15, 29 4,186 1,825
Total non-current liabilities E i h=Rif k] 37,097 30,351
NET ASSETS EEFE 1,032,707 986,929
EQUITY ATTRIBUTABLE TO BAREAEAEMLESR
OWNERS OF THE PARENT
Share capital N 30 7,082 7,082
Reserves i 31 963,246 909,508
970,328 916,590
Non-controlling interests e R T 62,379 70,339
TOTAL EQUITY LA 1,032,707 986,929
Liu Jian Chen Zhuo
2= R
Director Director
EF EF
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
GORREDE

Year ended 31 December 2023 #E2023F 12 A31 B ILFE

Attributable to owners of the parent

BRRER AR
Capital Non-
Isstied Share  redemption Statutory Other Special Retained controlling
capital premium resenve reserve reserve resenve profits Sub-total interests  Total equity
BEIRA RipeE AXEREE AR H it KAl B Nt FERER SiEn
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETR ARETTE ARETR ARETT ARETn ARETE ARETn ARETT ARETR
As at 1 January 2022 R202%1818 7,082 41855 48 71528 14,000 (35,044) 413,786 899,255 83,850 983,105
Profit and comprehensive ERFEREM2ERA
income for the year - - - - - - 76907 76907 12,143 89,050
Capital contribution by FEREERENTE
non-controlling equityholders - - - - - - - - 6,885 6,385
Dividend paid BRRE - (17,869) - - - - - (17,869) - (17,869)
Dividends to non-controlling- BREEREROES
shareholders - - - - - - - - (7,070 (7,070)
Disposal of a subsidiary HE-FHBAA - - - - - - - - (7,132) 7,13
Acquisition of non-controlling interests 4t 1 it i 5 - - - - - 41,703) - 1,703) (18337) (60,040)
Transfer from retained profits BEARDEA - - - 13955 - - (13,955) - - -
As at 31 December 2022 120225128318 7,082 403986 18 91,483 14,000 (76,747) 476,738 916,590 70,339 986,929
Attributable to owners of the parent
BRRERAERE
Capital Non-
Issued Share redemption  Statutory Other Special Retained controlling
capital premium reserve reserve reserve reserve profits Sub-total interests  Total equity
BRIRA RGEEE EXRORRE AR HtbfifE RHlRE REBER Nt FBRRER s
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR ARMTR ARBTR ARMTR ARMTR ARETR ARETR ARMTR ARBTR ARET:R
As at 1 January 2023 R2023E1818 7,082 403,986 48 91,483 14,000 (76,747) 476,738 916,590 70,339 986,929
Profit and comprehensive ERFIEREMZELA
income for the year - - - - - - 80,054 80,054 3918 83,972
Divestment of interests in a subsidiary 3% — R KB 2 Fl1E% - - - - - (6,933) - (6,933) 6,933 -
Diviend paid BRRE = (19,307) - - - - - (19,307) - (19,307)
Dividends to non-controlling- BREERERNES
shareholders - - - - - - - - (15,600) (15,600)
Deregistration of a subsidiary AEER-ZHEAT - - - - - - - - (2,450) (2,450)
Acquisition of non-controlling interests i 12 it i & - - - = = (76) = (76) (761) (837)
Transfer from retained profits BRERDEA - - - 12,225 - - (12,225) - - -
As at 31 December 2023 #2023£12531R 7,082 384,679 48 103,708 14,000 (83,756) 544,567 970,328 62,379 1,032,707
* These reserve accounts comprised the consolidated other reserves of  * ZERBELEGAVBRARNGE HMEBARYE

RMB963,246,000 (2022: RMB909,508,000) in the consolidated statement of

financial position.

FTREXEBMERLA
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

mOREMER

Year ended 31 December 2023 &= 2023412 A31 H I F &

2023 2022
2023 F 2022 &
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
M5 AR¥T T AREET T
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES RE K& ZHNHEESRE
Profit before tax: G IRIDE 124,709 132,614
Adjustments for: MATEIBERAE :
Fair value loss on investment properties REMEN AT EEE 14 1,556 49
Depreciation of items of property and YMERBEEENE
equipment 13 27,746 27,507
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEERE 15 3,909 2,632
Amortisation of intangible assets mILEE#H 20 10,240 11,917
(Gain)/Loss on disposal of items of HEMERZEEE D
property and equipment, net (Wz%), /B8 FE 6 (327) 164
Loss on disposal of investment properties HEREYEERE 3,715 -
Impairment of trade receivables B 5 WG IERE 23 26,196 19,320
Impairment of goodwill AR E 16 - 14,987
Impairment of prepayments, FERRE ek
deposits and other receivables H b & W R IERUE 24 32,466 20,670
Reversal for impairment of inventories GFERERE 22 - (875)
Share of profits of joint ventures EEaEENE (2,838) (3,167)
Share of profits of associates FEAG B & A R F)E (167) (1,309)
Fair value adjustment of contingent FAREZAFEHARE
consideration 4,715 4,452
Finance costs B SR AR 7 2,694 2,453
Net foreign exchange (gains)/loss EH (W), B8 F8E 6 (1,898) 727
Other interest income from financial EATEFAEENESREE
assets at fair value through profit or loss Fr 5 H At R S U A 5 (1,171) (931)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEMRB AR/ 34 - (8,369)
Bank interest income HRITHALE WA 5 (8,504) (6,510)
223,041 216,381
Increase in inventories FEHM 22 (665) (21,371)
Increase in trade receivables E 5 e W SRIE L AN (68,370) (130,120)
Increase in prepayments and other receivables T8 1 738 & H 1t f& Uk ZXIE 1 11 (37,762) (5,361)
Decrease in other long-term payable = HAFE A SRR = (57,953)
Increase in trade payables B 5T SR 0 9,386 62,974
Increase in prepayments for acquisition of Uit B ) 25 O TELAS SRIA S N
properties 1,967 -
Increase in other payables and accruals E b FE AT 5RI8 I FE AT & R N 30,195 77,877
Cash generated from operations KEFRBRS 157,792 142,427
Tax paid [RENE 2 (33,707) (58,899)
Net cash flows from operating activities REZZE ZEHNESRETHE 124,085 83,528

ZHONG AO HOME GROUP LIMITED
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

HOIRE

=

mex

Year ended 31 December 2023 #E 2023412 A31 B IFFE

2023 2022
2023 F 2022
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
h=2 AR¥T AREET T

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES REREZHNHEESHE

Proceeds from disposal of property and HEWMERRBAIERE
equipment 4,028 2,865
Purchases of items of property and equipment BEE ¥ MR EER 13 (26,271) (20,082)
Prepayments of items of property and equipment#) % X :% #18 B 8938 {1 FA - 114
Addition to investment properties BAEREME 14 (1,900) (1,227)
Purchase of intangible assets BERFEE 20 (953) (2,875)
Investment in an associate R—REERRIRE 19 (340) -

Decrease in financial assets BATFEFFAERD
at fair value through profit or loss TREERD 25 - 250
Interest income received BUF B WA 5 8,504 6,510
Disposal of investment properties HEREME 14 16,337 -
Dividend received from a joint venture K E —BEeErENRE 18 2,400 2,821
Other interest income from financial BRFERABZED

assets at fair value through profit or loss TR EEFGEMFEWA 5 1,171 931
Acquisition of non-controlling interests U 8 SRR AR i i (837) (59,000)
Deregistration of a subsidiary BEHFM KM B AT (2,450) -
Disposal of a subsidiary HE—RMBAA - 1,236
Net cash flows used in investing activities RE&EFB AR S REFHE (311) (68,457)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES REREZEHNEESRE
New bank loans FTILIRITER 128,990 57,895
Repayment of bank loans EERITTER (128,990) (44,049)
Interest paid 2RFE (2,694) (2,453)
Principal portion of lease payments HENRHEREHD 15 (3,586) (2,896)
Capital contribution from non-controlling interests FE1% i AE 2 H))E & - 6,885
Dividends paid BATRE 1 (19,307) (17,869)
Dividends paid to non-controlling shareholders 2 15 JE#2 B B% 3R &9 A% B, (14,554) (2,270)
Net cash flows used in financing activities BEEZE AR S REFHE (40,141) (4,757)

FPRIAREEERRQA
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
mERERER

Year ended 31 December 2023 &= 2023412 A31 H I F &

2023 2022
2023 F 2022 &
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T AREET T
NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH RERREEEYEMFE
EQUIVALENTS 83,633 10,315
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year E%ﬂzfﬂﬁ&iﬁﬁfﬁ% 446,052 436,464
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net EXEHHFE TR 1,898 (727)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT ERZBESRESEEY
END OF YEAR 531,583 446,052
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH ReRkBReEBYHERDNT
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and cash equivalents as stated in the AR KRN RE &
statement of financial position ReEEY 531,583 446,052
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AS STATED RE&RERFIIBEER
IN THE STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS RE&EEY 531,583 446,052
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

Zhong Ao Home Group Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated
and registered as an exempted company with limited liability in the
Cayman Islands under the Cayman Islands Companies Law on 5
January 2015. The registered office address of the Company is P.O.
Box 2681, Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, Grand Cayman, KY1-
1111, Cayman Islands.

During the year, the Group was involved in the following principal
activities in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC"):

. provision of property management services

. provision of cleaning and greening services

o provision of other business, including sales of elevators and
installation services, provision of security services, real
estate consulting and agency services, sales assistance
services, engineering services, catering services and the sale
of engineering spare parts.

In the opinion of the directors, the Company’s immediate and
ultimate holding company is Qichang International Limited
(“Qichang”), a limited liability company incorporated in the British
Virgin Islands (the “BVI").

A7} 155 ¥ 22 Bid 51

31 December 2023 2023412 A31H

AAREBEH

FREIREBEFR QA ([RAF]) R2015F
1TASHIRERSHERRACHSHEZM
R REE A —HERRERAT - NAF
it = /Y b 4k A P.O. Box 2681, Cricket
Square, Hutchins Drive, Grand Cayman, KY1-
1111, Cayman Islands °

FRAEERPEARKME (THE)) 1
ETIEEER:

o REHMEEERY
o RUEBRERACR

o  RHHMEY BREEARBELE
R RER TR - B ER A IR
BRE - TR - H#HRYE - ERR
BRHE TIRT L

E=ZRR ARAERRKEREBRAR /K
EERERAR(ME]D  ZARA/—HR
RERARE((REELZEBR]) EMAIZN
BRAT -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
87 55 ¥k 2 Bfd 5%

31 December 2023 2023412 A31H

1.

84

Name

£

Zhong Ao Holdings Limited
FRERERRA

BRAENEERERAA
("Guangdong Zhong Ao")*

BRABNEEEERAA
([ERHR])

IR MEERERRA

("Zhejiang Yongcheng") #
IR MEERERRA
(T &R

BILRREBEZREERAE
("Foshan Pairuier”) *

BILRREBE2REERAA
([ LRmRE ) *

BENIXERBENEERE
BIR 27 (“Suzhou House
Construction”) #

BENIXERBENEERE
BRRA([&NEE])"

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION (continuea) 1.
Information about subsidiaries

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as follows:

Place of
incorporation/
registration
and business
A
BEREEME

British Virgin Islands
EERAHS

PRC/Chinese
Mainland
FE/ BRI

PRC/Chinese
Mainland
FE/ BRI

PRC/Chinese
Mainland
FE/ BRI

PRC/Chinese
Mainland

/BN

ZHONG AO HOME GROUP LIMITED

ANNUAL REPORT 2023

ralEBER 2

BRMBEAINER

Issued Percentage of equity
ordinary/ attributable to the Company
registered FAREEEREDL
share capital Direct Indirect
BRITEE/
AR A HE i
usD1 100% -
1ETT
RMB100,000,000 - 100%
AR # 100,000,000 75
RMB11,000,000 - 100%
AR 11,000,0007T
RMB50,000,000 - 100%
AR 50,000,0007T
RMB32,352,941 - 100%
AR#32,3529417C

ARREIEMBARMFBEMT

Principal activities

TREHR

Investment holding
REZR

Provision of property
management services
REMEETRRS

Provision of property
management services
RENEERRE

Provision of property
management services
RENEERRE

Provision of property
management services

REMEEERE



CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION (continued) 1.

Information about subsidiaries (continueq)

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Place of Issued
incorporation/ ordinary/
registration registered
Name and business share capital
FMBR L BRTEE/
71 BEREEME AR A
BERERRHEIRERAA PRC/Chinese RMB20,000,000
("Guangdong Huarui") # Mainland
BRERRETIRAERAF R R E A AR 20,000,0007C
((BRER])
BERAZERRMERAA PRC/Chinese RMB10,100,000
("Guangdong Xunhua") * Mainland
BRAESREMARAF R R E A AR 10,100,0007C
((BRAE])
B EEEEMERBBRAE PRC/Chinese RMBS5,000,000
("Ningbo Reston”) Mainland
B EHEBEDERS R R E AR 5,000,0007T
BRAB([EREHE]
EmRYRBEERAF PRC/Chinese RMB30,000,000
("Jinan Kuaiqin") # Mainland
ERRBREERATF R R E AR H30,000,0007C
([ErRE])
* Foshan Pairuier is registered as wholly-foreign-owned enterprises under
PRC law and the registered capital of Foshan Pairuier has been fully paid
up.
# The subsidiaries are limited liability companies.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in the
opinion of the directors, principally affected the results for the year
or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the Group. To
give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the

directors, result in particulars of excessive length.

B 55 ¥R 2R Bf 5F

31 December 2023 2023412 A31H

ralEBER 2

BRMELINE

Percentage of equity
attributable to the Company
AT EEEREDLL
Direct Indirect

HiE i
- 100%
- 100%
- 100%
- 100%

o)

Principal activities

TEREH

Provision of property
management services
RENEERRG

Provision of engineering
services
RETEERS

Provision of property
management services
RENZEERRG

Provision of property
management services
RENZEERRG

* LK BAR BT EAREMANEBELE
RBILRGEAZTMEREHE

# ZEMB AR RBEREMERT -

ERENEERAIEFELREBFEERE
BRI DEEFENARANE AR -
EXERRIEEMMERRNFESEHE

&tk -

FTREXEBMERLA
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31 December 2023 2023412 A31H

21

86

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs") (which
include all Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong
Accounting Standards (“HKASSs") and Interpretations) issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
("HKICPA"), accounting principles generally accepted in Hong
Kong and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance. They have been prepared under the
historical cost convention, except for investment properties, and
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL") which
have been measured at fair value. These financial statements are
presented in Renminbi (‘RMB”) and all values are rounded to the
nearest thousand except when otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2023.
A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity), directly or
indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control is achieved when
the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those
returns through its power over the investee (i.e., existing rights
that give the Group the current ability to direct the relevant
activities of the investee).

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting rights
results in control. When the Company has less than a majority of
the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group considers all
relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has
power over an investee, including:

(@  the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of
the investee;

(b)  rights arising from other contractual arrangements, and

(c)  the Group's voting rights and potential voting rights.

ZHONG AO HOME GROUP LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2023
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2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the
same reporting period as the Company, using consistent
accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries are consolidated
from the date on which the Group obtains control, and continue to
be consolidated until the date that such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income
are attributed to the owners of the parent of the Group and to the
non-controlling interests, even if this results in the non-controlling
interests having a deficit balance. All intra-group assets and
liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to
transactions between members of the Group are eliminated in full
on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if
facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or
more of the three elements of control described above. A change
in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control,
is accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises the
related assets (including goodwill), liabilities, any non-controlling
interest and the exchange fluctuation reserve; and recognises the
fair value of any investment retained and any resulting surplus or
deficit in profit or loss. The Group’s share of components
previously recognised in other comprehensive income is
reclassified to profit or 10ss or retained profits, as appropriate, on
the same basis as would be required if the Group had directly
disposed of the related assets or liabilities.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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31 December 2023 2023412 A31H

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following new and revised HKFRSs for
the first time for the current year's financial statements.

88

HKFRS 17
Amendments to HKAS 1
and HKFRS Practice

Statement 2

Amendments to HKAS 8

Amendments to HKAS 12

Amendments to HKAS 12

Insurance Contracts

Disclosure of Accounting Policies

Definition of Accounting Estimates

Deferred Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from a Single
Transaction

International Tax Reform — Pillar
Two Model Rules

The nature and the impact of the new and revised HKFRSs that are
applicable to the Group are described below:

@)

Amendments to HKAS 1 require entities to disclose their
material accounting policy information rather than their
significant accounting policies. Accounting policy information
is material if, when considered together with other
information included in an entity’s financial statements, it
can reasonably be expected to influence decisions that the
primary users of general purpose financial statements make
on the basis of those financial statements. Amendments to
HKFRS Practice Statement 2 Making Materiality Judgements
provide non-mandatory guidance on how to apply the
concept of materiality to accounting policy disclosures. The
Group has disclosed the material accounting policy
information in note 2 to the financial statements. The
amendments did not have any impact on the measurement,
recognition or presentation of any items in the Group'’s
financial statements.

ZHONG AO HOME GROUP LIMITED
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (continuec)

(b)

Amendments to HKAS 8 clarify the distinction between
changes in accounting estimates and changes in accounting
policies. Accounting estimates are defined as monetary
amounts in financial statements that are subject to
measurement uncertainty. The amendments also clarify how
entities use measurement techniques and inputs to develop
accounting estimates. Since the Group’s approach and
policy align with the amendments, the amendments had no
impact on the Group's financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction narrow the scope
of the initial recognition exception in HKAS 12 so that it no
longer applies to transactions that give rise to equal taxable
and deductible temporary differences, such as leases and
decommissioning obligations. Therefore, entities are
required to recognise a deferred tax asset (provided that
sufficient taxable profit is available) and a deferred tax
liability for temporary differences arising from these
transactions.

Upon the application of the amendments, the Group has
determined the temporary differences arising from right-of-
use assets and lease liabilities separately, which have been
reflected in the reconciliation disclosed in note 15 to the
financial statements. However, they did not have any
material impact on the overall deferred tax balances
presented in the consolidated statement of financial position
as the related deferred tax balances qualified for offsetting
under HKAS 12.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 55 ¥R 2R Bf 5F

31 December 2023 2023412 A31H

S5HBCRMIREEE (2)

BEERERESR (BFTA) BBER
CHEDESEcs Lo ulo) =yl
SRR ERAMBHRRPFEE
Tﬁiﬁ%ﬁ%ﬁ%°&%1Jﬁﬁ%
B R anfal i A At E 5 Kt AMEHIE
FHEET m#$¢l$maﬁﬁﬁmﬁ
ERBEREZFER B WEFES
WEHAEENTBRRENTE -

FEAREEHERE12 (BFIARN) KB E
*i%%ﬁ?&%ﬁ@%ﬁkﬁﬁ%*
R ENFE 2R NS ERBPISME
) 0 [E] @ET%&%%EEH@E%
HRATHIBE R ZENR 5 WWTf
RiEEME At BRARZER
Fim%hﬁﬁﬁfﬁkmﬁﬁﬁﬂh
B R ERVUERN) RELH AR E

EE%fJ& $E@E”%ﬁiﬁ%
%@%#E&%EM%ﬁEWﬁw¢ﬁ
BAOVEERT - AT - ARAAREEN A
HRENABBEAERNE 125 R EE
HiEM - Rt HERAMBHRRKRFIIR

MEBEREEHEGRY BTAEATE -
FRIHREEARAT

89

2023 F



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
87 55 ¥k 2 Bfd 5%

31 December 2023 2023412 A31H

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (continuec)

920

@

Amendments to HKAS 12 International Tax Reform — Pillar
Two Model Rules introduce a mandatory temporary
exception from the recognition and disclosure of deferred
taxes arising from the implementation of the Pillar Two
model rules published by the Organisation for Economic Co-
operation and Development. The amendments also
introduce disclosure requirements for the affected entities
to help users of the financial statements better understand
the entities’ exposure to Pillar Two income taxes, including
the disclosure of current tax related to Pillar Two income
taxes separately in the periods when Pillar Two legislation is
effective and the disclosure of known or reasonably
estimable information of their exposure to Pillar Two income
taxes in periods in which the legislation is enacted or
substantively enacted but not yet in effect. The Group has
applied the amendments retrospectively. Since the Group
did not fall within the scope of the Pillar Two model rules,
the amendments did not have any impact to the Group.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

The Group has not applied the following revised HKFRSS, that have
been issued but are not yet effective, in these financial statements.
The Group intends to apply these revised HKFRSs, if applicable,
when they become effective.

Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets between

and HKAS 28 an Investor and its Associate or Joint
Venture?

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback’

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or
Non-current (the 2020
Amendments”)"*

Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with Covenants
(the 2022 Amendments”)"*

Amendments to HKAS 7 Supplier Finance Arrangements’
and HKFRS 7

Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability?

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025

No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for adoption

As a consequence of the 2020 Amendments and 2022 Amendments,
Hong Kong Interpretation 5 Presentation of Financial Statements —
Classification by the Borrower of a Term Loan that Contains a Repayment
on Demand Clause was revised to align the corresponding wording with
no change in conclusion

AW N o
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ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

Further information about those HKFRSs that are expected to be
applicable to the Group is described below.

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 address an inconsistency
between the requirements in HKFRS 10 and in HKAS 28 in dealing
with the sale or contribution of assets between an investor and its
associate or joint venture. The amendments require a full
recognition of a gain or loss resulting from a downstream
transaction when the sale or contribution of assets constitutes a
business. For a transaction involving assets that do not constitute
a business, a gain or loss resulting from the transaction is
recognised in the investor’s profit or l0ss only to the extent of the
unrelated investor’s interest in that associate or joint venture. The
amendments are to be applied prospectively. The previous
mandatory effective date of amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS
28 was removed by the HKICPA. However, the amendments are
available for adoption now.

Amendments to HKFRS 16 specify the requirements that a seller-
lessee uses in measuring the lease liability arising in a sale and
leaseback transaction to ensure the seller-lessee does not
recognise any amount of the gain or loss that relates to the right of
use it retains. The amendments are effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2024 and shall be applied
retrospectively to sale and leaseback transactions entered into
after the date of initial application of HKFRS 16 (i.e., 1 January
2019). Earlier application is permitted. The amendments are not
expected to have any significant impact on the Group's financial
statements.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

The 2020 Amendments clarify the requirements for classifying
liabilities as current or non-current, including what is meant by a
right to defer settlement and that a right to defer must exist at the
end of the reporting period. Classification of a liability is unaffected
by the likelihood that the entity will exercise its right to defer
settlement. The amendments also clarify that a liability can be
settled in its own equity instruments, and that only if a conversion
option in a convertible liability is itself accounted for as an equity
instrument would the terms of a liability not impact its
classification. The 2022 Amendments further clarify that, among
covenants of a liability arising from a loan arrangement, only those
with which an entity must comply on or before the reporting date
affect the classification of that liability as current or non-current.
Additional disclosures are required for non-current liabilities that
are subject to the entity complying with future covenants within 12
months after the reporting period. The amendments shall be
applied retrospectively with early application permitted. An entity
that applies the 2020 Amendments early is required to apply
simultaneously the 2022 Amendments, and vice versa. The Group
is currently assessing the impact of the amendments and whether
existing loan agreements may require revision. Based on a
preliminary assessment, the amendments are not expected to
have any significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7 clarify the characteristics of
supplier finance arrangements and require additional disclosure of
such arrangements. The disclosure requirements in the
amendments are intended to assist users of financial statements
in understanding the effects of supplier finance arrangements on
an entity’s liabilities, cash flows and exposure to liquidity risk.
Earlier application of the amendments is permitted. The
amendments provide certain transition reliefs regarding
comparative information, quantitative information as at the
beginning of the annual reporting period and interim disclosures.
The amendments are not expected to have any significant impact
on the Group's financial statements.
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ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

Amendments to HKAS 21 specify how an entity shall assess
whether a currency is exchangeable into another currency and
how it shall estimate a spot exchange rate at a measurement date
when exchangeability is lacking. The amendments require
disclosures of information that enable users of financial statements
to understand the impact of a currency not being exchangeable.
Earlier application is permitted. When applying the amendments,
an entity cannot restate comparative information. Any cumulative
effect of initially applying the amendments shall be recognised as
an adjustment to the opening balance of retained profits or to the
cumulative amount of translation differences accumulated in a
separate component of equity, where appropriate, at the date of
initial application. The amendments are not expected to have any
significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Investments in associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity in which the Group has a long term
interest of generally not less than 20% of the equity voting rights
and over which it has significant influence. Significant influence is
the power to participate in the financial and operating policy
decisions of the investee, but is not control or joint control over
those policies.

A joint venture is a type of joint arrangement whereby the parties
that have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the net
assets of the joint venture. Joint control is the contractually agreed
sharing of control of an arrangement, which exists only when
decisions about the relevant activities require the unanimous
consent of the parties sharing control.

The Group's investments in associates and joint ventures are
stated in the consolidated statement of financial position at the
Group's share of net assets under the equity method of
accounting, less any impairment losses. Adjustments are made to
bring into line any dissimilar accounting policies that may exist.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Investments in associates and joint ventures
(Continued)

The Group's share of the post-acquisition results and other
comprehensive income of associates and joint ventures is included
in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income,
respectively. In addition, when there has been a change
recognised directly in the equity of the associate or joint venture,
the Group recognises its share of any changes, when applicable, in
the consolidated statement of changes in equity. Unrealised gains
and losses resulting from transactions between the Group and its
associates or joint ventures are eliminated to the extent of the
Group’s investments in the associates or joint ventures, except
where unrealised losses provide evidence of an impairment of the
assets transferred. Goodwill arising from the acquisition of
associates or joint ventures is included as part of the Group's
investments in associates or joint ventures.

If an investment in an associate becomes an investment in a joint
venture or vice versa, the retained interest is not remeasured.
Instead, the investment continues to be accounted for under the
equity method. In all other cases, upon loss of significant influence
over the associate or joint control over the joint venture, the Group
measures and recognises any retained investment at its fair value.
Any difference between the carrying amount of the associate or
joint venture upon loss of significant influence or joint control and
the fair value of the retained investment and proceeds from
disposal is recognised in profit or loss.

When an investment in an associate or a joint venture is classified
as held for sale, it is accounted for in accordance with HKFRS 5
Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuec)
Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred is measured at the
acquisition date fair value which is the sum of the acquisition date
fair values of assets transferred by the Group, liabilities assumed
by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity
interests issued by the Group in exchange for control of the
acquiree. For each business combination, the Group elects
whether to measure the non-controlling interests in the acquiree
at fair value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s
identifiable net assets. All other components of non-controlling
interests are measured at fair value. Acquisition-related costs are
expensed as incurred.

The Group determines that it has acquired a business when the
acquired set of activities and assets includes an input and a
substantive process that together significantly contribute to the
ability to create outputs.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial
assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification and
designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic
circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date.
This includes the separation of embedded derivatives in host
contracts of the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the previously
held equity interest is remeasured at its acquisition date fair value
and any resulting gain or 10ss is recognised in profit or 1oss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer is
recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Contingent
consideration classified as an asset or liability is measured at fair
value with changes in fair value recognised in profit or 10ss.
Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not
remeasured and subsequent settlement is accounted for within
equity.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (continued)

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the
aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount recognised
for non-controlling interests and any fair value of the Group’s
previously held equity interests in the acquiree over the identifiable
assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If the sum of this
consideration and other items is lower than the fair value of the
net assets acquired, the difference is, after reassessment,
recognised in profit or l0ss as a gain on bargain purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any
accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for impairment
annually or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying value may be impaired. The Group
performs its annual impairment test of goodwill as at 31
December. For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill
acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition date,
allocated to each of the Group's cash-generating units, or groups
of cash-generating units, that are expected to benefit from the
synergies of the combination, irrespective of whether other assets
or liabilities of the Group are assigned to those units or groups of
units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount of
the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) to which
the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit (group of cash-generating units) is less than the
carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised. An impairment
loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent
period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit (or
group of cash-generating units) and part of the operation within
that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the operation
disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the operation
when determining the gain or loss on the disposal. Goodwill
disposed of in these circumstances is measured based on the
relative value of the operation disposed of and the portion of the
cash-generating unit retained.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Fair value measurement

The Group measures its investment properties, derivative financial
instruments and equity investments at fair value at the end of each
reporting period. Fair value is the price that would be received to
sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date. The fair
value measurement is based on the presumption that the
transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place
either in the principal market for the asset or liability, or in the
absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market
for the asset or liability. The principal or the most advantageous
market must be accessible by the Group. The fair value of an asset
or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market
participants would use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming
that market participants act in their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling
it to another market participant that would use the asset in its
highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the
circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to
measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable
inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or
disclosed in the financial statements are categorised within the fair
value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level
input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:
Level 1 — based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 — based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is observable, either
directly or indirectly

Level 3 — based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is unobservable
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Fair value measurement (Continued)

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial
statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines whether
transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by
reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest level input that is
significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of
each reporting period.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than inventories,
deferred tax assets, financial assets and investment properties),
the asset's recoverable amount is estimated. An asset's
recoverable amount is the higher of the asset's or cash-generating
unit's value in use and its fair value less costs of disposal, and is
determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not
generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those from
other assets or groups of assets, in which case the recoverable
amount is determined for the cash-generating unit to which the
asset belongs. In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, a
portion of the carrying amount of a corporate asset (e.g., a
headquarters building) is allocated to an individual cash-generating
unit if it can be allocated on a reasonable and consistent basis or,
otherwise, to the smallest group of cash-generating units.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount of an
asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing value in use,
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to
the asset. An impairment loss is charged to the statement of
comprehensive income or 10ss in the period in which it arises in
those expense categories consistent with the function of the
impaired asset.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2.4. BASHIBER 2

Impairment of non-financial assets (continued)

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period as to
whether there is an indication that previously recognised
impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If
such an indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated. A
previously recognised impairment loss of an asset other than
goodwill is reversed only if there has been a change in the
estimates used to determine the recoverable amount of that asset,
but not to an amount higher than the carrying amount that would
have been determined (net of any depreciation/amortisation) had
no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. A
reversal of such an impairment loss is credited to the statement of
comprehensive income in the period in which it arises, unless the
asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the reversal of
the impairment loss is accounted for in accordance with the
relevant accounting policy for that revalued asset.

Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@  the party is a person or a close member of that person’s
family and that person

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(i has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of the key management personnel of the
Group or of a parent of the Group;

or
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Related parties (continued)

(b)  the party is an entity where any of the following conditions
applies:

(iif)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

the entity and the Group are members of the same
group;

one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow subsidiary of
the other entity);

the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the
same third party;

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity;,

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity
related to the Group;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (a),

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity);
and

the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services to
the Group or to the parent of the Group.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
87 55 ¥k 2 Bfd 5%

31 December 2023 2023412 A31H

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2.4. BASHIBER 2

Property and equipment and depreciation

Property, and equipment, other than construction in progress, are
stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment
losses. The cost of an item of property, equipment comprises its
purchase price and any directly attributable costs of bringing the
asset to its working condition and location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property and equipment have
been put into operation, such as repairs and maintenance, is
normally charged to the statement of comprehensive income in
the period in which it is incurred. In situations where the
recognition criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for a major
inspection is capitalised in the carrying amount of the asset as a
replacement. Where significant parts of property and equipment
are required to be replaced at intervals, the Group recognises such
parts as individual assets with specific useful lives and depreciates
them accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off the
cost of each item of property and equipment to its residual value.
The principal annual rates used for this purpose are as follows:

Buildings 5%

Leasehold improvements Over the shorter of the lease
terms and their useful lives

Furniture and fixtures 20% 10 33"/3%

Motor vehicles 10% to 33'/3%

Telecommunications equipment  14%

Where parts of an item of property and equipment have different
useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a reasonable basis
among the parts and each part is depreciated separately. Residual
values, useful lives and the depreciation method are reviewed, and
adjusted if appropriate, at least at each financial year end.

An item of property and equipment including any significant part
initially recognised is derecognised upon disposal or when no
future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal.
Any gain or loss on disposal or retirement recognised in the
statement of comprehensive income in the year the asset is
derecognised is the difference between the net sales proceeds
and the carrying amount of the relevant asset.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Investment properties

Investment properties are interests in land and buildings held to
earn rental income and/or for capital appreciation. Such properties
are measured initially at cost, including transaction costs.
Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties are stated
at fair value, which reflects market conditions at the end of the
reporting period.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair values of
investment properties are included in the statement of
comprehensive income in the year in which they arise.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an investment
property are recognised in the statement of comprehensive
income in the year of the retirement or disposal.

For a transfer from investment properties to owner-occupied
properties or inventories, the deemed cost of a property for
subsequent accounting is its fair value at the date of change in
use. If a property occupied by the Group as an owner-occupied
property becomes an investment property, the Group accounts for
such property in accordance with the policy stated under “Property
and equipment and depreciation” for owned property and/or
accounts for such property in accordance with the policy stated
under “Right-of-use assets” for property held as a right-of-use
asset up to the date of change in use, and any difference at that
date between the carrying amount and the fair value of the
property is accounted for as a revaluation in accordance with the
policy stated under “Property and equipment and depreciation”
above.

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial
recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired in a
business combination is the fair value at the date of acquisition.
The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to be either finite
or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite lives are subsequently
amortised over the useful economic life and assessed for
impairment whenever there is an indication that the intangible
asset may be impaired. The amortisation period and the
amortisation method for an intangible asset with a finite useful life
are reviewed at least at each financial year end.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
87 55 ¥k 2 Bfd 5%

31 December 2023 2023412 A31H

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2.4. BASHIBER 2

Intangible assets (other than goodwill) (continued)
Software and trademark

Purchased software and trademark are stated at cost less any
impairment losses and are amortised on the straight-line basis
over their estimated useful lives of 3 to 10 years.

Acquired property management contracts

Acquired property management contracts are stated at cost less
any impairment losses and are amortised on the sum of the years
digits basis over their estimated useful lives of 5 to 15 years.

Customer relationships

Customer relationships are stated at cost less any impairment
losses and are amortised on the straight-line basis over their
estimated useful lives of 10 years.

Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or
contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract
conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a
period of time in exchange for consideration.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement approach
for all leases, except for short-term leases and leases of low-value
assets. The Group recognises lease liabilities to make lease
payments and right-of-use assets representing the right to use the
underlying assets.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Leases (Continued)

Group as a lessee (Continued)

@

(b)

Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the commencement
date of the lease (that is the date the underlying asset is
available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost,
less accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses,
and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. The
cost of right-of-use assets includes the amount of lease
liabilities recognised, initial direct costs incurred, and lease
payments made at or before the commencement date less
any lease incentives received. Where applicable, the cost of
a right-of-use asset also includes an estimate of costs to
dismantle and remove the underlying asset or to restore the
underlying asset or the site on which it is located. Right-of-
use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the
shorter of the lease terms and the estimated useful lives of
the assets as follows:
Buildings 21010 years
If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group by
the end of the lease term or the cost reflects the exercise of
a purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the
estimated useful life of the asset.

Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement date
of the lease at the present value of lease payments to be
made over the lease term. The lease payments include fixed
payments (including in-substance fixed payments) less any
lease incentives receivable, variable lease payments that
depend on an index or a rate, and amounts expected to be
paid under residual value guarantees. The lease payments
also include the exercise price of a purchase option
reasonably certain to be exercised by the Group and
payments of penalties for termination of a lease, if the lease
term reflects the Group exercising the option to terminate
the lease. The variable lease payments that do not depend
on an index or a rate are recognised as an expense in the
period in which the event or condition that triggers the
payment occurs.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
87 55 ¥k 2 Bfd 5%

31 December 2023 2023412 A31H

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Leases (Continued)

Group as a lessee (Continued)

(b)

©

106

Lease liabilities (Continued)

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the
Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date because the interest rate implicit in
the lease is not readily determinable. After the
commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is
increased to reflect the accretion of interest and reduced for
the lease payments made. In addition, the carrying amount
of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a modification, a
change in the lease term, a change in lease payments (e.g.,
a change to future lease payments resulting from a change
in an index or rate) or a change in assessment of an option
to purchase the underlying asset.

The Group’s lease liahilities are included in interest-bearing
bank borrowings.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to its short-term leases (that is those leases that
have a lease term of 12 months or less from the
commencement date and do not contain a purchase option).
It also applies the recognition exemption for leases of low-
value assets to leases of office equipment and laptop
computers that are considered to be of low value.

Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of low-
value assets are recognised as an expense on a straight-line
basis over the lease term.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Leases (Continued)
Group as a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it classifies at lease inception (or
when there is a lease modification) each of its leases as either an
operating lease or a finance lease.

Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially all the
risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an asset are classified
as operating leases. When a contract contains lease and non-lease
components, the Group allocates the consideration in the contract
to each component on a relative stand-alone selling price basis.
Rental income is accounted for on a straight-line basis over the
lease terms and is included in revenue in the statement of
comprehensive income due to its operating nature. Initial direct
costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are
added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised
over the lease term on the same basis as rental income.
Contingent rents are recognised as revenue in the period in which
they are earned.

Leases that transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
incidental to ownership of an underlying asset to the lessee are
accounted for as finance leases.

Investments and other financial assets
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as
subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value through other
comprehensive income, and fair value through profit or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends
on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow characteristics and
the Group's business model for managing them. With the
exception of trade receivables that do not contain a significant
financing component or for which the Group has applied the
practical expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant
financing component, the Group initially measures a financial asset
at its fair value plus in the case of a financial asset not at fair value
through profit or loss, transaction costs. Trade receivables that do
not contain a significant financing component or for which the
Group has applied the practical expedient are measured at the
transaction price determined under HKFRS 15 in accordance with
the policies set out for “Revenue recognition” below.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
87 55 ¥k 2 Bfd 5%

31 December 2023 2023412 A31H

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2.4. BASHIBER 2

Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Initial recognition and measurement (Continued)

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at
amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive income,
it needs to give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest (“SPPI") on the principal amount outstanding.
Financial assets with cash flows that are not SPPI are classified
and measured at fair value through profit or loss, irrespective of
the business model.

The Group’s business model for managing financial assets refers
to how it manages its financial assets in order to generate cash
flows. The business model determines whether cash flows will
result from collecting contractual cash flows, selling the financial
assets, or both. Financial assets classified and measured at
amortised cost are held within a business model with the objective
to hold financial assets in order to collect contractual cash flows,
while financial assets classified and measured at fair value through
other comprehensive income are held within a business model
with the objective of both holding to collect contractual cash flows
and selling. Financial assets which are not held within the
aforementioned business models are classified and measured at
fair value through profit or loss.

Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of
assets within the period generally established by regulation or
convention in the marketplace are recognised on the trade date,
that is, the date that the Group commits to purchase or sell the
asset.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their
classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured
using the effective interest method and are subject to impairment.
Gains and losses are recognised in the statement of
comprehensive income when the asset is derecognised, modified
or impaired.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried in
the statement of financial position at fair value with net changes in
fair value recognised in the statement of comprehensive income.

This category includes derivative instruments and equity
investments which the Group had not irrevocably elected to
classify at fair value through other comprehensive income.
Dividends on the equity investments are also recognised as other
income in the statement of comprehensive income when the right
of payment has been established.

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or
part of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily derecognised
(i.e., removed from the Group's consolidated statement of financial
position) when:

. the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired;
or

. the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the
received cash flows in full without material delay to a third-
party under a “pass-through” arrangement; and either (a) the
Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards
of the asset, or (b) the Group has neither transferred nor
retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset,
but has transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from an asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement, it
evaluates if, and to what extent it has retained the risk and
rewards of ownership of the asset. When it has neither transferred
nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor
transferred control of the asset, the Group continues to recognise
the transferred asset to the extent of the Group’s continuing
involvement. In that case, the Group also recognises an associated
liability. The transferred asset and the associated liability are
measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that
the Group has retained.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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31 December 2023 2023412 A31H

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2.4. BASHIBER 2

Derecognition of financial assets (continued)

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over
the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original
carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of
consideration that the Group could be required to repay.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses
("ECLS") for all debt instruments not held at fair value through
profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference between the
contractual cash flows due in accordance with the contract and all
the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at an
approximation of the original effective interest rate. The expected
cash flows will include cash flows from the sale of collateral held
or other credit enhancements that are integral to the contractual
terms.

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for which
there has not been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, ECLS are provided for credit losses that result from
default events that are possible within the next 12 months (a
12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for which there has
been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, a
loss allowance is required for credit losses expected over the
remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of the timing of the
default (a lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the credit risk
on a financial instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition. When making the assessment, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the
reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition and considers
reasonable and supportable information that is available without
undue cost or effort, including historical and forward-looking
information.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)
General approach (Continued)

The Group considers a financial asset in default when contractual
payments are 90 days past due. However, in certain cases, the
Group may also consider a financial asset to be in default when
internal or external information indicates that the Group is unlikely
to receive the outstanding contractual amounts in full before
taking into account any credit enhancements held by the Group.

A financial asset is written off when there is no reasonable
expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows.

Simplified approach

For trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component or when the Group applies the practical expedient of
not adjusting the effect of a significant financing component, the
Group applies the simplified approach in calculating ECLs. Under
the simplified approach, the Group does not track changes in
credit risk, but instead recognises a loss allowance based on
lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. The Group has established a
provision matrix that is based on its historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the
debtors and the economic environment.

For trade receivables that contain a significant financing
component and lease receivables, the Group chooses as its
accounting policy to adopt the simplified approach in calculating
ECLs with policies as described above.

Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loans and borrowings
or payables as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in the
case of loans and borrowings and payables, net of directly
attributable transaction costs.

The Group's financial liabilities include trade and other payables,
lease liabilities and interest-bearing bank borrowings.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
87 55 ¥k 2 Bfd 5%

31 December 2023 2023412 A31H

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2.4. BASHIBER 2

Financial liabilities (continueq)
Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on
their classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss include
financial liabilities held for trading and financial liabilities
designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through profit or
loss.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (trade and other
payables, and borrowings)

After initial recognition, trade and other payables, and interest-
bearing borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost,
using the effective interest rate method unless the effect of
discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are stated at
cost. Gains and losses are recognised in the statement of
comprehensive income when the liabilities are derecognised as
well as through the effective interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or
premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part
of the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate
amortisation is included in finance costs in the statement of
comprehensive income.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the
liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the
same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an
existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or
modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability
and a recognition of a new liability, and the difference between the
respective carrying amounts is recognised in the statement of
comprehensive income.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net
amount is reported in the statement of financial position if there is
a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised
amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to
realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Cost is determined on the first-in, first-out basis and, in the case of
work in progress and finished goods, comprises direct materials,
direct labour and an appropriate proportion of overheads. Net
realisable value is based on estimated selling prices less any
estimated costs to be incurred to completion and disposal.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of financial position
comprise cash on hand and at banks, and short-term highly liquid
deposits with a maturity of generally within three months that are
readily convertible into known amounts of cash, subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value and held for the purpose of
meeting short-term cash commitments.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash
and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and at banks, and
short-term deposits as defined above, less bank overdrafts which
are repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Group's
cash management.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is
probable that a future outflow of resources will be required to
settle the obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can be made
of the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount recognised
for a provision is the present value at the end of the reporting
period of the future expenditures expected to be required to settle
the obligation. The increase in the discounted present value
amount arising from the passage of time is included in finance
costs in the statement of comprehensive income.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
87 55 ¥k 2 Bfd 5%

31 December 2023 2023412 A31H

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2.4. BASHIBER 2

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax
relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised
outside profit or loss, either in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount
expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities,
based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period, taking
into consideration interpretations and practices prevailing in the
countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period between
the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts
for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences, except:

3 when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a transaction
that is not a business combination and, at the time of the
transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable
profit or loss and does not give rise to equal taxable and
deductible temporary differences; and

. in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures,
when the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences
can be controlled and it is probable that the temporary
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences, and the carryforward of unused tax credits and any
unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the
extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against
which the deductible temporary differences, and the carryforward
of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised,
except:

. when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial recognition of
an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business
combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects
neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss and
does not give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary
differences; and

o in respect of deductible temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint
ventures, deferred tax assets are only recognised to the
extent that it is probable that the temporary differences will
reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be
available against which the temporary differences can be
utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end
of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no
longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to
allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised.
Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at the end of
each reporting period and are recognised to the extent that it has
become probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to
allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be recovered.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
87 55 ¥k 2 Bfd 5%

31 December 2023 2023412 A31H

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2.4. BASHIBER 2

Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised
or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if and only
if the Group has a legally enforceable right to set off current tax
assets and current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets and
deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same
taxation authority on either the same taxable entity or different
taxable entities which intend either to settle current tax liabilities
and assets on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the
liabilities simultaneously, in each future period in which significant
amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected to be
settled or recovered.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where there
is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and all
attaching conditions will be complied with. When the grant relates
to an expense item, it is recognised as income on a systematic
basis over the periods that the costs, for which it is intended to
compensate, are expensed.

Revenue recognition
Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when
control of goods or services is transferred to the customers at an
amount that reflects the consideration to which the Group expects
to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable amount,
the amount of consideration is estimated to which the Group will
be entitled in exchange for transferring the goods or services to
the customer. The variable consideration is estimated at contract
inception and constrained until it is highly probable that a
significant revenue reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue
recognised will not occur when the associated uncertainty with the
variable consideration is subsequently resolved.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

When the contract contains a financing component which provides
the customer with a significant benefit of financing the transfer of
goods or services to the customer for more than one year, revenue
is measured at the present value of the amount receivable,
discounted using the discount rate that would be reflected in a
separate financing transaction between the Group and the
customer at contract inception. When the contract contains a
financing component which provides the Group with a significant
financial benefit for more than one year, revenue recognised under
the contract includes the interest expense accreted on the
contract liability under the effective interest method. For a contract
where the period between the payment by the customer and the
transfer of the promised goods or services is one year or less, the
transaction price is not adjusted for the effects of a significant
financing component, using the practical expedient in HKFRS 15.

(@)  Provision of property management services

Revenue from the provision of property management
services is recognised over the scheduled period on a
straight-line basis because the customer simultaneously
receives and consumes the benefits provided by the Group.

(b)  Provision of cleaning and greening services

Revenue from cleaning and greening services is recognised
when the relevant services are rendered and the customer
simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits provided
by the Group.

(c)  Sales of goods

Revenue from the sales of goods is recognised at the point
in time when control of the asset is transferred to the
customer, generally on delivery of the goods.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
87 55 ¥k 2 Bfd 5%

31 December 2023 2023412 A31H

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2.4. BASHIBER 2

Revenue recognition (Continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)
(d) Installation services

The Group provides installation services that are either sold
separately or bundled together with the sale of industrial
products to a customer. The installation services can be
obtained from other providers and do not significantly
customise or modify the industrial products.

Contracts for bundled sales of industrial products and
installation services are comprised of one performance
obligation because the promises to transfer the products
and provide installation services are not capable of being
distinct and separately identifiable. Accordingly, the
transaction price is allocated based on the bundled selling
prices of the products and installation services.

Revenue from other sources

Rental income is recognised on a time proportion basis over the
lease terms. Variable lease payments that do not depend on an
index or a rate are recognised as income in the accounting period
in which they are incurred.

Other income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the
effective interest method by applying the rate that exactly
discounts the estimated future cash receipts over the expected life
of the financial instrument or a shorter period, when appropriate,
to the net carrying amount of the financial asset.

Dividend income is recognised when the shareholders' right to
receive payment has been established, it is probable that the
economic benefits associated with the dividend will flow to the
Group and the amount of the dividend can be measured reliably.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is received or a
payment is due (whichever is earlier) from a customer before the
Group transfers the related goods or services. Contract liabilities
are recognised as revenue when the Group performs under the
contract (i.e., transfers control of the related goods or services to
the customer).

Contract costs

Other than the costs which are capitalised as inventories, property
and equipment and intangible assets, costs incurred to fulfil a
contract with a customer are capitalised as an asset if all of the
following criteria are met:

(@  The costs relate directly to a contract or to an anticipated
contract that the entity can specifically identify.

(b)  The costs generate or enhance resources of the entity that
will be used in satisfying (or in continuing to satisfy)
performance obligations in the future.

() The costs are expected to be recovered.

The capitalised contract costs are amortised and charged to the
statement of comprehensive income on a systematic basis that is
consistent with the transfer to the customer of the goods or
services to which the asset relates. Other contract costs are
expensed as incurred.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
87 55 ¥k 2 Bfd 5%

31 December 2023 2023412 A31H

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2.4. BASHIBER 2

Other employee benefits
Pension scheme

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident
Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under the
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for all of its
employees. Contributions are made based on a percentage of the
employees' basic salaries and are charged to the statement of
comprehensive income as they become payable in accordance
with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme
are held separately from those of the Group in an independently
administered fund. The Group's employer contributions vest fully
with the employees when contributed into the MPF Scheme.

The employees of the Group's subsidiaries which operate in
Chinese Mainland are required to participate in a central pension
scheme operated by the local municipal government. These
subsidiaries are required to contribute 14% to 20% of its payroll
costs to the central pension scheme. The contributions are
charged to profit or loss as they become payable in accordance
with the rules of the central pension scheme.

Borrowing costs

All borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they are
incurred. Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs that
an entity incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds.

Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they are
approved by the shareholders in a general meeting. Proposed final
dividends are disclosed in the notes to the financial statements.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and declared,
because the Company's memorandum and articles of association
grant the directors the authority to declare interim dividends.
Consequently, interim dividends are recognised immediately as a
liability when they are proposed and declared.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in RMB, which is the
Company's functional currency. Each entity in the Group
determines its own functional currency and items included in the
financial statements of each entity are measured using that
functional currency. Foreign currency transactions recorded by the
entities in the Group are initially recorded using their respective
functional currency rates prevailing at the dates of the
transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in
foreign currencies are translated at the functional currency rates
of exchange ruling at the end of the reporting period. Differences
arising on settlement or translation of monetary items are
recognised in the statement of comprehensive income.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost
in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at
the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured
at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the
exchange rates at the date when the fair value was measured. The
gain or 1oss arising on translation of a non-monetary item
measured at fair value is treated in line with the recognition of the
gain or loss on change in fair value of the item (i.e., translation
difference on the item whose fair value gain or loss is recognised
in profit or loss, respectively).

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of the
related asset, expense or income on the derecognition of a non-
monetary asset or non-monetary liability relating to an advance
consideration, the date of initial transaction is the date on which
the Group initially recognises the non-monetary asset or non-
monetary liability arising from the advance consideration. If there
are multiple payments or receipts in advance, the Group
determines the transaction date for each payment or receipt of the
advance consideration.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

122

Foreign currencies (Continued)

The functional currencies of overseas subsidiaries are currencies
other than RMB. As at the end of the reporting period, the assets
and liabilities of these entities are translated into RMB at the
exchange rates prevailing at the end of the reporting period and
their statements of comprehensive income are translated into
RMB at the exchange rates that approximate to those prevailing at
the dates of the transactions.

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the exchange
fluctuation reserve. On disposal of a foreign operation, the
component of other comprehensive income relating to that
particular foreign operation is recognised in the statement of
comprehensive income.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, the
cash flows of overseas subsidiaries are translated into RMB at the
exchange rates ruling at the dates of the cash flows. Frequently
recurring cash flows of overseas subsidiaries which arise
throughout the year are translated into RMB at the weighted
average exchange rates for the year.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group's financial statements requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets
and liabilities, and their accompanying disclosures, and the
disclosure of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these
assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that could
require a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of the
assets or liabilities affected in the future.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (continued)

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group's accounting policies,
management has made the following judgements, apart from
those involving estimations, which have the most significant effect
on the amounts recognised in the financial statements:

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group applied the following judgements that significantly
affect the determination of the amount and timing of revenue from
contracts with customers:

(i

Identifying performance obligations in multiple underlying
activities of property management services

The Group provides property management services which
comprised multiple underlying activities to the customers
(i.e., security, maintenance, cleaning, landscaping,
administrative and support services).

While each of these activities are individually capable of
being distinct, the Group determined that they are not
distinct within the context of the contract because the
ultimate objective of the management services is to perform
any activities that are necessary to ensure that the
properties are operating as intended. In addition, the Group
determined that the management services represent a
series of services that are substantially the same and have
the same pattern of transfer to the customers over the term
of the contract. Each distinct service represents a
performance obligation that would be satisfied over time
(i.e., over the length of the contract, not at a point in time)
and has the same measure of progress (e.g., time elapsed).
Consequently, the Group determined the multiple underlying
activities of property management services to be accounted
for as a single performance obligation.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (continued)

Judgements (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

(ii)

Determining the method to estimate variable
consideration and assessing the constraint for property
management services

The Group gives discount to the customers as a strategy to
improve the cash collection of property management fees,
which give rise to variable consideration. The Group
determined that the expected value method is the
appropriate method to use in estimating the variable
consideration for reductions in property management
services, given that there is a wide range of possible
outcomes which are subject to specific cases and
negotiations with customers.

Before including any amount of variable consideration in the
transaction price, the Group considers whether the amount
of variable consideration is constrained. The Group
determined that the estimates of variable consideration are
not constrained based on its historical experience, current
negotiations with customers and the current economic
conditions. In addition, the uncertainty on the variable
consideration will be resolved within a short time frame.

Property lease classification — Group as lessor

The Group has entered into commercial property leases on its
investment property portfolio. The Group has determined, based
on an evaluation of the terms and conditions of the arrangements,
such as the lease term not constituting a major part of the
economic life of the commercial property and the present value of
the minimum lease payments not amounting to substantially all
the fair value of the commercial property, that it retains
substantially all the significant risks and rewards incidental to
ownership of these properties which are leased out and accounts
for the contracts as operating leases.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (continued)

Judgements (continued)

Classification between investment properties and owner-
occupied properties

The Group determines whether a property qualifies as an
investment property, and has developed criteria in making that
judgement. Investment property is a property held to earn rentals
or for capital appreciation or both. Therefore, the Group considers
whether a property generates cash flows largely independently of
the other assets held by the Group. Some properties comprise a
portion that is held to earn rentals or for capital appreciation and
another portion that is held for use in the production or supply of
goods or services or for administrative purposes. If these portions
could be sold separately or leased out separately under a finance
lease, the Group accounts for the portions separately. If the
portions could not be sold separately, the property is an
investment property only if an insignificant portion is held for use
in the production or supply of goods or services or for
administrative purposes. Judgement is made on an individual
property basis to determine whether ancillary services are so
significant that a property does not qualify as an investment
property.

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources
of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that
have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial
year, are described below.

Impairment of goodwill

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at least on an
annual basis. This requires an estimation of the value in use of the
cash-generating units to which the goodwill is allocated. Significant
judgements and estimates are involved in the identification of
cash-generating units, operating profit forecasts, perpetuity growth
rates and discount rates. Changes in these assumptions can result
in material differences in impairment charges or available
headroom. Further details are given in note 16.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)
Impairment of goodwill (Continued)

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of
impairment for all non-financial assets (including the right-of-use
assets) at the end of each reporting period. Indefinite life intangible
assets are tested for impairment annually and at other times when
such an indicator exists. Other non-financial assets are tested for
impairment when there are indicators that the carrying amounts
may not be recoverable. An impairment exists when the carrying
value of an asset or a cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable
amount, which is the higher of its fair value less costs of disposal
and its value in use. The calculation of the fair value less costs of
disposal is based on available data from binding sales transactions
in an arm’s length transaction of similar assets or observable
market prices less incremental costs for disposing of the asset.
When value — in-use calculations are undertaken, management
must estimate the expected future cash flows from the asset or
cash-generating unit and choose a suitable discount rate in order
to calculate the present value of those cash flows.

Provision for expected credit losses on trade receivables
and other receivables

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for trade
receivables and other receivables. The provision rates are based
on days past due for groupings of various customer segments that
have similar loss patterns (i.e., by customer type).

The provision matrix is initially based on the Group's historical
observed default rates. The Group will calibrate the matrix to
adjust the historical credit loss experience with forward-looking
information. At each reporting date, the historical observed default
rates are updated and changes in the forward-looking estimates
are analysed.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

Provision for expected credit losses on trade receivables
and other receivables (Continued)

The assessment of the correlation among historical observed
default rates, forecast economic conditions and ECLS is a
significant estimate. The amount of ECLS is sensitive to changes in
circumstances and forecast economic conditions. The Group's
historical credit loss experience and forecast of economic
conditions may also not be representative of a customer's actual
default in the future. The information about the ECLs on the
Group's trade receivables and other receivables is disclosed in
note 23 and note 24 to the financial statements, respectively.

Leases — Estimating the incremental borrowing rate

The Group cannot readily determine the interest rate implicit in a
lease, and therefore, it uses an incremental borrowing rate (“IBR")
to measure lease liabilities. The IBR is the rate of interest that the
Group would have to pay to borrow over a similar term, and with a
similar security, the funds necessary to obtain an asset of a similar
value to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic environment.
The IBR therefore reflects what the Group “would have to pay”,
which requires estimation when no observable rates are available
(such as for subsidiaries that do not enter into financing
transactions) or when it needs to be adjusted to reflect the terms
and conditions of the lease (for example, when leases are not in
the subsidiary’s functional currency). The Group estimates the IBR
using observable inputs (such as market interest rates) when
available and is required to make certain entity-specific estimates
(such as the subsidiary’s stand-alone credit rating).

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses to the
extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against
which the losses can be utilised. Significant management
estimation is required to determine the amount of deferred tax
assets that can be recognised, based upon the likely timing and
level of future taxable profits together with future tax planning
strategies. Further details are set out in note 21 to the financial
statements.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

Estimation of fair value of investment properties

The valuation of the investment properties involved estimation and
assumption on items such as the selection of comparable
properties and market price.

In the absence of current prices in an active market for similar
properties, the Group considers information from a variety of
sources for estimation of fair value of investment properties,
including:

(a)

current prices in an active market for properties of a
different nature, condition or location, adjusted to reflect
those differences, and

recent prices of similar properties on less active markets,
with adjustments to reflect any changes in economic
conditions since the date of the transactions that occurred
at those prices; and discounted cash flow projections based
on reliable estimates of future cash flows, supported by the
terms of any existing lease and other contracts and (when
possible) by external evidence such as current market rents
for similar properties in the same location and condition, and
using discount rates that reflect current market assessments
of the uncertainty in the amount and timing of the cash
flows.

Further details, including the key assumptions used for fair value
measurements, are set out in note 14 to the financial statements.

128

ZHONG AO HOME GROUP LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2023

3.

EASHHERIEH @)

St AEEY (2
HEREMENATE

REMENBESRERA LY ERTE
I8 B W fEE L& -

ERBBEYENSRTSHRTERBR
T AEEZEREAZETRIRENE R K

BT REMRNATE

—FFB

B

ARMEE R Sk B B W) AR BB T
15 EMIITER - AFHAEARRE
MER R

BUMERERIEERENT SN RT
HER YEHABURREXRZLE
F%FT@E_ZEIESﬁtHjEEZfﬂ"J?‘;‘é/EHk

""""" e RRBEYRKREREMERN
Tsﬂé.ﬁrﬁﬁ HETRRERETRA
LMEMIRE A R EME H) 2 Bk b (

AIBEIE T ) SMERE 18 (5 403 B Bk
BRNBUMENRTHSED)IER
IR 0 AR R A SR IR B B T 35
ReEnENSBREEN T EEREMR
(GEEEPAiE R

(BRAFEFEERANERRR)

EIN R R E s T



OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group is organised into business
units based on different lines of services rendered in the PRC as
follows:

@)

The Group primarily provides property developers and
property owners with a broad range of property
management services for mainly residential properties, and
commercial and government buildings. Services provided by
the Group include standard property management services
and ancillary services,

The Group provides property developers and property
owners with a series of indoor and outdoor environmental
cleaning, greening and maintenance services. This business
division also provides services to the property developers
and property owners of the property management business
division. Accordingly, segment results of cleaning and
greening division are evaluated by the Group’'s management
on services as subcontracted from the property
management business division;and

Other businesses comprise sales of elevators and installation
services, provision of security services, real estate consulting
and agency services, sales assistance services, engineering
services, catering services and the sale of engineering spare
parts.
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4.

130

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Management monitors the results of the Group’s operating
segments separately for the purpose of making decisions about
resource allocation and performance assessment. Segment
performance is evaluated based on reportable segment revenue
and profit (which is a measure of adjusted profit before tax). The
adjusted profit before tax is measured consistently with the
Group's profit before tax except that bank interest income, other
interest income from financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss, changes in fair value of investment properties, fair value
adjustment of contingent consideration, net foreign exchange loss,
share of profits of joint ventures, share of profits of associates, net
foreign exchange gains, non-lease-related finance income/costs as
well as head corporate expenses are excluded from such
measurement.

Segment assets exclude deferred tax assets, cash and cash
equivalents, financial assets at fair value through profit or loss and
other unallocated head office and corporate assets as these assets
are managed on a group basis.

Segment liabilities exclude interest-bearing bank borrowings (other
than lease liabilities), other long-term payables, tax payable,
deferred tax liabilities and other unallocated head office and
corporate liabilities as these liabilities are managed on a group
basis.

Intersegment sales and transfers are transacted with reference to
the selling prices used for sales made to third parties at the then
prevailing market prices.
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4.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 4.

Operating segments

The following table provides an analysis of the Group’s revenue
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L=Endad @

TREMILEFELE D 2 A EBRERE

and results based on the types of business: BT
Property Cleaning
management and greening Other
business business businesses Total
NEEBERE  FARELER Hib#R Foh
For the year ended BZ2023%12A31H RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
31 December 2023 LEFE ARET T ARET R ARETT ARET TR
Segment revenue (note 5) A8 as (M5E5)
Sales to external customers MNBEFEE 1,285,503 263,440 160,699 1,709,642
Intersegment sales DEHEHE 8,251 146,083 66,778 221,112
1,293,754 409,523 227,477 1,930,754
Reconciliation: ik -
Elimination of intersegment sales D E R E H i (221,112)
Revenue Wiz 1,709,642
Segment results PHEE 95,976 49,665 22,329 167,970
Reconciliation: K-
Bank interest income RATHEHA 8,504
Other interest income from financial & A FEzt AE#HH
assets at fair value through profitor £ BEAEMNEMF SURA
loss 1,171
Changesinfair value of investment  REMENRTEEE
properties (1,556)
Fair value adjustment of contingent ~ SAREBEATERZ
consideration 1,632
Net foreign exchange loss B FEETE 1,898
Corporate expenses TERY (55,221)
Share of profits of joint ventures EIEAEERNH 2,838
Share of profits of associates R E D ARE 167
Finance costs (other than intereston B (RE B EF|SB A
lease liabilities) (2,694)
Profit before tax BR A A A 124,709
FPRIAREEERRQA
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4.

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Operating segments (Continued)

The following table provides an analysis of the Group’s revenue
and results based on the types of business: (continued)

Property
management
business
MEEBEK
31 December 2023 20235128318 RMB'000
AR¥TR
Segment assets PHEE 2,050,979
Reconciliation: HE -
Elimination of intersegment iR D HEEKTE
receivables
Corporate and other unallocated ~ CE¥REMASREE
assets
Total assets BERE
Segment liabilities PHEE 1,193,385
Reconciliation: HE -
Elimination of intersegment payables 1) &8 i & 5718
Corporate and other unallocated ¥ REMASEER
liabilities
Total liabilities BfE8E
Other segment information Hith A HER
Share of profits and losses of: FEIE R REE :
Joint ventures RELE 2,838
Associates =N 167
Net impairment losses recognised in A IBZ RERREEEFE
profit or loss 53,768
Depreciation and amortisation TEREH
Unallocated vl
Segment nH 33,780
Investments in associates REZNRKRE 8,099
Investment in joint ventures REELERE 5,937
Capital expenditure* BARRZ
Unallocated vl
Segment paR:il 24,393

4.

EREEaR =)

EEB N ()

TREMBREBFEANE 5o NEE = R E
B ()
Cleaning
and greening Other
business businesses Total
BRRBER Hith s @t
RMB’'000 RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARBTR ARBTR
247,971 172,208 2,471,158
(993,262)
589,356
2,067,252
160,209 117,368 1,470,962
(993,262)
556,845
1,034,545
- - 2,838
- - 167
6,515 4,525 64,808
1,405
3,960 2,750 40,490
- - 8,099
- - 5,937
112
2,726 1,893 29,012
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Capital expenditure consists of additions to property and equipment,
investment properties, intangible assets and prepayments for acquisition
of properties.
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OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Operating segments (Continued)

The following table provides an analysis of the Group’s revenue

and results based on the types of business: (continued)

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 55 ¥R 2R Bf 5F

31 December 2023 2023412 A31H

4. BEnSREE =)

mentpe

TREMILEFELE D 2 A EBRERE
DT ()

=)

Property Cleaning
management and greening Other
husiness husiness businesses Total
MEEEEE  RRRE(LER Hih 7% )
For the year ended HZ2022%12A31H RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
31 December 2022 LEFE AREFT ARETT ARBTT AREFT
Segment revenue (note 5) A8 as (M5E5)
Sales to external customers MINBEFHEE 1,322,093 216,691 163,611 1,702,395
Intersegment sales PHREE 10,038 96,084 84,325 190,447
1,332,131 312,775 247,936 1,892,842
Reconciliation: ik -
Elimination of intersegment sales D E R E H i (190,447)
Revenue Wiz 1,702,395
Segment results PBEE 112,951 40,623 20,082 173,65
Reconciliation: K-
Bank interest income RITFEMA 6,510
Other interest income from financial & AFExt AEHH
assets at fair value through profitor £ @EENEwHSHA
loss 931
Changesinfair value of investment  REMENRTEEE
properties (49)
Fair value adjustment of contingent  SAREATERZ
consideration (4,452)
Net foreign exchange loss EABETE (727)
Corporate expenses TERY (45,278)
Share of profits of joint ventures EIEAEERNH 3,167
Share of profits of associates R E D ARE 1,309
Finance costs (other than interest BB (REREFBRN)
on lease liabilities) (2,453)
Profit before tax BR A A A 132,614
FPRIAREEERRQA
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31 December 2023 2023412 A31H

4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (continved) 4. EEREER 2

Operating segments (Continued) REN =)
The following table provides an analysis of the Group's revenue TREMIREBRI S D 2 A EE W R E
and results based on the types of business: (continued) BN ()
Property Cleaning
management and greening Other
husiness husiness businesses Total
MEEEELE  RRARK(ES Hi 75 @t
31 December 2022 202212 A31H RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARBTT AREFT AREFT
Segment assets IBEE 1,991,702 218,300 193,083 2,403,085
Reconciliation: 5% -
Elimination of intersegment receivables %1347 255 fE 4511 (978,833)
Corporate and other unallocated assets (b2 & E & 5 HEéﬁF‘ 532,868
Total assets EELE 1,957,120
Segment liabilities AHEE 1,160,891 146,558 126,334 1,433783
Reconciliation: #iE
Elimination of intersegment payables %1844 &8I 4 302 (978,833)
Corporate and other unallocated rEREMRSD @E’Sﬁ
liahilities 515,241
Total liabilities BEAT 970,191
Other segment information HitH HEH
Share of profits and losses of; FEERBERER -
Joint ventures RELE 3,167 - - 3,167
Associates =N 1,309 - - 1,309
Netimpairment losses NEERNRRRERRETESE
recognised in profit or loss 46,278 1,151 6,673 54,102
Depreciation and amortisation %ﬁ%&%%ﬁ
Unallocated NN 1,413
Segment ﬁ%ﬁ 33,732 3,693 3,268 40,693
Investments in associates i NI 7,592 - - 7,592
Investment in joint ventures REELERE 5,499 - - 5,499
Capital expenditure* BARRY
Unallocated Rl 9%
Segment ak= 19,004 2,080 3,004 24,088
* Capital expenditure consists of additions to property and equipment, * BAAXBERNREMERSE REME  B&F
investment properties, intangible assets and prepayments for acquisition BERKEYENTENKE -

of properties.
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OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)
Geographical information

Since 100% of the Group's revenue and operating profit were
generated in Chinese Mainland and over 90% of the Group’s non-
current assets were located in Chinese Mainland, no geographical
information is presented in accordance with HKFRS 8 Operating
Segments.

REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Brf 55 ¥k 2% Bff 5%

31 December 2023 2023412 A31H

4. BERBER»
IR &Y

F AR 52 (5] 100% Y a8 S AR & F 2k B R B
o BEREEBIORNIFRBEEMR T
Wi - I ERIRE B RS ERIE L
ENR2FHIBER o

5. UNa ~ Hithix AR

An analysis of revenue is as follows: WK DT -
2023 2022
2023 F 2022
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARET T ARBT T

Revenue from contracts with customers KEEFE K8 K

Rendering of services RHR®E 1,700,505 1,692,927
Sales of goods HEEm 9,137 9,468
1,709,642 1,702,395
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31 December 2023 2023412 A31H

5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS (continued) 5.
Revenue from contracts with customers
(i)

136

Disaggregated revenue information

For the year ended 31 December 2023

e ~ Efth U A B2 U aS )

REEFSNMKE

i) BAFRSER
BZE2023F12A31HLEE

Property
management Cleaning and
Segments business  greening business  Other businesses Total
ks NEEBEE FRRE{LER Hi g @it
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR ARET R ARET R ARET R
Types of goods or services ~ ER KB ER
Rendering of services U 1,285,503 263,440 151,562 1,700,505
Sale of goods HEER - - 9,137 9,137
Total revenue from contracts with  REZEA @84
customers 1,285,503 263,440 160,699 1,709,642
Geographical markets HETS
Mainland China HE R 1,285,503 263,440 160,699 1,709,642
Timing of revenue recognition KR E
Revenue recognised over time R E—BRIERER KR 1,285,503 263,440 140,108 1,689,051
Revenue recognised atapointof WX —BsRIB R E
time = = 20,591 20,591
Total revenue from contracts with  REE P A D@z
customers 1,285,503 263,440 160,699 1,709,642
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5.

Disaggregated revenue information (Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2022

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS (continued) 5.

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

B 55 ¥R 2R Bf 5F

31 December 2023 2023412 A31H

s ~ HfthUg AR U ES ()

REBBFEHNWRE (@)

M BAFRBERH)
BZE2022F12831BLFEE

Property
management Cleaning and
Segments business  greening business Other businesses Total
ki NEEBEH BRRAICER H 575 Bt
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETTT ARETT AREFT AREFIT
Types of goods or services ~ ERBRBER
Rendering of services U 1,322,093 216,691 154,143 1,692,927
Sale of goods HEER - - 9,468 9,468
Total revenue from contracts with RERF A & Uiz
customers 1,322,093 216,691 163,611 1,702,395
Geographical markets HETS
Mainland China HER 1,322,093 216,691 163,611 1,702,395
Timing of revenue recognition K MEEE
Revenue recognised over time RE—BREEANE 1,322,093 216,691 143887 1,682,671
Revenue recognised ata pointof 7 X —Er B AU
time - - 19,724 19,724
Total revenue from contracts with  REEP A D8ME
customers 1,322,093 216,691 163,611 1,702,395
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31 December 2023 2023412 A31H

5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS (continued) 5.

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

M

138

Disaggregated revenue information (Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

e ~ HfthUg A B2 Uiz (2)

REBF NN &)

() EoFBHEERE)

BZE2023F12A31HLEE

Property
management Cleaning and
Segments business  greening business  Other businesses Total
28 MEEBEK RRRELER Hit %% @it
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR AEETR AEETR AEETR
Revenue from contracts with REZF&HME
customers
External customers HNEbEP 1,285,503 263,440 160,699 1,709,642
Intersegment sales DHEBEE 8,251 146,083 66,778 221,112
Intersegment adjustmentsand A EEEERE
gliminations (8,251) (146,083) (66,778) (221,112)
Total revenue from contracts with REEF A H& Mz
customers 1,285,503 263,440 160,699 1,709,642
For the year ended 31 December 2022 HZE2022F12A31BILEE
Property
management Cleaning and
Segments business  greening business Other businesses Total
28 MEEBER FERBNES Hi %7 F
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT
Revenue from contracts with REZEFSHHRE
customers
External customers MhEER 1,322,093 216,691 163,611 1,702,395
Intersegment sales PHEHEE 10,038 96,084 84,325 190,447
Intersegment adjustmentsand 2 SRR S ¥ 4
eliminations (10,038) (96,084) (84,325) (190,447)
Total revenue from contracts with  REZ P A D&
customers 1,322,093 216,691 163,611 1,702,395
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5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

(M

(ii)

Disaggregated revenue information (Continued)

The following table shows the amounts of revenue
recognised in the current reporting period that were
included in the contract liabilities at the beginning of the
reporting period:

Revenue recognised that was included in

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 55 ¥R 2R Bf 5F

31 December 2023 2023412 A31H

5. U&=~ Hthiy ARRUNE ()
REBEFAHMME &)

(M

EFtARSHINEHAED

contract liabilities at the beginning of the B MRz ¢
reporting period:
Property management services (note 28)  #1EE 12 AR (£ 28)

EaFKEER (&)

TRETNAREPERANERSE
Bt ARSHNEHAE:

2023 2022

2023 F 2022
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TR ARETT
135,689 261,505

Performance obligations

Information about the Group’s performance obligations is
summarised below:

Provision of property management services

The performance obligation is satisfied over time as services
are rendered and payment is generally due within 90 days
from the date of billing.

Provision of cleaning and greening services

The performance obligation is satisfied over time as services
are rendered and payment is generally due within 90 days
from the date of billing.

Sales of goods

The performance obligation is satisfied upon delivery of the
goods and payment is generally due within 30 to 90 days
from customer acceptance of delivered goods.

(ii)

BHEE
ERAKBERENEENEMBURNT

RHYEEE R

BABEREHIRIEE ZX - A&
REHIRE HHIEE 00 A A EIE -

RBEBERR IR

BHEER R IR ERK - 5B —R
ML ARE HHEF 90 A A EIH -

i
=

(=3

BABEREMITEZENX - FRIE—K
REFPBIZNOEREF0ENK
MEIH -

FRIARNEBEFRLT
2023 F
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31 December 2023 2023412 A31H

5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS contived) 5. WXz ~ EfhUt A RWE &)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continuec) REBEFPEHINME &)
(i) Performance obligations (Continued) (i) BHEFE)
Sales of goods (Continued) EmHE (&)
The amounts of transaction prices allocated to the remaining 2023412 A31 8 & 2022412 A 31
performance obligations (unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied) H 2EZEHTEHNEE CRETHE
as at 31 December 2023 and 31 December 2022 are as DRBITORSERSERT ¢
follows:
2023 2022
2023 F 2022 &
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T R ARBT T
within one year —FRK 167,867 128,284
Over one year A —F - 7,405
167,867 135,689
All the other amounts of transaction prices allocated to the FEEMDEEZEH TRNREINZSE
remaining performance obligations are expected to be BEBEBEHR —FRABERANE - X
recognised as revenue within one year. The amounts BENSBI NEIEZRH A ZRE -

disclosed above do not include variable consideration which
is constrained.

2023 2022
2023 F 2022 &
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T T ARETT

Other income Habug A
Bank interest income RITHBUA 8,504 6,510
Other interest income from financial assets € &t & £ #9 £ 4 K 2 U A 1,171 931
Rental income e WA 10,626 9,942
Government grants B #4 B 13,830 17,903
Others Hi 13,252 12,139
47,383 47,425
Gains W 3
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEME AT Rk - 8,369
Net foreign exchange gain PE 5 W e F 58 1,898 -
1,898 8,369
49,281 55,794
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
&7 55 % 2 Bt 51

31 December 2023 2023412 A31H

PROFIT BEFORE TAX 6. Bt Bl iE
The Group's profit before tax is arrived at after charging/(crediting): REBABRBATFEE R (BT A) THIER :
2023 2022
2023 % 20224
Notes RMB'000 RMB'000
B aE AR¥ET ARBTFT
Cost of services provided B R AR A A 1,351,086 1,337,145
Cost of goods sold BEEEmRKA 7,998 7,895
Employee benefit expense (excluding directors’  BERAMAST (TRIEEER
and chief executive’s remuneration (note 8)) B TR ABEHB) (H:E8)
Salaries and other benefits & Eo At Aa A 724,902 682,627
Retirement benefit scheme contributions RN ET SR 43,391 37,502
768,293 720,129
Depreciation of items of property and equipment 1% RREBBFE 13 27,746 27,507
Depreciation of right-of-use assets CREEENE 15 3,909 2,682
Amortisation of other intangible assets HER EEHH 20 10,240 11,917
Impairment of financial assets, net CREERETFHE
Net impairment losses recognised on trade B S REWFIBER
receivables VERIEN R 23 26,196 19,320
Net impairment losses recognised on other Hith R I R A
receivables VERIEN R 24 32,466 20,670
Impairment of goodwill B 16 - 14,987
Fair value loss on investment properties BREMELATEEE 14 1,556 49
Gross rental income HeW @Bz 5 (10,626) (9,942)
Foreign exchange (gains)/loss B (Wezs), /B8 5 (1,898) 727
Lease payments not included in the Kt AHEBREN
measurement of lease liabilities HBEMZK 33 6,359 6,267
Fair value adjustment of contingent consideration (AR E A FEFHE 4,715 4,452
Bank interest income SRITH B U A 5 (8,504) (6,510)
(Gains)/loss on disposal of items of HEMERZEEA N
property and equipment (Miz),/ B8 (327) 164
Loss on disposal of investment properties HEREMENEE 3,715 -
Auditor's remuneration ZEEM e 2,500 4,162
Other interest income from financial BATETABRD
assets at fair value through profit or loss CREENEMFS KA 5 (1,171) (931)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HER B ARz W - (8,369)
Reversal of inventories to net realisable value FEREZZEFE 2 - (875)
Government grants* RS R B * 5 (13,830) (17,903)
* Government grants include various subsidies received by the Company's * RS 17 B B 35 AN 1 B M /BB A R UK & AR A BT A
subsidiaries from relevant government bodies. There are no unfulfilled HAERE) - BImBEBEZ S MR R ER RSB
conditions or contingencies related to these grants. B
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31 December 2023 2023412 A31H

7. FINANCE COSTS 7. BIFERXTR
An analysis of finance costs is as follows: R ANDITNT
2023 2022
2023 F 2022 4F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T AREET T
Interest on bank borrowings RITIEFAE 2,694 2,453
Interest on lease liabilities HEBENE 685 430
3,379 2,883
8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 8. EFERERSITHASHHM
REMUNERATION
Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the year, REBRAES LHAMNTETRAU) - F
disclosed pursuant to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities BREHEDIZE383(1)@) ~ (0) * () RMIEA KA
on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”), section 383(1)(@), (b), Al (BBEESMEZER) RO FE 25 B BRENARE
(c) and (f) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of EEEkESTBRABEHMGOT
the Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of
Directors) Regulation, is as follows:
Group
AEE
2023 2022
2023 F 2022 &
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T AREET T
Fees e 8,631 8,332
Other emoluments: HEiNe
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e ERREDH R 1,968 1,968
Pension scheme contributions RIKRSET B 145 137
2,113 2,105
10,744 10,437
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8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
REMUNERATION (continued)

(3) Independent non-executive directors

The fees paid to independent non-executive directors during
the year were as follows:

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Brf 55 ¥k 2% Bff 5%

31 December 2023 20234 12 431 B
8. EFERESITIASTHEHM »

(@) BUIIFMTES
FREMNBIIENTEENRRMT :

2023 2022

2023 F 2022 F

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®T T AR®EF T

Mr. Yin Weizhong* FR L 80 -
Mr. Chan Wai Cheung Admiral PRIZE 4 161 154
Mr. Chan Ka Leung Kevin PRRR &4 161 154
Mr. Huang An Xin** R e 80 154
482 462

There were no other emoluments payable to the
independent non-executive directors during the year (2022:

Nil).

**

In July 2023, Mr. Yin Weizhong was appointed as a non-executive
director of the Company.

In June 2023, Mr. Huang An Xin resigned as a non-executive
director of the Company.

F R A At FE 9B N IR 1T EE B A B
% (20224 : 4E) -

* N2023%67 R FEHEKEERZERRR
FRMITES -

s 20036 A BRI EBEIRAAE
PITES -

FTREXEBMERLA
2023 F 3k
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31 December 2023 2023412 A31H

8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 8. EFRRSITHASHH »
REMUNERATION (continued)
(b) Executive directors, non-executive directors (b) MITES - FHNTESBKNRS
and the chief executive fTERABS
Salaries, Equity-settled Pension
allowances and  share option scheme Total
Fees benefits in kind expense contributions remuneration
4.1 BRLEE Bike
ne RENFE  BRERX SRR gmas
2023 2023 F RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’'000 RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARBTR ARETR ARETR ARET R
Executive directors: HIES:
Ms. Chen Zhuo Rt 483 - - 29 512
Mr. Liang Bing REGHE 3,471 456 - 29 3,956
Mr. Long Weimin EARELAE 3,471 456 - 18 3,945
7,425 912 - 76 8,413
Non-executive directors; FRITES
Ms. Jin Keli SRBRT 102 - - 5 107
Mr. Wu Zhihua* REEZRES 57 - - 3 60
Ms. Xu Yaping BREEZL 45 - - 3 48
204 - - 11 215
Chief executive: BETBAS
Mr. Liu Jian Ell=Ska 520 - - 34 554
Salaries,  Equity-settled Pension
allowancesand  share option scheme Total
Fees  benefitsinkind expense  contributions  remuneration
L= il BRiEE ERe
e REWHE  BRERZ HE S g0 Pk
2022 2022 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT  ARETZT
Executive directors: WTESE:
Ms. Chen Zhuo BeExt 477 - - 0 477
Mr. Liang Bing 2EREE 3,337 456 - 14 3,807
Mr. Long Weimin EAREAE 3,337 456 - 14 3,807
7,151 912 - 28 8,091
Non-executive directors: FRITES
Ms. Jin Keli SREBRT 103 - - - 103
Mr. Wu Zhihua REELE 103 - - - 103
206 - - - 206
Chief executive: Ba{THAE
Mr. Liu Jian 2EnAE 513 - - 0 513
* In July 2023, Mr. Wu Zhihua resigned as a non-executive director * R2023F7 A+ REZELEEFHEARARENITE
of the Company. E
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10.

FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

The five highest paid employees during the year included four
directors (2022: four directors), details of whose remuneration are
set out in note 8 above. Details of the remuneration for the year of
the remaining one (2022: one) highest paid employee who are

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
&7 55 % 2 Bt 51

31 December 2023 2023412 A31H

9. hEraHiES

FALERSHEERENAES (20224 -
MBREE) HHFMABHN EXHES K
FEHEGB— A (2022F  —RB)RFEARAE
EXFBEHTRABRNRS &8N

neither a director nor a chief executive of the Company are as BT :
follows:

2023 2022
2023 F 2022 £
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET ARBFT
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e RUREYH = 1,569 1,502
Pension scheme contributions RSB R 16 15
1,585 1,517

The remuneration of the non-director and non-chief executive
highest paid employee whose remuneration fell within the
following bands is as follows:

HEELRIRRTHRABBEHEMN FIATE
BHH&=HEENFMMOT

Number of employees

EEAY
2023 2022
2023 F 2022 F
RMB1,000,001 to RMB5,000,000 AFE#1,000,001 L&
A E# 5,000,000 7T 1 1
INCOME TAX 10. PRiSi#

A provision for PRC corporate income tax (the “CIT") has been
provided at the applicable income tax rate of 25% for the year
ended 31 December 2023 (2022: 25%) on the assessable profits of
the Group's subsidiaries in Chinese Mainland, except for those
subsidiaries which enjoyed a lower tax rate as a benefit.

HZE2023F12A3MBILFE - AECEME
MOCEMRSHDBEIRASERPEA
R BT B A T A FE ER B A 2 25% (2022 4F
25%) MEA SR ENIE ZAREREE
HHM B R RIBRIN

TRASEEARLD QAL
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31 December 2023 2023412 A31H

10. INCOME TAX (continuead)

No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made in the
financial statements as no assessable profit was derived from

Hong Kong during both years.

Current — Chinese Mainland:

BIE] — B A

10. PRiSHR &)

HRMEFEANREERRANBREEE
BARRPBHERPUEENSHIELERE -

2023 2022
2023 F 2022 &
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR¥T ARBETT

Charge for the year FALZH 53,134 46,500
Deferred tax (note 21) EFERIE (B3 21) (12,397) (2,936)
Total tax charge for the year FRERIESL D 40,737 43,564

A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to profit before tax
using the statutory rate to the tax expense at the effective rate is

as follows:

BRAETE 1 R 5T BB A RR B AT A RO B IR
P EIZ BB R BB AR X 2 BRI T

2023 2022
2023 F 2022 &
RMB'000 RMB'000

ARBTR ARETT

Profit before tax RTINS 124,709 132,614
Tax at the applicable tax rate BEARETENTIE 31,177 33,154
Profits attributable to joint ventures and AEEREEQREETE

associates (751) (1,119)
Expenses not deductible for tax R R 3,918 5,027
Tax losses and temporary differences RERMIBEERERMEERE

unrecognised 6,581 7,668
Tax losses and temporary differences FANTEEMNBIIAEE R

utilised from previous periods R T (1,310) (2,593)
withholding tax on distributable REEFRBME AT SRS

profits of the Group’s PRC subsidiaries R TEIIRR 1,122 1,427
Tax charge for the year FRBIAL L 40,737 43,564

The share of tax expense attributable to joint ventures and
associates amounting to RMB751,000 (2022: RMB1,119,000) is
included in “Profits and losses of joint ventures” and “Profits and

losses of associates” in profit or loss.
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10.

1.

INCOME TAX (continued)

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a 10% withholding
tax is levied on dividends declared to foreign investors from the
foreign investment enterprises established in Chinese Mainland.
The requirement is effective from 1 January 2008 and applies to
earnings after 31 December 2007. A lower withholding tax rate
may be applied if there is a tax treaty between Chinese Mainland
and the jurisdiction of the foreign investors. The Group has applied
an applicable rate of 5% in 2023 (2022: 5%). The Group will be liable
for withholding taxes on dividends distributed by those subsidiaries
established in Chinese Mainland in respect of earnings generated
from 1 January 2008.

DIVIDENDS

Proposed final — HK2.5 cents BEAMRE —

(2022: HK2.5 cents) per ordinary share

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 55 ¥R 2R Bf 5F

31 December 2023 2023412 A31H

10. PRiSHR =)

1.

RBEPEGEMSHE  RPBE ALK
HNELIR A E SN IR E E B R AR S UK
10%TEFIFE - 5% R E B 200841 A 18 &4
B WEARR2007F12 A3 B AEHAT -
MRAFPEANMEINTIGEEFTERE RS
ERBERLE  AATRASENENHRM
K o REER 2023 FEHAEAT E 5% (2022
F:5%)  AEBEKERB2008F1A18E
EAEFIRZER TR RN E QA
7R KB B AN TE SR

f% @ A% 2.5 7811
(20224 = 2.57%1)

iR
2023 2022
2023 F 2022 %
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T ARETT
19,307 17,869

During 2023, a dividend of HKD2.5 cents per share in respect of the
year ended 31 December 2022 was declared by the directors of
the Company and approved in the Company’s annual general
meeting on 31 May 2023. Dividends amounting to RMB19,307,000
were paid on 7 July 2023 (2022: RMB17,869,000).

The directors of the Company has resolved to recommend the
payment of a final dividend of HK2.5 cents per share for the year
ended 31 December 2023 (2022: HK2.5 cents) to the shareholders
whose names appear on the register of members of the Company
on 11 June 2024. The proposed final dividend for the year is subject
to the approval of the Company'’s shareholders at the forthcoming
annual general meeting.

FR2023F R RAREED S K IH20234F
SANHERTHARRMNBRRAF KE it
HEHE202FE12ANBILEFENR S BEK
25781l - R2023F7 A7 E N E LA
AR #19,307,0007C (2022%F : AR
17,869,0007C) °

AAREFZREZRNEZE 2023412 A31
B I FE R R SR 2.58 1l (20224 : 2.5
AL F 20245 6 A 11 B B HIA R BRI E 4
WERE - AFENEZRERBEFER
AR A EEREEF KRG FHE -

FRIARNEBEFRLT
2023 F
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31 December 2023 2023412 A31H

12. EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO 12.

148

ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT

The calculation of the basic earnings per share amount is based on
the profit attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent for
the year, and the weighted average number of ordinary shares of
854,550,000 shares (2022: 854,550,000 shares) in issue during the
year.

The calculation of the diluted earnings per share amounts is based
on the profit for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders of
the parent. The weighted average number of ordinary shares used
in the calculation is the number of ordinary shares in issue during
the year, as used in the basic earnings per share calculation, and
the weighted average number of ordinary shares assumed to have
been issued at no consideration on the deemed exercise or
conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary shares into ordinary
shares.

The calculation of the basic earnings per share amount is based
on:

BACSEiEExITBARGER

RBifl

BRERBFGEINIREANFE G QG L EE
HEBABENBE ARFADBTL B
hn#E S 5 81854,550,000 f% (2022 4 -
854,550,000% ) 5+ &

BERBERNSENAEENT AR L BE
SR B AREFANE - 5 E A E @R
BFHEAAFARFFESRERRNZ
BERTEAREE  URBRITEREERAR
EHEEEEBR AT RARERRRESEBEHR
TTEVE BN 98 -

AESRERENSREIER TIIEE

2023 2022
2023 F 2022 4F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T AREET T
Earnings BF
Profit attributable to ordinary equity BRREEERFEAE ARGNE
holders of the parent 80,054 76,907
Shares v
Weighted average number of FREETERRINE T AR
ordinary shares in issue during the year 854,550,000 854,550,000

For the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, the computation
of diluted earnings per share did not include the exercise of the
share options of the Company since the exercise price of the share
options was higher than the average market price of the
Company’s shares during the years ended 31 December 2023 and
2022.

ZHONG AO HOME GROUP LIMITED
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13. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
&7 55 % 2 Bt 51

31 December 2023 2023412 A31H

13. IFKRIE

Leasehold Furniture Motor
Buildings improvements and fixtures vehicles Total
HE HER
BT WEEE B E R 1 RE ait
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR¥TR AR¥ETT AR%TR AR¥Tr AR%¥Txn
31 December 2023 2023%128318
Cost B
At 1 January 2023 R2023%F1 /18 64,547 37,475 66,945 47,155 216,122
Additions NE 1,876 16,344 1,909 6,142 26,271
Disposals HE (280) (582) (1,929) (3,355) (6,146)
At 31 December 2023 202312 A31H 66,143 53,237 66,925 49,942 236,247
Accumulated depreciation R E
At 1 January 2023 R2023%F1A18 (7,326) (23,903) (38,245) (28,191) (97,665)
Depreciation provided for the year ERFrEHEHE (3,549) (8,147) (9,983) (6,067) (27,746)
Disposal e 24 - 696 1,725 2,445
At 31 December 2023 R2023%F12 A31H (10,851) (32,050) (47,532) (32,533) (122,966)
Impairment AE
At 1 January 2023 and R202F1R18 K
31 December 2023 2023% 128318 - - (456) - (456)
Net carrying amount REFE
At 1 January 2023, net of R2023%F1A18
accumulated depreciation e RETE 57,221 13,572 28,244 18,964 118,001
At 31 December 2023, R2023F 128318
net of accumulated depreciation 1B 254 & 55,292 21,187 18,937 17,409 112,825
FPRIAREEERRQA
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31 December 2023 2023412 A31H

13. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

13. MAERRRIE )

Leasehold Furniture Motor
Buildings improvements  and fixtures vehicles Total
Gl FER
EF MEEE (& 5 % b RE =Xy
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT AREBTT AR®TT ARETR
31 December 2022 2022%12H31H
Cost BRAR
At 1 January 2022 R2022%F181H 78,395 28,655 64,885 49,059 220,994
Additions NE 595 9,124 4916 5,447 20,082
Disposal of subsidiaries HEHB AR (12,087) (268) (1,453) (701) (14,509)
Transfer to investment properties B & =R & W% (2,356) - - - (2,356)
Disposals & - (36) (1,403) (6,650) (8,089)
At 31 December 2022 2022412 A31H 64,547 37,475 66,945 47,155 216,122
Accumulated depreciation i IFE
At 1 January 2022 H2022%F181H (7,275) (18,669) (31,316) (23,654) (80,914)
Depreciation provided for the year & R FTaT 24T & (3,941) (5,287) (9,402) (8,877) (27,507)
Disposal HE - - 1,400 3,660 5,060
Transfer to investment properties B E R EME 833 - - - 833
Disposal of subsidiaries HENB AR 3,057 53 1,073 630 4,863
At 31 December 2022 72022612 A318 (7,326) (23,903) (38,245) (28,191) (97,665)
Impairment AR
At 1 January 2022 and R202F1818R
31 December 2022 2022%12 A318 - - (456) - (456)
Net carrying amount REFE
At 1 January 2022, R202F1818 -
net of accumulated depreciation  #1f: 254 & 71,120 9,986 33,113 25,405 139,624
At 31 December 2022, R202%12A318
net of accumulated depreciation  #1f 254 & 57,221 13,572 28,244 18,964 118,001
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14.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
&7 55 % 2 Bt 51

31 December 2023 2023412 A31H

14. 1REME

2023 2022
2023 F 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TF ARETE

Carrying amount at 1 January R1A1TEMNEEE 180,713 178,012
Additions NE 1,900 1,227
Transfer from owner-occupied property HBEaAmE = 1,523
Disposal & (20,052) -
Net loss from fair value adjustments N EFAREBEFE (1,556) (49)
Carrying amount at 31 December R12 A3 BEREE 161,005 180,713

Certain investment properties are leased to third parties under
operating leases, the details of which are included in note 15.

The Group's investment properties are all situated in Chinese
Mainland. The directors of the Company have determined that all
the investment properties are commercial properties, based on
the nature, characteristics and risks of each property. The Group’s
investment properties were revalued on 31 December 2023 based
on valuations performed by Jones Lang LaSalle Corporate Appraisal
and Advisory Limited, an independent firm of professionally
qualified valuers, using the market approach, as at 31 December
2023. Each year, the Group's property manager and the directors
decide, after approval from the audit committee, to appoint which
external valuer to be responsible for the external valuations of the
Group's properties. Selection criteria include market knowledge,
reputation, independence and whether professional standards are
maintained. The Group’s property manager and the directors have
discussions with the valuer on the valuation assumptions and
valuation results twice a year when the valuation is performed for
interim and annual financial reporting.

The Group’s investment properties with a carrying value of
RMB98,981,000 (2022: RMB99,567,000) were pledged to secure
general banking facilities granted to the Group as at 31 December
2023 (note 29).

ETHREVECRBELEENVETE =77
HEFBHNMES -

AEBEBREMEHMNPBEAND - ARARES
ERESMENEE BHULKRBRETHA
KEMEREENSE - N2023F 124318 -
AEEMEEDEREBIEZESERGEE
MITHEBRTOETHRERERAARN
2023F 12 A3 BTG AT HEER -
BF AEBNMECENEZEEZZE
SHEBRAEZAIBEHEMESAEEY
EMHNEEE BB EREMISME B
B BUMREETHFEEKFE - XEEH
MERBREFERTPHERFEVBRSE
AHER SFEGAEMRGEERIRGE
HEREITMINGT ©

M2023F12A3MH  AEEKRABAARE
98,981,000 7T (20224F : A R #99,567,0007T)
MITEMEDIET  UEIGETAREERN—
MERTTREE (MIFE29) o
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31 December 2023 2023412 A31H

14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continuec)

Fair value hierarchy

14. IREWM%E »)

The following table illustrates the fair value measurement hierarchy
of the Group's investment properties:

rIFERBR

TEREAREBEREVENRFEAEER

Fair value measurement as at 31 December 2023 using
FERAATEER2023512 A31 BN A FEFTE

Quoted
prices in Significant  Significant
active  observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
SERT SN ERUEE EXFTHE
HE WAHE PN ¢
(8—F8) (5=18) (£=18) #st
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR®ETT AR¥TR AR¥T R AR¥TR
Recurring fair value PATIER 087
measurement for: NTERZ
Commercial properties [EE34ES - - 161,005 161,005
Fair value measurement as at 31 December 2022 using
FRNTEER2022F 12 A31 BN AT EH 2
Quoted
prices in Significant Significant
active observable  unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
VA BT 5 K EAABE EATAEHE
HE ETUN 67 W A\ BHE
(B5—FE) (B5=) (B=E) #Et
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARBT T AR T
Recurring fair value ARIEE M B
measurement for: REEERE
Commercial properties [EE34ES - - 180,713 180,713

RAFE F-—EBREF-_EFZHEATER
TFEAENERE TEATEFEEAFZZ
BRFME=ZBREL (2022F : £) -

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value
measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers into
or out of Level 3 (2022: Nil).
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31 December 2023 2023412 A31H

14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 14. BEME»)
Fair value hierarchy (continued) nYERHR®)
Reconciliation of fair value measurements categorised within Level SEERNTFTHEHERZF=FNATEFELEE

3 of the fair value hierarchy:

2023 2022
2023 F 2022 &
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR%T T ARBTIT
Carrying amount at 1 January R1A1HEEE 180,713 178,012
Additions NE 1,900 1,227
Transfer from owner-occupied property BEAEAYE = 1,623
Disposal & (20,052) -
Net (loss)/gain from fair value adjustments A EFAE (F8) 558 (1,556) (49)
Carrying amount at 31 December K12 A3 BERAEE 161,005 180,713
Below is a summary of the valuation technique used and the key LTAREMEGEMAGFEERTD RHER
input to the valuation of investment properties: BEEABBEHOBE -
Range
Significant L
Valuation techniques unobservable inputs 2023 2022
fEERG BEATABERAHE 2023 F 20224
Commercial properties Direct comparison method Market unit price (RMB/sg.m.) 7-24 7-27
EEDE HELEBR TIZEABE
(ANR¥TT/FHK)
The Group has determined that the highest and best use of the AEBCETIEMERTEAHZEA R
industrial property at the measurement date would be to convert BEREABMEERATEMAS - HHEK
the property for residential purposes. For strategic reasons, the BRE  ZMELEALEFAER -

property is not being used in this manner.
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31 December 2023 2023412 A31H

14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 14. IREWM%E »)

Fair value hierarchy (continued)

Under the discounted cash flow method, fair value is estimated
using assumptions regarding the benefits and liabilities of
ownership over the asset’s life including an exit or terminal value.
This method involves the projection of a series of cash flows on a
property interest. A market-derived discount rate is applied to the
projected cash flow in order to establish the present value of the
income stream associated with the asset. The exit yield is normally
separately determined and differs from the discount rate.

The duration of the cash flows and the specific timing of inflows
and outflows are determined by events such as rent reviews, lease
renewal and related reletting, redevelopment or refurbishment.
The appropriate duration is driven by market behaviour that is a
characteristic of the class of property. The periodic cash flow is
estimated as gross income less vacancy, non-recoverable
expenses, collection losses, lease incentives, maintenance costs,
agent and commission costs and other operating and management
expenses. The series of periodic net operating income, along with
an estimate of the terminal value anticipated at the end of the
projection period, is then discounted.

A significant increase (decrease) in the estimated rental value and
the market rent growth rate per annum in isolation would result in
a significant increase (decrease) in the fair value of the investment
properties. A significant increase (decrease) in the long term
vacancy rate and the discount rate in isolation would result in a
significant decrease (increase) in the fair value of the investment
properties. Generally, a change in the assumption made for the
estimated rental value is accompanied by a directionally similar
change in the rent growth per annum and the discount rate and an
opposite change in the long term vacancy rate.
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15. LEASE

The Group as a lessee

The Group has lease contracts for various items of buildings used
in its operations. Leases of buildings generally have lease terms

between 5 and 10 years.

(a)

(b)

Right-of-use assets

The carrying amounts of the Group's right-of-use assets and

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
&7 55 % 2 Bt 51

31 December 2023 2023412 A31H

15. {48
REBEERATMREA

AEERESEMANSEEFTHEARIAH
EAK - BFHENHEYB BN FS5E105F -

(@ EREEE
AEBEEREEECRAERFAEH

the movements during the year are as follows: I

Buildings

BF

RMB'000

ARBFIT

As at 1 January 2022 R2022%F1H1H 10,365
Additions = 2,428
Depreciation charge mEI N (2,682)
As at 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023 R2022% 12 B31H K2023F1A1H 10,111
Additions = 3,501
Depreciation charge wEI N (3,909)
As at 31 December 2023 R2023%12 A31H 9,703

Lease liabilities

The carrying amount of lease liabilities (included under

(b) HEHE

HEBEZREE GIAR BRITER

interest-bearing bank borrowings) and the movements W) RFERNEBINT :
during the year are as follows:
2023 2022
2023 4 2022 &
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T ARBT T
Carrying amount at 1 January R1A1TBEZEmEE 12,353 12,821
New leases HE 3,501 2,428
Accretion of interest recognised FANFTHEROFSIG 0 (FFE7)
during the year (note 7) 685 430
Payment T3k (4,271) (3,326)
As at 31 December 2023 R2023F 12 A31H 12,268 12,353
Analysed into: DA
Current portion BNEAER 75 8,082 10,528
Non-current portion JEBNEREL 4,186 1,825
FPRIAREEERRQA
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31 December 2023 2023412 A31H

15. LEASE (continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)

() The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation to
leases are as follows:

15. B8 »)
REBERAMBA &)
(€ RBR¥TERANBEREHENT -

2023 2022

2023 & 20224

RMB’'000 RMB'000

AR®T AREET T

Interest on lease liabilities (note 7) HMEaENB (MF7) 685 430
Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets  F A EETER X 3,909 2,682

Expense relating to short-term leases and  E252 B & X g2 A B R
other leases with remaining lease terms 2023F 12 A31 Ak 2 Al fEm A
ended on or before 31 December 2023 HmAEFHENMAX

(included in cost of sales) (FFASEE R A) 4,085 3,507
Expense relating to leases of low-value HEEEEEHEEBANMAX
assets (included in administrative (FEATTERX)
expenses) 2,274 2,760
Total amount recognised in profit or loss RiEamH ERNIERRE 10,953 9,379
The Group as a lessor REBFEREMEA

The Group leases its properties under operating lease
arrangements, with leases negotiated for terms within five years.
The terms of the leases generally also require the tenants to pay
security deposits.

As at the end of the reporting period, the Group had total future
minimum lease receivables under non-cancellable operating
leases with its tenants falling due as follows:

AEERBELHELZHHEHEEANE  ZF

ER—RTRERFPXNRES °

REREHR - ARIBFEB P AT LI R IAT 5

AW EHEEHEE  ARENRKK
B ERUGRIREENT -

2023 2022
2023 F 2022 &
RMB'000 RMB'000

ARBT R ARETE

Within one year —&FN 1,027 2,214
In the second to fifth years, inclusive F_FEFLF (BEEEWST) 2,764 898
3,791 3,112
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16.
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31 December 2023 2023412 A31H

GOODWILL 16. B2
RMB'000
ARBTIT
At 1 January 2022: R2022%F1A1H 302,642
Impairment of goodwill R E (14,987)
Disposal of subsidiaries HE B A A (62,373)
Cost and net carrying amount R2022F12 531 B %2023 18181
at 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023 R K BRTEFE 225,282
Cost and net carrying amount at 31 December 2023 20234 12 A 31 BRIPK A K BREFE 225,282
Impairment testing of goodwill 2 2 i {8 8l 5

Goodwill acquired through business acquisitions is allocated to the
following cash-generating units (“CGU") for impairment testing:

EREHREMBESHAECOEE TR
TELBEU(REEEEM]) UERER

. Ningbo property management service cash-generating unit . BREMFEEReEAEN((REELE
("CGU A"), B{A])

. Guangdong property management service cash-generating . ERMF*ERERBESEASML([RE
unit (“CGU C"), EXxBEMNC])

e Suzhou property management service cash-generating unit . BMNMEEERBEeEASN ([BE

. Hangzhou property management service cash-generating . MMNEERRBEeEASML([RE
unit ("CGU E”) EEEMNE])

. Huarui property management service cash-generating unit . ELMEEERBEeEASEN ([BE
("CGU F) EEEBENF])

° Others cash-generating units (“Others”)

o HitRESEASM([HAM])
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31 December 2023 2023412 A31H

16. GOODWILL (continued)

Impairment testing of goodwill (continued)

16. B2 »)

22 B Rt (2)

31 December

31 December

2023 2022
2023 F 2022 £

12H31H 12A31H

RMB'000 RMB’'000

AR®T AREET T

CGUA REELEMNA 101,083 101,083
cGuUC REEEENC 24,929 24,929
CGUD REEEEMD 20,171 20,171
CGUE WeEEEME 14,987 14,987
CGUF BEEEBENF 37,637 37,637
Others Hih 44,743 44,743
243,550 243,550
Impairment A (18,268) (18,268)
Total HET 225,282 225,282

The recoverable amount of those cash-generating units has been
determined based on a current market value calculation using
cash flow projections based on financial budgets covering a five-
year period approved by senior management. The discount rate
applied to the cash flow projections is 16% and the cash flows
beyond the five-year period were extrapolated using a growth rate
of 2% (2022: 15% and 2%).

ZHONG AO HOME GROUP LIMITED
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16. GOODWILL (continuea)

Impairment testing of goodwill (continued)

Assumptions were used in the value-in-use calculation of the cash-
generating units for 31 December 2023 and 31 December 2022.
The following describes each key assumption on which
management has based its cash flow projections to undertake an
impairment testing of goodwill.

The basis used to determine the value
assigned to the revenue from the segment
is the average revenue achieved in the
year immediately before the budget year,
increased for expected efficiency
improvements and expected market
development.

Budgeted revenue

The basis used to determine the values
assigned is the cost of inventories
consumed, staff costs, and other
operating expenses. The values assigned
to the key assumptions reflect past
experience and management’s
commitment to maintain its operating
expenses at an acceptable level.

Budgeted operating
expenses

The discount rates used are before tax
and reflect specific risks relating to the
unit.

Discount rates

The values assigned to the key assumptions on budgeted revenue,
budgeted operating expenses and discount rates are consistent
with external information sources.

Sensitivity to changes in assumptions

With regard to the assessment of the value in use of the cash-
generating units, management believes that no reasonably
possible change in any of the above key assumptions would cause
the carrying value, including goodwill, of the cash-generating units
to exceed the recoverable amount.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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[(SEEIC)

EEREERE )

STE2023F 12 A31H R2022F 12 A31HH
HeELSSMEREESERBE - UTHE
RERBRREELRSREBANESTE
ERENRN S EERBS -

BE W BETE 2 AR E A W U B FT
RANEEASREERRE
F A 6 P iE B S R

A 1R EY AT TR R A R
HOE R TAHMISRE

REFBEE BRECEEEENER
AERAEAEERE
BTRAREMEEHR
TETEEBERNEER
BREE B I B I B A IE
REESBRAX RN

RKEE o

BRIR & FiT PR &Y BH 3R 3 5 B 5% AT BA
BE  WRBREREHER

TEHEMNEERR o

PETHENS KLLAXBRERBREXN
FTEBERRNEBREIBEERE -

HRXEEBAE

EEERSELEVERBEFELFENG
B BEEEMEIFEEABN LA ER
RRAEAMENEDSEUREREEN
MREEEEVMRAEBEE T RESHE -
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31 December 2023 2023412 A31H

17. PREPAYMENTS FOR ACQUISITION OF 17. WM ENTadIRIA

PROPERTIES

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had deposits of
RMB12,125,000 (2022: RMB14,092,000) in relation to the acquisition
of properties situated in Chinese Mainland paid to property

MR2023F 124310 AEEMWEERFI
BURTBREAMOYE  SN2EEAAR
# 12,125,000 7T (2022 4F : A & # 14,092,000

developers. JT) e
18. INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES 18. REEREMNRSE
2023 2022
2023 F 2022
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T ARBFIT
Share of net assets BIREEFE 5,937 5,499
Particulars of the Group's joint ventures are as follows: AEBEEDLENFBOT
31 December 2023 2023%12H31H
Percentage of
Paid-up registration Ownership Profit
Name capital  and business interest sharing  Principal activities
a8 BREX BEREERE FAEES AEsE TEEE
BERRUMEERERAA RMB1,500,000  PRC/Chinese Mainland 60 60 Provision of property
(“Ninghbo Dongyue”) management services
ERENMEEEERAA ([BREK]) AR#1500000 B/ HENG RENEERRS
REMERPRETELERERRA RMB2,000,000  PRC/Chinese Mainland 65 65 Provision of property
("Laibin Chantou") management services
REMERTRATEEERERAA ARE2000000c  RE/HENK RENZERRS
([REER])
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18. INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES (continued)

The following table illustrates the aggregate financial information
of the Group's joint venture that is not individually material:

19.

Share of the joint ventures’ profit for the year

Share of the joint ventures' total
comprehensive income

Aggregate carrying amount of the Group’s
investment in joint ventures

i

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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31 December 2023 2023412 A31H

18. RBELEMNIRE »)

TRHFEALEENSZDEHNIIFEREKR
MBI B ER

2023 2022
2023 F 2022 %
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥TR ARBTT

1A 2,838 3,167
¥mrmls

2,838 3,167

AEMRKREMNERTE

5,937 5,499

INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES

Share of net assets

EEEEFE

19. REEATINIRE

2023 2022

2023 F 2022 %
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T ARETT
8,099 7,592

R I [
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871 55 ¥R 2R Bi 5

31 December 2023 2023412 A31H

19. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)

Particulars of the Group’s associates are as follows:

31 December 2023

Paid-up
Name capital
28 BHER
BNBEEEERAR RMB7,000,000
("Aoye Sports”)
BEMNRZREARAR(REBE]) ARMK7,000,0007T
BT ERRMERR LA RMB1,000,000
("Wuzhou Chengtou”)
BMTHERPRNERR DA AR #1,000,0007T
(MK )
BN IERRRENEEEARLA RMB500,000
(“"Suzhou Shengjian”)
BN IEXERERENEZERARAA AR #500,0007T

J
([FmaEE )

MR REEREERAF

RMB1,000,000

MNP BAEEREEB AR AR #1,000,0007T

BRMBER R MELRE RMB340,000
BRAA

ERE EE PR MEE R AR 340,000 7T
BRAA

19.

Place of
registration
and business
Bk
S50

PRC/Chinese Mainland
RE R E AN
PRC/Chinese Mainland

hE/PEAL

PRC/Chinese Mainland

B/ E R

PRC/Chinese Mainland

L/ B

PRC/Chinese Mainland

B,/ PE AL

The following table illustrates the aggregate financial information
of the Group's associates that are not individually material:

N

GE NSRS =)

AREBEBERBMNFBTNOT

2023%F12A831H
Percentage of
ownership interest
attribute to the Group

FEMER
MEREZA DL

40

49

49

30

34

Principal
activities

FREH

Provision of sports venue
leasing services
REEESHERE

Provision of business
management services
RUEFHEERRS

Provision of business
management services
RUFHEERRS

Provision of wholesale
services
REIERS

Provision of wholesale
services
fRA AR

TRFAPAEE O Z R F AW IEE R E KR

Share of the associates’ profit for the year

Share of the associates’ total comprehensive
income

Aggregate carrying amount of the Group's
investments in associates

RIAB BT IS &R
2023 2022
2023 F 2022 4
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR¥T ARETF T
FEAE F A B & R R FDE 167 1,309
FEAGEE & QR BEEIA

167 1,309

REBEREERATIRENBIREEE
8,099 7,592

ZHONG AO HOME GROUP LIMITED
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20. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
&7 55 % 2 Bt 51

31 December 2023 2023412 A31H

20. Hih Iz &=

Acquired
property
management Software

contracts and trademark Total

FrEV{S Y %
BEEEHN BRYEREE st
31 December 2023 2023F12A31H RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ T AR%T T AR®T

At 1 January 2023: R2023F1A1H
Cost B AR 121,724 13,281 135,005
Accumulated amortisation R (77,929) (6,157) (84,086)
Net carrying amount BREFE 43,795 7.124 50,919
Cost at 1 January 2023, net of H2023F1 A1HMKA -
accumulated amortisation kR RATEESH 43,795 7.124 50,919
Addition NE - 953 953
Amortisation provided during the 4= ;A BT 5+ 12 12 44
year (8,676) (1,564) (10,240)
At 31 December 2023 R2023F12 A31H 35,119 6,513 41,632
At 31 December 2023: R2023F12 8318

Cost [B%N 121,724 14,234 135,958
Accumulated amortisation REHEH (86,605) (7,721) (94,326)
Net carrying amount BREFAE 35,119 6,513 41,632
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

87 5

B 5E

31 December 2023 2023412 A31H

4 SR ==

20. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued) 20. Hihmfz & & o)
Acquired
property
management Software
contracts  and trademark Total
FRER S %
BEIRAH M REE 45T
31 December 2022 202212 A 31 H RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREET T AREEF T ARET T
At 1 January 2022: R2022%F1A1H
Cost XA 121,724 10,406 132,130
Accumulated amortisation REtiE (67,472) (4,697) (72,169)
Net carrying amount BREFE 54,252 5,709 59,961
Cost at 1 January 2022, net of 2022F 1 A1 EKA -
accumulated amortisation Bk RETEEE 54,252 5,709 59,961
Addition NE - 2,875 2,875
Amortisation provided duringthe 4= ATt 121 84
year (10,457) (1,460) (11,917)
At 31 December 2022 R20229F12 A31H 43,795 7,124 50,919
At 31 December 2022: R2022F12 4318
Cost BN 121,724 13,281 135,005
Accumulated amortisation REHE (77,929) (6,157) (84,086)
Net carrying amount REFAE 43,795 7,124 50,919
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21.

DEFERRED TAX ASSETS/(LIABILITIES)

The movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities during the

year are as follows:

Deferred tax assets

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Brf 55 ¥k 2% Bff 5%

31 December 2023 2023412 A31H

21. BERIAEE (&f8)
EREEHEEERBENERMT

REMRIAE E

At January 2023 RABE1R1A 3,088 51,210 465 1,309 1,615 4923 62,610
Credited/(charged) to the statement MR 2EREFHA/ (1)

of comprehensive income during

the year (21) 14,716 (465) 1,310 1,088 493 17121
At 31 December 2023 RABE12A318 3,067 65,926 - 2,619 2,703 5416 79731

TRIAXKEFRAA
2023 F



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
87 55 ¥k 2 Bfd 5%

31 December 2023 2023412 A31H

21. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS/(LIABILITIES) (continued) 21. EERIEEE (8f8) @
Deferred tax liabilities EERmIB&E

At 1January 2023 RABF1A1E (11,995) (11,213) (5,318) (2,528) (31,054)

Charged/(credited) to the FRRZERERR
statement of comprehensive  EfEENR/
income and other transfers (3 A)
during the year (5,873) 2,169 (1,122) 102 (4,724)

At 31 December 2023 R2023% 12318 (17,868) (9,044) (6,440) (2,426) (35,778)

N\

N

166 ZHONG AO HOME GROUP LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2023



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Brf 55 ¥k 2% Bff 5%

31 December 2023 2023412 A31H

21. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS/(LIABILITIES) continuey 21, IEREFHIBEE & (B&I1E) )

Deferred tax assets REMRIEESE
2022
10F
Allowance Losses Depreciation
for doubtful available allowance in
(lebts on trade Farvalue  foroffSetting  Impairment excess of Other
Lease and other changeof  against future of related payable
ligbilities receivables FVTPL profits inventories  depreciation  and accruals Total
BHRYGER CONT A g
EfENGE  HABRN ARHE BREENE AMENTE
HEgE  MRRER  ATER® HER FEAE  HWERR  REHER it

RMB'000 RMB'00D RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB00D RMB000 RMB'000 RMB000
ARBTR  ARETR  AR%TR  ARMTR  ARETR ARETL  ARETZ  ARETR

At January 2022 RAREIA18 3200 49314 168 2,550 219 1M 1731 59,098

Credited/(charged) to the statement £ A2 ERERTA/
of comprehensive income during ~ (#1%)

the year (117 5,344 291 434 219 (29¢) 3192 8,635
Disposal of subsidiaries HEHBAS - (3.448) - (1,679) - - - (5129
At 31 December 2022 RARENLANE 3088 51210 465 1309 - 1,615 4923 62610

R I [



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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31 December 2023 2023412 A31H

21. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS/(LIABILITIES) continuey 21, IEREFHIBE &E (B1E) &)

Deferred tax liabilities EERIBSE
2022
20224
Fair value Withholding
change of tax on
investment Intangible undistributed Right-of-use
properties assets earnings assets Total
REMER REDER
ATEZE BN EE BAFEME TREEE et
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETF ARET ARET ARETT
At 1 January 2022 M202261818 (3,066) (15,408) (3,891) (2,593) (24,958)

Charged/(credited) to the FARZAREER
statement of HipsEz
comprehensive income %/ (GTA)
and other transfers during

the year (8,929) 4,592 (1,427) 65 (5,699)
Disposal of subsidiaries HEMB QA - (397) - - (397)
At 31 December 2022 R202F12A318 (11,995) (11,213) (5,318) (2,528) (31,054)
The amount charged to the profit or loss in respect of the deferred R2023F R EREEBEREZNRNS
tax liabilities was RMB4,724,000 for year 2023 (2022: A ANREA724,0007T (2022F : AR
RMB5,699,000) 5,699,0007T) °
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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31 December 2023 2023412 A31H

21. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS/(LIABILITIES) (continued) 21. BERBEE (&f&) »

For presentation purposes, certain deferred tax assets and HEFEWNME BETEEHEBEEERERE
liabilities have been offset in the statement of financial position. BRI BT AL o LT R 5% R R®
The following is an analysis of the deferred tax balances of the BEMEBASEBIREERIBEBRN DN

Group for financial reporting purposes:

31 December 31 December

2023 2022
2023 4 2022 &
12831H 12H31H
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR T AREET T
Net deferred tax assets recognised in the R e MR R R AR
consolidated statement of financial position IRIER IR E E)FE 76,864 60,082
Net deferred tax liabilities recognised in the R E B AR R R
consolidated statement of financial position FERIBEEFE (32,911) (28,526)
43,953 31,556
Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of the ARATIHEERNEERIBEE
following item:
31 December 31 December
2023 2022
2023 F 2022
12A31H 12H31H
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR®T ARET T
Tax losses and temporary differences not REROTRIEEE LR IEER
recognised 166,472 145,388
In accordance with the PRC laws and regulations, tax losses arising LR PBUEEZER - RN R B R A B IE B
in Chinese Mainland could be carried forward for a period of five B EE AR F IR AR ERTAE -

years to offset against future taxable profits.
Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of the AN LLEERREERBEE  BATR

above item as it is not considered probable that taxable profits will # EiI8 B A Al A AR SH E SR B R o
be available against which the above item can be utilised.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
87 55 ¥k 2 Bfd 5%

31 December 2023 2023412 A31H

21.

22.

170

DEFERRED TAX ASSETS/(LIABILITIES) (continued)

At 31 December 2023, deferred tax liabilities of RMB6,440,000
(2022: RMB5,318,000) have been recognised for withholding taxes
that would be payable on the unremitted earnings that are subject
to withholding taxes of the Group’s subsidiaries established in
Chinese Mainland. Pursuant to a resolution of the board of
directors of the Company, these subsidiaries would not distribute
any earnings derived up to 31 December 2015 and 75% of the
earnings from 1 January 2016 onwards will not be distributed. The
aggregate amount of temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries in Chinese Mainland for which deferred
tax liabilities have not been recognised was RMB468,753,000 (2022:
RMB426,398,000).

There are no income tax consequences attaching to the payment
of dividends by the Company to its shareholders.

21. BEHRIAEE (&&) =)

R2023F 12 A31H  EMAEENAFE A
FredMiB AR AE AT (BHFBMF) OE
RTEMT R LR IE & E A R # 6,440,000
7T (20224 : AR ¥55,318,0007T) ° IRIEA R
REFTE—MHRER ZEWBARKTE
DR EE2015F12A3TBNERN - I B
20161 A1 5 kBt & F &) 75% 1% S E 2 K ©
EERELEH BRGNP BN MMNE AR
EFHFELNEREZREEAARE
468,753,000 7T (2022 4 = A B ¥ 426,398,000
JT) e

ARBRAEBRIK R EAFHRZR

INVENTORIES 22. 78
31 December 31 December
2023 2022
2023 F 2022 &
12H31H 12H31H
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR%T T ARBTIT
Raw materials R 6,253 5,588
The movements in the impairment allowance are as follows: WEREOZSHOT
2023 2022
2023 F 2022
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR%T T ARBTIT
At beginning of year F4 - (875)
Impairment loss, net EEEFRE - 875

ZHONG AO HOME GROUP LIMITED
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23. TRADE RECEIVABLES

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
&7 55 % 2 Bt 51

31 December 2023 2023412 A31H

23. BREWGRIA

31 December

31 December

2023 2022
2023 F 2022 £
12H31H 12A31H
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET ARBFTT
Trade receivables H 5 ElFE 671,760 603,590
Impairment BB (133,426) (107,430)
538,334 496,160

Trade receivables mainly arise from property management service
and other businesses income. The credit period is generally one
month, extending up to three months for major customers. Each
customer has a maximum credit limit. The Group seeks to maintain
strict control over its outstanding receivables and has a credit
control department to minimise credit risk. Overdue balances are
reviewed regularly by senior management and credit limits
attributed to customers are reviewed once a year. In view of the
aforementioned and the fact that the Group’s trade and bills
receivables relate to a large number of diversified customers,
there is no significant concentration of credit risk. Trade
receivables are non-interest-bearing.

An ageing analysis of the trade receivables as at the end of the
reporting period, based on the date of demand note, net of loss
allowance, is as follows:

BZRYWFETEREMETERSE MEM
EBBEA - EEM—RRE—EA HAEP
EEER=ZEA B8EFEFHEESEER
B o AEBET R HEREE BB RAER R
RER YRYFEREZEFBEEER
R o BBESRBERREREEHRS  ME
FREERBUGFHRE — R - ERIA LM
MEREBEZERFBLERZERARS
TREFEHR ALY ESREFHNEER
B EHREFARRE -

RBERR RERBAEBHAENE S
FEWRIR (IR B R A AR DT T

31 December 31 December

2023 2022
2023 F 2022
12A31H 12A318
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBT ARETE

Within 1 year 1R 405,796 399,039
110 2 years 1E24 69,879 52,712
Over 2 years Bim2F 62,659 44,409

538,334 496,160

sy AT
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31 December 2023 2023412 A31H

23. SAMEWERIE (#)
B 5 EEEBRBOERHNT -

23. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)

The movements in the loss allowance of trade receivables are as

follows:
2023 2022
2023 F 2022 £
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARBFT
At beginning of year F (107,430) (119,556)
Impairment loss, net B E R (26,196) (19,320)
Disposal of subsidiaries HEWB AR - 13,790
Amount written off as uncollectible MR BN E R &R 200 17,656
(133,426) (107,430)

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date using RNEHREDPRBBEEEETRED T

a provision matrix to measure expected credit losses. The
provision rates are based on days past due for groupings of
various customer segments with similar loss patterns (i.e., by
customer type). The calculation reflects the probability-weighted
outcome, the time value of money and reasonable and supportable
information that is available at the reporting date about past
events, current conditions and forecasts of future economic
conditions. Generally, trade receivables are written off if past due
for more than one year and are not subject to enforcement
activity.

Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure on
the Group's trade receivables using a provision matrix:

N EEHEEEE BEXDERAAR
MEEEANZER P 5 &4 R # 8 H B 8
EE (AEPER) - Zat B R A T N4E
ER EBEEERRREAHUSNEES
FEE - AR RARREBERETRANG
BRASEER —RME B 5RKFKELDR
BHEE-FRBAXRNBEIRITIED A
T LABSH

TRESI AR B R B E 5
WK ER & AR AR

As at 31 December 2023 72023512 H31H

Less than 1to2 Over
1year years 2 year Total
DPR1EF 122F BB2F st
Expected credit loss rate EHEEHEX 6% 13% 61% 20%
Gross carrying amount (RMB'000) REEE(ARBETT) 431,472 80,619 159,669 671,760
Expected credit losses (RMB'000) BEEEBE (ARETT) 25,676 10,740 97,010 133,426

As at 31 December 2022 R 2022F12 431 H

Less than 1t02 Qver
1 year years 2 year Total
DPR1E 1826 iR 2F e
Expected credit loss rate B EEBEX 6% 14% 65% 18%
Gross carrying amount (RMB'000) RESE(ARBTT) 424,915 67,442 111,233 603,590
Expected credit losses (RMB'000) BHEEEE(ARETT) 25,399 9,730 72,301 107,430
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
&7 55 % 2 Bt 51

31 December 2023 2023412 A31H

24. PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 24. FAfIFRIAR H fth FEUNFRIA

31 December 31 December
2023 2022
2023 & 20224
12831H 12H31H
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T AREET T
Payment on behalf of customers to utility supplierstt & & F (A2 3 & % (L 3% 97,024 78,045
Deposits paid to utility suppliers MAREERERINNZE 41,391 38,942
Other receivables H e 5k I8 217,564 202,603
Prepayments TERT5UR 72,270 70,897
Other tax recoverable H b A] Ug B B 1E 340 340
428,589 390,827
Less: Impairment allowance R ERE (93,940) (61,474)
Total @5t 334,649 329,353
Less: non-current portion R FERNEREE (17,623) (14,746)
Current portion BIEAER 7> 317,026 314,607

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of other HEiERIBREBERENESHT

receivables are as follows:

2023 2022

2023 F 2022 &

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR%T T AREET T

At beginning of year NG (61,474) (40,804)
Impairment loss, net (note 6) REEEFEE (FiE6) (32,466) (20,670)
(93,940) (61,474)
Prepayments and other receivables mainly represents payment on BRNREBERAMERRBEZEARE M
behalf of customers for expenditures on communities’ facilities, BEESL  BYRESD OB ERES
performance bonds, bidding deposit for contracts, business- EEHBBENFEREMBYE = -
related prepayments and balances with other independent third BHEEBBN2EAEENE L EBLH
parties. Expected credit losses are estimated by applying a loss FAEBEREGT BEXSELAENAR
rate approach with reference to the historical loss record of the s R AR S B2 SR AR A AR (A0 ) /9 78
Group. The loss rate is adjusted to reflect the current conditions Bl e R2023F 12 A31MH  @ANEERNT

and forecasts of future economic conditions, as appropriate. The 3% 2= 30% (2022 FF : 3% = 30%) °

loss rate applied as at 31 December 2023 ranged from 3% to 30%.
(2022: 3% t0 30%).

RESERIESD AT3
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31 December 2023 2023412 A31H

25. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
PROFIT OR LOSS

25.

RAFESFABZNERSE

31 December 31 December

2023 2022

2023 F 20224

12H831H 12H31H

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR® T ARBTTT

Bank financial product RITESBE R 500 500
Financial assets at fair value BERAFEFAEBENSREE

through profit or loss (a) 2,461 7,176

Atend of year REFR 2,961 7,676

(@)

174

The Company has a put option to dispose of the acquired
100% equity interest in Guangdong Huarui to the original
non-controlling equity holder. The fair value of the option will
be adjusted based on the future financial performance of
Guangdong Huarui. The option was classified as a financial
asset at fair value through profit or loss as at 31 December
2023.

The Company has a put option to dispose of the acquired
100% equity interest in Guangdong Xunhua to the original
non-controlling equity holder. The fair value of the option will
be adjusted based on the future financial performance of
Guangdong Xunhua. The option was classified as a financial
asset at fair value through profit or loss as at 31 December
2023.

ZHONG AO HOME GROUP LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2023
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AR RIEE b EIME - DATR R SR IR AR A
@R A A O P UL B B IR 3 B 100%
B o B A FEMIZRERERD
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TREE -
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26. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and bank balances

B RIRTTAEER

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 55 ¥R 2R Bf 5F

31 December 2023 2023412 A31H

26. RERINEEE

31 December 31 December

2023 2022
2023 F 2022 £
12A31H 12 A31H
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETT AREET T
531,583 446,052

At the end of the reporting period, the cash and cash equivalents
of the Group denominated in RMB amounted to RMB517,913,000
(2022: RMB444,564,000). The RMB is not freely convertible into
other currencies, however, under Chinese Mainland’s Foreign
Exchange Control Regulations and Administration of Settlement,
Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is
permitted to exchange RMB for other currencies through banks
authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.

The Group collects deposits from certain community residents to
establish daily repair and maintenance funds in accordance with
the relevant rules and regulations in the PRC.

All of the deposits collected are required to be kept in designated
bank accounts under the name of the relevant subsidiaries of the
Group though the deposits collected and the related interest
income belong to the community residents. Pursuant to the
property management agreements between the Group and the
community residents, the withdrawal and use of the funds are
subject to approval by the community residents. As the monies
maintained for daily repair and maintenance funds are not
controlled by the Group, they are not recorded as bank balances
by the Group. As at 31 December 2023, RMB21,766,000 (2022:
RMB24,654,000) was kept in the daily repair and maintenance
funds on behalf of the community residents.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank
deposit rates. The cash and bank balances and pledged bank
balances are deposited with creditworthy banks with no recent
history of default.

RFERFR REBUAAREFENRE X
REEBEYW A AR 517,913,000 7T (2022 F :
AR #444,564,0007T) c ARBATLABHAL
BABEMER R RIBRBE A INEE
HIROI R EE  EERNESERTE A%
BB BERBEITIINEEHMIRITHA
RESBBEMEY -

AEBERBEFEABRANEERAE THRE
ERWEZES URVABHERREES -

BEAMR SRS BB ERATIBLRE
REHEE Ak ERSENUAREEE
BINBERRIMEEGTAETRITES - RE
AEBEYTRERITVINVESE NS IR
BRFEAESEFEERERIE BRER
EEBHERREESHFEIEREE S -
WMTHAEE R ARITEL - H2023F12
A31H BERF#HEERBARE 21,766,000
7T (20224F « AR#24,654,0007T) 7 A B & #
BERRAREES -

RITRSERET BRITHF R B H =
REOAME - ReRBITHERRSERRITE
BRI U AT HYIE # RO SR (S B AR E RO IRTT -
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871 55 ¥R 2R Bi 5

31 December 2023 2023412 A31H

27. TRADE PAYABLES

27.

An ageing analysis of the trade payables as at the end of the
reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as follows:

SARERIA
REEHA REERAMHENEIBAR
HOBB AT -

31 December

31 December

2023 2022

2023 F 2022 &

12A31H 12A31H

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®T AR®ETF T

Within 60 days 60H A 92,672 80,712
Over 60 days and within 180 days HBiB60 H X180 H A 3,517 7,738
Over 180 days and within 365 days #Bi® 180 A K& 365 H A 6,022 2,899
Over one year A —F 7,957 9,433
110,168 100,782

The trade payables are non-interest-bearing and normally settled

on terms of 30 to 90 days.

The fair values of trade payables approximate to their carrying
amounts due to their relatively short term maturity.

28.

OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

28.

BZERNRERSTFER—RNIOENHRA

BE

HREHERERE  REZRMNRENR
FEEHEREEMES

H fth FE < 3R 18 B2 (& 51 & F

31 December

31 December

2023 2022

2023 F 2022

12A31H 12H31H

Note RMB’000 RMB'000

B 5 AR¥T T AREET T

Contract liabilities AHaE (a) 167,867 135,689

Receipts on behalf of community MAREEMLR

residents for utilities PRI 246,474 245,133

Received in advance T8 U R IE 14,533 17,218

Accruals EstEA 155,949 151,506

Other payables H e FRE 15,003 10,443

Deposits received [mEei&n 57,523 63,059
Dividends payable to non-controlling HHE A T IR AR R

shareholders of subsidiaries FER R E 1,046 -
Amounts due to non-controlling Rl NENGIE = e

equity holders of subsidiaries BE ARFIA 3,385 7,576

Due to the ultimate holding company JE N B R iR A B B FRIE 36 14,046 6,000

Other taxes payables HiERE 26,904 34,865

702,730 671,489

ZHONG AO HOME GROUP LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2023
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

28. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS (continued) 28.

As at 31 December 2023, the amount due to the ultimate holding
company of RMB14,046,000 was unsecured, interest free and had
no fixed term of repayment.

Other payables are unsecured, non-interest-bearing and repayable
on demand.

(@)  Details of contract liabilities as at 31 December 2023 and 31
December 2022 are as follows:

&7 55 % 2 Bt 51
31 December 2023 2023412 A31H

Hith & (dFRIE R ESHEH (2)

7202312 A31H B &LIER A B FE
AR # 14,046,000 0 & EEH - B RERETE
B -

Hitp AR EER - B RIREREE -

(@) P2023F12A31H K2022412A331H
MENREFBROT

31 December 31 December

2023 2022
2023 & 2022 F
12H31H 12H31H
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AREET T
Advances received from customers BRER#H
Sale of goods and installation services HEEmMALRRE 9,137 9,468
Property management services (note 5) MEEERY (H5E5) 158,730 126,221
Total contract liabilities GHEaERE 167,867 135,689
Contract liabilities include advances received to deliver ERHEBEREREHMETERBEIUR
property management services and sales of goods. HEEmMU R RZER -

FRIARNEBEFRLT 77
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31 December 2023 2023412 A31H

29.

178

INTEREST-BEARING BANK BORROWINGS

29. A RRITREMER

2023 2022
2023 1226
Effective Effective
interest interest
rate (%) Maturity RMB'000 rate (%) Maturity RMB'000
BRAIZ (%) AR ARETR  EEAR®) I8 ARETR
Current 0k
Lease liabilities (note 15 (b)) REARE(HH150) 4.75-9.06 2024 8,082 4.75-9.06 2023 10,528
Bank loans — secured FIER—BHAE 3.8-5.85 2024 39,000 38-5.85 2023 39,000
Bank loans — unsecured RTET— BER 3.75-6.00 2024 9,990 375-6.00 2023 9,990
ﬂ 59518
Non-current FEH
Lease liabilities (note 15 () BEAE T 150) 4,186 1,825
4,186 1,825
61,258 61,343
31 December 31 December
2023 2022
2023 F 2022
128318 12H31H
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T ARBFTT
Analysed into: DA
Bank loans repayable: BRATERERNRITER
Within one year or on demand —FANHIREK 48,990 48,990
48,990 48,990
Other borrowings repayable: ARUAT AR B 6 H A 3K -
Within one year or on demand —FRNYIREL 8,082 10,528
Beyond two years, inclusive MEN E(BEME) 4,186 1,825
12,268 12,353
61,258 61,343

ZHONG AO HOME GROUP LIMITED
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29.

30.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Bt #5 ¥R 22 Bif 5%
31 December 2023 202312 A31H
INTEREST-BEARING BANK BORROWINGS 29. A RIRITREMBER @
(Continued)
The Group’s bank loans were secured by the pledges of the ARE B R IRTT B A 1R AN & B 74 2023 F 12
Group's assets with carrying values at 31 December 2023 and 31 A31BK202F12 A3 B THEEENEE
December 2022 as follows: TERTER
31 December 31 December
2023 2022
2023 & 20224
12H831H 12H31H
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
h=s AR T AREET T
Investment properties AW 14 98,981 99,567
98,981 99,567
As at 31 December 2023, all the Group's borrowings were M2023F 12 A31H - REBMBREREUA
denominated in RMB. R¥EEHE -
The bank borrowing balances of the Group bore interest at fixed AEBHRITEREHRZEEFEGTE -
rates.
The carrying amounts of the interest-bearing bank borrowings at HERMTEEMEERNEEEREEATE
fixed rates approximate to their fair values. iEPE
SHARE CAPITAL 30. BZ7K
Shares A% 13
Number of Nominal value
ordinary of HKDO0.01
shares each
ZER BEREE
g H 0.01%8 T
HKD'000
FHET
Authorised: EE
At 1 January 2023 and 31 December 2023 7R2023% 18 1H KX2023%F 12 A31H 8,000,000,000 80,000
Issued and fully paid: ERTRAR:
At 1 January 2023 and 31 December 2023 7H20234%1 A 1H K2023%12 A31H 854,550,000 8,545

FRIARNEBEFRLT
2023 F
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31 December 2023 2023412 A31H

30. SHARE CAPITAL (continuead)

30. Ik (&)

Shares (continuead) A% 17 (&)
2023 2022
2023 F 2022 £
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T ARBFT
Issued and fully paid: ERTRAR:
Ordinary shares ik
At 1 January and 31 December R1ATERI12A31H 7,082 7,082
31. RESERVES 31. f#fs

The amounts of the Group's reserves and the movements therein
for the current and prior years are presented in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity to the financial statements.

(a) Statutory reserves

180

In accordance with the PRC Company Law and the PRC
subsidiaries’ articles of association, each subsidiary
registered in the PRC as a domestic company is required to
appropriate 10% of its annual statutory net profit as
determined under generally accepted accounting principles
of The People’s Republic of China (the “PRC GAAP") after
offsetting any prior years’ losses to the statutory surplus
reserve. When the balance of this reserve fund reaches 50%
of the entity’s capital, any further appropriation is optional.
The statutory reserve can be utilised to offset prior years’
losses or to increase capital. However, the balance of the
statutory surplus reserve must be maintained at a minimum
of 25% of the capital after these usages.

ZHONG AO HOME GROUP LIMITED
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31. RESERVES (continued)

(b)

()

(d)

Other reserve

The amount represented the contribution from Mr. Liu Jian,
the controlling shareholder and director of the Company,
through transferring his 40% equity interest in Guangdong
Zhong Ao, a subsidiary of the Company, to Mr. Long Weimin
and Mr. Liang Bing, both being directors of the Company and
employees of Guangdong Zhong Ao in 2011.

Special reserve

The special reserve mainly arises from (i) deemed
contributions by the shareholders in previous years’ Group
reorganisation and non-controlling equity holders to the
Group; (i) difference between the consideration paid by the
Group and the additional share of net assets in subsidiaries
acquired from non-controlling equityholders; (i) divestment
of interests in subsidiaries; (iv) capital contribution from non-
controlling equity holders.

The special reserve arised in the current year mainly
represents (i) the divestment of interest in a subsidiary; and
(ii) the difference between the consideration paid by the
Group and the additional share of net assets in subsidiaries
acquired from non-controlling equityholders.

Asset revaluation reserve

The asset revaluation reserve arises from change in use
from an owner-occupied property to an investment property.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 55 ¥R 2R Bf 5F

31 December 2023 2023412 A31H

31. =

(b)

()

(d)

Hithf#

RYBEARNRERRRFESLEL
ER20MNFFEBAARFERTEERF
BESEARLCERRRAEAHEAR
AN F) M B A A B AR B 40% AR A FT 1F
& o

¥ R BE 1

FhlfEwEIERBONRERBEFED
AEBBENFERERSEABLRE
BHEELE  (IAKED X HRER
FEER AR R A AWE I B A R M BRI
EIEBEEFENZR  (I)RFHE AR
R (V) RIS AANTEE

ARG B A 0 B 8 08 B4R () IR A
R—ZMBARMED  RAKED
SR BRI RS A AWREHE
REINBINEIEEEFERNERE

N

EESGRHE

BEERHEBEEERYMENRAGEER
BEWMEMESL

\
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31 December 2023 2023412 A31H

32. PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARIES WITH MATERIAL 32. IBE A IERIESNIBRIES
NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS fiE S
Details of the Group’s subsidiaries that have material non- AEBBEERFELERESZONBARFEB
controlling interests are set out below: E g dlb N
2023 2022
2023 F 2022 F
Percentage of equity interest held by SRR ER T IRIE B DL
non-controlling interests:
Suzhou House Construction B®mMERE 41% 34%
2023 2022
2023 F 2022 &
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T AREET T
(Loss)/profit for the year allocated to DEREFFIERERE
non-controlling interests: FR (k8 FHE -
Suzhou House Construction BmMNER 5,676 4,328
Accumulated balances of non-controlling RS B HIFE RS RAT 454
interests at the reporting date:
Suzhou House Construction BmMERE 31,510 40,702

The following tables illustrate the summarised financial information
of subsidiaries that have material non-controlling interests.

The amounts disclosed are before any inter-company eliminations:
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32. PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARIES WITH MATERIAL

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 55 ¥R 2R Bf 5F

31 December 2023 2023412 A31H

32. IEEAERESNSDHEB

NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS (continued) MBS =
Suzhou House
Construction
BMNEE
RMB’000
2023 2023 5 AR¥T T
Revenue Wz 148,968
Total expenses EEgt (135,123)
Profit for the year FAFHE 13,845
Total comprehensive income for the year FAZEKALLTE 13,845
Current assets MBNEE 179,259
Non-current assets FRBEE 7,322
Current liabilities mBEE (109,727)
Net cash flows from operating activities KEEBMERESREFRE 5,638
Net cash flows used in investing activities BREEHMARSREFH (129)
Net cash flows used in financing activities BMEFBFARSREFE (31,094)
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents Re kRS EEMILINFRE (25,585)

Suzhou House

Construction

BINERE

RMB'000

2022 2022 ARBFIT
Revenue W= 163,927
Total expenses X B (151,198)
Profit for the year FRFE 12,729
Total comprehensive income for the year FARAZERALTE 12,729

Current assets TMENE E 208,221
Non-current assets FEMBEE 5,486
Current liabilities mEBE (93,996)
Net cash flows from operating activities KEESFSHEESREFT 12,762
Net cash flows used in investing activities KREEHARSREFE (4,958)
Net cash flows used in financing activities BEEBFTARSREFE (356)
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents RehBeEBYIEINFEE 7,448

FTREXEBMERLA 183
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31 December 2023 2023412 A31H

33. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 33. LElRERESEME
CASH FLOWS
(a) Major non-cash transactions @) FBHREXRS
During the year, the carrying amounts of trade receivables FA-ESERFIAURENFZIERE
and prepayments and other receivables were offset as fh FEUFIB MR A EC B EERUIED
settlement for acquisition of properties of RMB1,896,000 EEE AREE1,896,0007T (20224 : A
(2022: RMB114,000). R#114,0007T) °
During the year, the Group had non-cash additions to right- FA-AEEFRBEHEHELHED BN
of-use assets and lease liabilities of RMB3,501,000 (2022: IREFERAEELEEMNTHEABARE
RMB2,428,000) and RMB3,501,000 (2022: RMB2,428,000), 3,501,000 (20224 = A R # 2,428,000
respectively, in respect of lease arrangements for ot) & AR #3,501,0007T (20224 : A
equipment. R#2428,0007C) °
(b) Changes in liabilities arising from financing (b) MBFRNTELEESBINEE
activities
Interest-
Lease  bearing bank
liabilities borrowings
HEEE TREETHER
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR% T ARBT
At 1 January 2023 R2023F1A1H 12,353 48,990
Changes from financing cash flows BEREREMEEE D (3,586) -
New leases HE 3,501 -
Interest expense FIERX 685 2,694
Interest paid classified as ENFMEDEALERESR
operating cash flows (685) (2,694)
At 31 December 2023 M 2023412 A31H 12,268 48,990

ZHONG AO HOME GROUP LIMITED
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33. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF

CASH FLOWS (continued)

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
&7 55 % 2 Bt 51

31 December 2023 2023412 A31H

' ml-ﬁ

meIREeRERMEE e

(b) Changes in liabilities arising from financing (b) MEFENFTEEEBNEE (2)
activities (continued)
Interest-
Lease bearing bank
liabilities borrowings
HEBE  FRBRITEX
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARET T ARETF T
At 1 January 2022 R2022%F1H1H 12,821 55,956
Changes from financing cash flows MEREREMELEZ T (2,896) 13,846
New leases HHEE 2,428 -
Acquisition of a subsidiary U i — M B 2 R - -
Disposal e - -
Disposal of subsidiaries LB A A - (20,812)
Interest expense FERAX 430 2,453
Interest paid classified as ENFBEDEALERESR
operating cash flows (430) (2,453)
At 31 December 2022 M20229F12 A31H 12,353 48,990

()

Total cash outflow for leases () HERE MBI
The total cash outflow for leases included in the statement FFABRSRERANHEHERS RHBTE
of cash flows is as follows: I
2023 2022
2023 & 2022 F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET ARBFIT
Within operating activities K TEBA 6,359 6,267
Within financing activities REEBA 3,586 2,896
9,945 9,163
34. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 34. X AG1E
The Group had no material contingent liabilities as of 31 December HZE2023F12 A31H » ANE B £ &8 Kk R
2023 (2022: Nil). B1E (20226 : &) -
FREREBEEHR QA

2023 F
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31 December 2023 2023412 A31H

35. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

The Group had the following capital commitments at the end of
the reporting period:

35. EIIEIE
REBESFR - AREEATERESE

31 December 31 December

2023 2022
2023 F 2022 F
12H31H 12H31H
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T ARBTIT
Contracted, but not provided for: B4 - BRI B -
Acquisition of property and equipment and WEMERREBRIEEYEEE
leasehold improvements 615 851
36. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES 36. Rt X R4S eR
(3) Related party transaction () AEAXZ
Save as disclosed elsewhere in the financial statements, the R BHREREEREEN  KEERF

Group had the following related parties’ transactions during
the year:

The ultimate holding company has made advance of
RMB14,046,000 to the Group which is unsecured, interest
free and has no fixed term of repayment.

(b) Compensation to key management personnel

The remuneration of key management personnel during the
year was as follows:

NEUNTEBTRS

BREERARBERAAEERRARE
14,046,0007C ' R IBAERTF - 2 8
T [E RS R o

(b) BYFETLEIE ASHIENE
FREBEBAENFHFMHOT ¢

2023 2022

2023 F 20224

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR¥T AREET T

Short-term employee benefits HHEERF 14,958 13,345
Post-employment benefits BER 2 1R A 151 223
15,109 13,568

The remuneration of key management personnel is
determined by reference to the performance of individuals
and market trend.

ZHONG AO HOME GROUP LIMITED
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37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
&7 55 % 2 Bt 51

31 December 2023 2023412 A31H

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial
instruments as at the end of the reporting year are as follows:

31 December 2023

£rt T8 (I27FER1)
EEBSMTARKREHROBREEMT -

2023%12A318

Financial assets ERMEE
Financial
assets
Financial at fair value
assets at through
amortised profit
cost or loss Total
R 8 8 LA BAFEE
STEN SR STABEN
BE tREE st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET ARET ARET
Trade receivables (note 23) B 5 WK IE (B3 23) 538,334 - 538,334
Financial assets at fair value BAFEFABZED
through profit or loss (note 25) e E E (FFE25) - 2,961 2,961
Cash and cash equivalents (note 26) ReRREZEY (H5E26) 531,583 - 531,583
Long-term deposits (note 24) R BT R (52 24) 17,623 - 17,623
Financial assets included in prepayments & A J8 15 208 & H 4 fE I
and other receivables (note 24) IR FEE (H7E24) 244,416 = 244,416
1,331,956 2,961 1,334,917
Financial liabilities ETRBE
Financial
liabilities at
amortised
cost Total
R 8RR
TEASE
=L st
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AR¥TF T
Financial liabilities included in other AT A EL Ath FE A SR R FERT B A Y
payables and accruals (note 28) SRV EE (HH5E28) 492,867 492,867
Interest-bearing bank borrowings (note 29) FHESRITIER (H3E29) 48,990 48,990
Lease liabilities (note 29) HE & & (FiE29) 12,268 12,268
Trade payables (note 27) B 5 R RIE (ME27) 119,168 119,168
673,293 673,293
FPRIAREEERRQA
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31 December 2023 2023412 A31H

37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 37. €T A (%Rl =
(Continued)
31 December 2022 2022912 A31H
Financial assets ErtEE
Financial Financial assets
assets at at fair value
amortised  through profit
cost or loss Total
FSTERSR s AERAY
BE TREE @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETFTT ARBFT ARBFIT
Trade receivables (note 23) E 5 sRE (Misx23) 496,160 - 496,160
Financial assets at fair value BAFEFAEBER
through profit or loss (note 25) & E (M3E25) - 7,676 7,676
Cash and cash equivalents (note 26) BekEeEEBY (ME26) 446,052 - 446,052
Long-term deposits (note 24) REATF R (P75 24) 14,746 - 14,746
Financial assets included in prepayments 5+ A J& - 7% 78 K £ b e Ug
and other receivables (note 24) HEM A E (MiiE24) 243,370 - 243,370
1,200,328 7,676 1,208,004
Financial liabilities ErtE&E
Financial
liabilities at
amortised
cost Total
R SR AR
FFER SR
= Bt
RMB’000 RMB'000
AREFT ARBFIT
Financial liabilities included in other FFAEMENFERETFERN
payables and accruals (note 28) S EE & (M3E28) 500,935 500,935
Interest-bearing bank borrowings (note 29) T ERITE R (i EE29) 48,990 48,990
Lease liabilities (note 29) HEB & (FFE29) 12,353 12,353
Trade payables (note 27) B 5 e R IE (H5E27) 100,782 100,782
663,060 663,060
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38. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The carrying amounts and fair values of the Group’s financial
instruments, other than those with carrying amounts that
reasonably approximate to fair values, are as follows:

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 55 ¥R 2R Bf 5F

31 December 2023 2023412 A31H

38. ERTANAFERATERSE

REmESAQNFEAEREN SR IEN
AEBSRITANERERATFEAT

Carrying amounts Fair values
REE ATE
2023 2022 2023 2022
2023 F 20224 2023 & 20224

RMB'000 RMB'000 = RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETRE ARETT ARBTR ARBTRE

Financial assets CREE
Financial assets at fair value BRFEABRZ
through profit or loss CREE 2,961 7,676 2,961 7,676
Financial liabilities tREaE
Interest-bearing bank borrowings T ERITER 44,950 44,950 44,950 44,950

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and cash
equivalents, trade receivables, trade payables, financial assets
included in prepayments, other receivables and other assets, and
financial liabilities included in other payables and accruals
approximate to their carrying amounts largely due to the short
term maturities of these instruments.

The Group's finance department headed by the finance manager is
responsible for determining the policies and procedures for the fair
value measurement of financial instruments. The finance manager
reports directly to the chief financial officer and the audit
committee. At each reporting date, the finance department
analyses the movements in the values of financial instruments and
determines the major inputs applied in the valuation. The valuation
is reviewed and approved by the directors. The valuation process
and results are discussed with the audit committee twice a year
for interim and annual financial reporting.

The fair value of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
was based on the expected return rate.

The fair values of lease liabilities have been calculated by
discounting the expected future cash flows using rates currently
available for instruments with similar terms, credit risk and
remaining maturities. The Group’s own non-performance risk for
interest-bearing bank borrowings and other long-term payables as
at 31 December 2023 was assessed to be insignificant.

EREECHRRASRACEEY BHENK
R~ BHENFIA - sEARNKIEA - BibE
WREREMEEN SR EE MG AHLME
NRBEREFERNEBABEN R FERRK
EMHRMEEMRES  T2HRZEFLAZEH
HARR PN »

AEERVBEETENMBHEEEES
BMTARAFEAENBRLER - FHEE
BEREMNERVBERERZEERE RE
BERH UBHIMEeMITIAEEZH
VEEHEMBIEGARE HERES
B RME - HERERERDSFEEZ
ZEEUWMR VEPHRFETBHRE
P& e

BAFEFABRSENESREEN A FENE

HEABENAFENERAEMUER 58
FE RS TERPR TARRE ZIMARE
B AKRBRESRETEMTHE - KR 2023F 12
A3 AEBZFAERITEREEMER
A RENTRBORBETE AL TEK -
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31 December 2023 2023412 A31H

38. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continuea)

The fair values of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
have been calculated using Monte Carlo simulation with rates
currently available for instruments with similar terms, credit risk

and remaining maturities.

Management has assessed that the fair values of the interest-
bearing bank borrowings with floating rates, financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss which approximate to their carrying
amounts largely due to the fact that these borrowings are made

38. ERTENAFERATERSE
(%)

EATEHABENSRAENAFEEE
REERREEE  LRAREAR A
ERLER RRERRATIMEHTA
Ho i «

EEEBDHEBRITIHNEER ER
FEFABGSHEREENAFEEARE
BRE TEARRFERAAKREEEF Y
F=ZEBMBBIRRBITTSNEEDL -

between the Group and independent third-party financial

institutions based on prevailing market interest rates.

Except for the fixed rate portion of interest-bearing bank
borrowings, and other long-term payables, management has also
assessed that the fair values of the Group’s other financial
instruments approximate to their carrying amounts largely due to

the short term maturities of these instruments.

Below is a summary of the significant unobservable input to the
valuation of financial instruments together with a quantitative

sensitivity analysis as at 31 December 2023 and 2022:

Valuation Significant
technique unobservable input
HER BERRABREHAHE
Financial assets at fair ~ Monte Carlo Discount rate
value through profit simulation
orloss method
BATEFABRL EX RN TR
THEE B

ZHONG AO HOME GROUP LIMITED
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BREt BIRITRFWBEEMEBo AR EME
HIEMNZIEN EEENEHE AEEH
EMTANATFERAEREERS T8
MRZE AN HAEEEREME -

UWTARESRITAMBENERTABEREA
HEM ZER R 2023F X 2022F 12 A31HK
S{CHBE DT

Range Sensitivity of fair value to the input
gE ATEEBAENHRBE

2023: 16%-18%
(2022:14%~15%)

1% increase/decrease in discount rate
would result in a decrease/increase in fair
value by RMB36,447 (2022: RMB76,760)/
RMB44,084 (2022: RMB76,760)

BRR RN RA 1% B ERAFERD,/
EINARE 36,447 7T (20225 -
ARET76,7607T),/ AR # 44,084 7T
(2022% - ANR¥76,7607T)

20234 : 16%-18%
(20224 = 14%-15%)



38. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continuea)

Fair value hierarchy

The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement hierarchy

of the Group'’s financial instruments:

Assets measured at fair value

As at 31 December 2023

B 55 ¥R 2R Bf 5F

31 December 2023 2023412 A31H

38. ERTANAFERATERSE

(&)
rYFERBR

TREBAEERTANATEFEER

BAFEFENEE
R2023%12A31H

Fair value measurement using

FERUTSENATETE
Quoted
prices Significant  Significant
inactive  observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
SEERTIE N EATBE EAFUEE
HR1E wARE BARE
(E=18) (=) (B=IB) Foy
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®ETT AR¥T R AR¥TR AR®TR
Financial assets at fair value BAFEABER
through profit or loss SREE - - 2,961 2,961
As at 31 December 2022 2022612 A31H
Fair value measurement using
FANTHEENATEFTE
Quoted
prices Significant Significant
in active observable  unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
E R IZH ERABER BEATAUEHER
WwE i A 2R 8 A BUR
(B—E) (F-8) (B=8) HBET
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARET T ARET T ARETT ARET T
Financial assets at fair value ZAFEFABRERN
through profit or loss CRMEE - - 7,676 7,676
FPRIAREEERRQA
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31 December 2023 2023412 A31H

39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 39. ErtERERBIRREFR

AND POLICIES

The Group's financial instruments include financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss, cash and cash equivalents, other
payables, interest-bearing bank borrowings and other long-term
payables. The main purpose of these financial instruments is to
raise finance for the Group’s operations. The Group has various
other financial assets and liabilities such as financial assets
included in prepayment and other receivables, trade and bills
receivables and trade payables, which arise directly from its
operations.

The main risks arising from the Group's financial instruments are
interest rate risk, foreign currency risk, credit risk and liquidity risk.
The board of directors reviews and agrees policies for managing
each of these risks and they are summarised below.

Interest rate risk

The Group's exposure to the risk of changes in market interest
rates relates primarily to the Group’s bank borrowings.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably
possible change in interest rates, with all other variables held
constant, of the Group's profit before tax (through the impact on
floating rate borrowings).

Foreign currency risk

The Group’s businesses are located in Chinese Mainland and
nearly all transactions are conducted in RMB. All of the Group’s
assets and liabilities are denominated in RMB, except for those
owned by the Company and certain subsidiaries which are
denominated in United States dollars and Hong Kong dollars.
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39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (continued)

Foreign currency risk (Continued)

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the end of the
reporting period to a reasonably possible change in the USD and
HKD exchange rates, with all other variables held constant, of the
Group’s profit before tax (due to changes in the fair value of
monetary assets and liabilities).
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&7 55 % 2 Bt 51

31 December 2023 2023412 A31H

39. ERERERBIZKRIEE @)

ONER [R BB (&)

TRAARBERRETRETEETNEIE
AEEHMAALMEEIRFT TENER
T AEEBRRANE(REEEERAED
RHEZF TS| L) HGURE

Increase/ Increase/
(decrease) in (decrease)
USD/HKD in profit
rate before tax
ERHRER

ExLH FR B AT F
(TF&)  #&m,/ ORD)

% RMB'000
AR®EF T

2023 2023 %
If the USD weakens against the RMB BETLHARKEESS 10% 1
If the USD strengthens against the RMB AETLHARBER (10%) (1
If the HKD weakens against the RMB EATHARKES 10% 1,367
If the HKD strengthens against the RMB AR AR ER (10%) (1,367)
2022 2022 F
If the USD weakens against the RMB AETLHAREEES 10% 2
If the USD strengthens against the RMB BETTAAREER (10%) @)
If the HKD weakens against the RMB EATHARBESS 10% 146
If the HKD strengthens against the RMB ABTHAREER (10%) (146)
Credit risk e[

There are no significant concentrations of credit risk within the
Group. The credit risk of the Group’s other financial assets, which
comprise cash and cash equivalents, long-term deposits, trade
and bills receivables and other receivables, arises from default of
the counterparty, with a maximum exposure equal to the carrying
amounts of these instruments.

AEEVTEERNEEETRER AEEHAM
TREE (BRERESMREFEY  RIAEFR
B 5 EUWGRIE N RS B R E A B YR IR) 59
FERBRILTEHFHEOMESL  HERR
MERAXERERZETANKEE -
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39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 39. ERtERESIRBEIERBGE @)
AND POLICIES (continued)
Maximum exposure and year-end staging RAR L FERBEERE N
The table below shows the credit quality and the maximum TRFFI R 2023F 12 A31H &2022F 12 A
exposure to credit risk based on the Group’s credit policy, which is B EEALE 1: EREMNEELEERAE
mainly based on past due information unless other information is BREAEERR LI ETEUaBHERA
available without undue cost or effort, and year-end staging K% (AT %B@yﬁﬁz$i”ﬁﬂﬂ—w’§ﬁﬁi\m
classification as at 31 December 2023 and 31 December 2022. The ERBIN)  RERBBRESHE -T2 S
amounts presented are gross carrying amounts for financial assets HERATHEEMMER Efﬁ REEERE QM
and the exposure to credit risk for the financial guarantee HiEMEERRE -
contracts.
12-month
ECLS Lifetime ECLS
12 A
FEF#R 2HEHEEEE
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
KEE1 BE2 B3 & @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®T R AR¥TT AR®T T ARETR ARETR
Trade receivables* B AR A - - - 671,760 671,760
Financial assets included in FABNTIER
prepayments and other Hib FEIRL
receivables EREE
— Normal** — L 333,526 - - - 333,526
— Doubtful** — R = = = = =
Cash and bank balances Re RBTES 531,583 - - - 531,583
Long-term deposits RHER 22,453 - - - 22,453
887,562 - - 671,760 1,559,322
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39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 39. ERtERESIRBEIERBGR @)
AND POLICIES (continued)
Maximum exposure and year-end staging (Continued) RARRNFERPEEREIND (2)
12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLS
1218 ATaH
=EEE 2HEREEER
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
REER 1 REER 2 PEER3 BLA st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARBTE ARBTT ARETT ARETT ARBTE

Trade receivables* BRI+ - - - 603,590 603,590
Financial assets included in s AN FZIE R
prepayments and other  Et U FIER

receivables SREE
— Normal** — T 304,844 - - - 304,844
— Doubtful** — R - - - - -
Cash and bank balances  B& RRTEH 446,052 - - - 446,052
Long-term deposits REBER 14,746 - - - 14,746
765,642 - - 603,590 1,369,232

* For trade receivables to which the Group applies the simplified approach * RAEEHBERERAGECENE S ERKIEAE
for impairment, information based on the provision matrix is disclosed in T UBEERAERNER RN EREN
note 24 to the financial statements. FE24 -

*x The credit quality of the financial assets included in prepayments and o ReEMEEYESHE  EYEEHETEREE
other receivables is considered to be “normal” when they are not past B S EREEERRA NRIEMNE - BIRERS
due and there is no information indicating that the financial assets had a RIERAEMERRIEIROEHEEFELR
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition. Otherwise, the WRAILE] T SREENEEERZR
credit quality of the financial assets is considered to be “doubtful”. BRIRE] -

There are no significant concentrations of credit risk within the AEBUEEREEETER - AEEEAM

Group. The credit risk of the Group’s other financial assets, which cREE (RIEReREEEY RBEFER

comprise cash and cash equivalents, long-term deposits, trade B 5 M W TE R i SR IR DA R E At E IR

and bills receivables and other receivables, arises from default of WEERBIESFFEOMES AR
the counterparty, with a maximum exposure equal to the carrying SEMRSENZSTANEDE -

amounts of these instruments.

Further quantitative data in respect of the Group's exposure to BERAEEMERNE S ERFE LT ATE

credit risk arising from trade receivables and financial assets NHRBEREMERRIENGREEMEEDN

included in prepayments and other receivables are disclosed in EERBOE -—FTEEHERS NBRERT B

note 24 and note 25, respectively, to the financial statements. MR EE24 K FE25 ©
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39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 39. ERtERESIRBEIERBGE @)
AND POLICIES (continued)
Liquidity risk mené & @k
The Group's objective is to maintain a balance between continuity AEENBEERUFTERITERERESLT
of funding and flexibility through the use of interest-bearing bank BUHERETENTE REREBIFER
borrowings. Cash flows are closely monitored on an ongoing basis. PIEEER -
The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as at the end AEBRBREHRBECITOERITRMARK
of reporting period, based on the contractual undiscounted MemBENIERRAT

payments, was as follows:

3toless
On  Lessthan than Over
demand 3 months 12 months 1to 5 years 5 years Total
ZER DSR3EA 3Z12f8A 125F 55 L #ct
31 December 2023 2023F12831H RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
AR¥ETRE ARETR AR®Tn AR%TR AR¥ETT ARETR
Interest-bearing bank borrowings it B 4R1TE R - 49,478 - - - 49,478
Lease liabilities HEBE = 2,760 8,279 1,914 = 12,953
Trade payables BHEARE = 119,168 = = = 119,168
Other payables and accruals HipENFUER 246,104 246,763 = = - 492,867
[ ER
246,104 418,169 8,279 1,914 - 674,466
3toless
on Less than than Over
demand 3months  12months 105 years 5 years Total
REx  LPRIEA  3E12MEA 125%F S5EME Fehas
31 December 2022 2022912 8318 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARBTT AR®TT ARETR ARETR
Interest-bearing bank borrowings  Ft 8 3R1TIER - 49,478 - - - 49,478
Lease liabilities HEEE - 2,724 8,171 1,889 - 12,784
Trade payables EHEMTE - 100,782 - - - 100,782
Other payables and accruals HERRER 250,133 250,802 - - - 500,935
Bzt ER
250,133 403,786 8,171 1,889 - 663,979
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39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES (continued)
Capital management

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and
to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support its business
and maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments
to it in light of changes in economic conditions and the risk
characteristics of the underlying assets. To maintain or adjust the
capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend payment to
shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue new shares.
The Group is not subject to any externally imposed capital
requirements. No changes were made in the objectives, policies or
processes for managing capital during the years ended 31
December 2023 and 31 December 2022.

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is net debt
divided by the adjusted capital plus net debt. Net debt includes
interest-bearing bank borrowings, other long-term payables less
cash and cash equivalents. Capital includes equity attributable to
owners of the parent. The gearing ratios as at the end of the
reporting periods were as follows:

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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39. ERERERBIZKRIEE @)

SINEHE
AEBEAERBNEERBRMRAEEL
MBEEEEEBRRBBROEARLE
A H T R AR E R AR R (B -

AEBRELAEARASE R ABEENRR
FHBEEHEHEANEBREHBE BREFX
HEERGEE AKEAEHBRARRIKE
ZBRE CMEREEEAXBETHR A%
B EANTAEAINFENNERER - RE
F2023F 12 431 A k202212 31 A L5
ER - EREANBRE  BRKIEFILELE -

AEENEERBLLREZRERN - BELE
REBFERACHEERINERFE B
HFEBEARBBRITER  ERMRMENRK
BRREMBACEHEEY BEXRRBERAME
BARGEDZ RBEHRNEEABL X
W

2023 2022

2023 F 2022 &

RMB’'000 RMB’000

AR%T T ARBTIT

Interest-bearing bank borrowings (note 29) AT BERTT R H A & B (FFEE29) 61,258 61,343
Less: Cash and cash equivalents B IRERREEEY (531,583) (446,052)
Net debt BIRFE (470,325) (384,709)
Total equity BT 1,032,707 986,929
Gearing ratio BEBERE N/AFEA N/AZ3E F
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40. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 40. IR S8 AR A=

COMPANY
Information about the statement of financial position of the BRAARQARRBRERRNMERARNER
Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows: o

31 December 31 December

2023 2022
2023 F 2022 &
12A31H 12A31H8
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T ARBT T
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Property and equipment L EYNEEL 5 1
Interest in subsidiaries NGNS NG = 334,427 296,708
Total non-current assets R EELE 334,432 296,709
CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Prepayments and other receivables TEAT SRI8 F H Ath FE UK IR 647 351
Cash and cash equivalents RERBFEEED 12,810 720
Total current assets RBEELE 13,457 1,071
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBAE
Other payables and accruals E e ke R e R E A - 1,956
Due to subsidiaries FETFT B A Al 67,497 -
Total current liabilities mENBELREE 67,497 1,956
NET CURRENT (LIABILITIES)/ASSETS B (BB EERE (54,040) (885)
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES #EERABESE 280,392 295,824
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FRBEE
Interest-bearing bank borrowings FFERITER = -
Total non-current liabilities EmB B EREE = -
NET ASSETS BEEFE 280,392 295,824
EQUITY s
Share capital (note 30) AR (B34 30) 7,082 7,082
Other reserves HAth &1 273,310 288,742
TOTAL EQUITY EREE 280,392 295,824
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11.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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31 December 2023 2023412 A31H

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 40. KA S FARRE 2
COMPANY (continued)
Note: B3
A summary of the Company's reserves is as follows: RAREBBRENT -
Capital
Share redemption Accumulated
premium reserve losses Total
R RE EREERRE it ER st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARBTT ARETT ARBETT
1 January 2022 R20241818 421,855 48 (99,723) 322,180
Loss for the year FREE - - (15,569) (15,569)
2022 dividend 2022 F [ B (17,869) - - (17,869)
At 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023 R2022F12A318 K
2023F1R1H 403,986 43 (115,292 288,742
Profit for the year FRFE - - 3,875 3,875
2023 dividend 2023 F [ B (19,307) - - (19,307)
At 31 December 2023 R2023%F 12 A31H 384,679 48 (111,417) 273,310

APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue
by the board of directors on 28 March 2024.

M. B IRERFOVHLE

FHBH/RONR2024F3 A2 K EEFGHE
M ET)E -
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
7 55 1k =2

For the five years ended 31 December 2023 # Z=2023F 12 A 31 H i AAFE

Results 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
EF 20194 20204 20214 202028 2023 &
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
AREFTT ARETr ARETT ARETr ARETR
Revenue g 1,519,482 1752317 1873533 1702,395 1,709,642
Cost of sales HEMAK (1,116,041) (1,310,676) (1,440,794) (1,345040)  (1,359,084)
Gross profit E7 403,441 441 641 432,739 357,355 350,558
Other income and gains Hi A Rz 33,844 54909 51,088 55,794 49,281
Selling and marketing expenses HEREHAY (13,455) (12,580) (12361) (5014) (6,488)
Administrative expenses THHAY (192,296) (238401) (227316) (210,135) (192,345)
Net impairment losses recognised BREBEE
on financial assets REBEFE (26,763) (22,837) (32,307) (54102) (58,662)
Share of profits and losses of: FEE AT RE KB -
Joint Ventures RELE 1,438 2,595 2824 3,167 2,838
Associates YN 466 2N 1194 1309 167
Other expenses EtAx (10,195) (4,855) (18,600) (12,877) (17,261)
Finance costs 0% (21,501) (18,064) (6,378) (2:883) (3,379)
Profit before tax BR % A0 A 174,979 202619 190,883 132614 124,709
Income tax expenses FreRAX (41,059) (51,839) (58,844) (43,564) (40,737)
Profit for the year FEFH 133,920 150,780 132,039 89,050 83,972
Assets and liabilities 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
BERERE 20194 20204 2021 20224 2023 &
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETE AR®ETT ARETT @ ARETER
Non-current assets ERBDEE 751,724 869,159 775,187 687,037 671,095
Current assets REEE 1,142,902 1200373 1412,296 1270,083 1,396,157
Total assets BEE 1,894,626 2,069,532 2,187,483 1957120 2,067,252
Current liabilities MENAE 1,019,211 1,101,163 1106323 939,840 997,448
Non-current liabilities ERBERE 137,490 76943 98055 30351 37,097
Total liabilities BERE 1,156,701 1178106 1204378 970,191 1,034,545
Net assets BEFE 737,925 891426 983,105 986,929 1,032,707
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